
Economy Regeneration & Development 
Committee
Date: Monday, 22 November 2021
Time: 6.00 p.m.

Venue: Floral Pavilion

Contact Officer: Mike Jones, Principal Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 0151 691 8363
e-mail: Michaeljones1@wirral.gov.uk
Website: www.wirral.gov.uk

Members of the public are encouraged to view the meeting via the webcast,
(see below) but for anyone who would like to attend in person, please 
contact the box office at the Floral Pavilion by telephone on 0151 666 0000, 
in advance of the meeting. All those attending will be asked to wear a face
covering (unless exempt) and are encouraged to take a Lateral Flow Test
before attending. You should not attend if you have tested positive for
Coronavirus or if you have any symptoms of Coronavirus.

Wirral Council is fully committed to equalities and our obligations under The 
Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty. If you have any 
adjustments that would help you attend or participate at this meeting, please 
let us know as soon as possible and we would be happy to facilitate where 
possible. Please contact committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION 

2. APOLOGIES 

3. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members are asked to consider whether they have any disclosable 
pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest.

4. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 4)

Public Document Pack

mailto:committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk


To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Economy, Regeneration 
and Development Committee held on 26 October 2021, attached. 

5. PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS 

5.1 Public Questions

Notice of question to be given in writing or by email by 12 
noon, Wednesday 17th November to the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer (committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk) and to be dealt 
with in accordance with Standing Order 10.

5.2 Statements and Petitions

Notice of representations to be given in writing or by email by 
12 noon, Wednesday 17th November to the Council’s 
Monitoring Officer (committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk) and to 
be dealt with in accordance with Standing Order 11.1.

Petitions may be presented to the Committee. The person 
presenting the petition will be allowed to address the meeting 
briefly (not exceeding one minute) to outline the aims of the 
petition. The Chair will refer the matter to another appropriate 
body of the Council within whose terms of reference it falls 
without discussion, unless a relevant item appears elsewhere 
on the Agenda. Please give notice of petitions to 
committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk in advance of the meeting.

5.3 Questions by Members

Questions by Members to be dealt with in accordance with 
Standing Orders 12.3 to 12.8.

SECTION A - KEY AND OTHER DECISIONS

6. TOWN DEAL - ACCEPTANCE OF GRANT (Pages 5 - 16)

7. ECONOMIC STRATEGY FOR WIRRAL TO 2026 (Pages 17 - 56)

8. LISCARD NEIGHBOURHOOD FRAMEWORK: AN INTEGRATED 
MASTERPLAN (Pages 57 - 136)

9. ACQUISITION OF FORMER CO-OP BUILDING - 100 NEW 
CHESTER ROAD, NEW FERRY (Pages 137 - 142)

10. EXMOUTH STREET, SEAMUS O'DONNELLS (Pages 143 - 148)

11. PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021 (Pages 149 - 246)

SECTION B - BUDGET AND PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT

12. PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 

mailto:committeeservices@wirral.gov.uk


13. QUARTER 2 MONITOR REPORT (Pages 247 - 254)

14. BUDGET WORKSHOPS OUTCOME REPORT 2022-23 (Pages 255 - 
264)

SECTION C - WORK PROGRAMME / OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY

15. WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE (Pages 265 - 272)



This page is intentionally left blank



ECONOMY REGENERATION & DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE

Tuesday, 26 October 2021

Present: Councillor T Jones (Chair)

Councillors P Martin
G Wood
D Burgess-Joyce
A Gardner
A Hodson

D Mitchell
E Gleaves
M Booth (In place of 
C Povall)
KJ Williams (In 
place of T Smith)

40 WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION 

The Chair opened the meeting and reminded everyone that the meeting was 
being webcast and a copy is retained on the Council’s website for two years.

41 APOLOGIES 

Councillor Tony Smith gave apologies for absence and was substituted by 
Councillor Jerry Williams.
Councillor Cherry Povall gave apologies for absence and was substituted by 
Councillor Max Booth.
Councillor Karl Greaney gave apologies for absence.

42 MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT - DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were asked to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests and any 
other relevant interest and to state the nature of the interest. There were no 
declarations of interests.

43 MINUTES 

Resolved (by assent) – 
That the minutes of the meeting of Economy, Regeneration and 
Development Committee held on 29 September 2021 be approved and 
adopted as a correct record.

44 PUBLIC AND MEMBER QUESTIONS 

No questions, statements or petitions from the public or Councillors had been 
received.

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



45 REGENERATION STOCKTAKE 

The Director of Regeneration and Place presented his report on the breadth 
of the Council’s regeneration programme for about the next 4 years, which 
was one of the largest such programmes in the country. New staff had been 
appointed to drive forward the programme. The Wirral Growth Company, a 
partnership between the Council and Muse Developments, had begun the 
programme in March 2019. The Government’s Housing Infrastructure Fund 
provided £6 million which started the housing developments in the previous 
industrial areas in Nov 2019 as part of a ‘brownfield first’ strategy. Extra 
funding, including the Future High Street Fund, helped drive the regeneration 
agenda and enabled possibilities for regeneration where Council funding 
alone would be insufficient, including removing the flyovers to the South of 
Birkenhead. In total in 2021 £88.71 million funding had been secured for over 
130 projects, and additional funding of £130 million had been applied for. 
There were challenges from increasing costs of all materials, the expectations 
of sustainable development including the developing guidance and the 
changing property market following the Covid-19 pandemic.

It was intended that the physical development would enable communities to 
connect and develop themselves and improve quality of life, community 
cohesion and the environment, with low carbon developments and housing 
where active and public transport was encouraged.  

Councillor Hodson raised concerns regarding the LGA Planning Peer Review 
Update report, produced in July 2020 and referred to in the presentation 
slides, and read out passages from it, which included the statement that 
“There appears to be a lack of support from Legal Services which has the 
potential to de-rail the growth agenda. The investors and partners describe … 
the attitude, tone and approach of the Council’s Legal Service is combative 
and inefficient”. 

The Director of Law and Governance, in answer to Members’ concerns, 
explained that the comments in the report about legal services being a 
potential risk to the progress of the projects had been accepted and acted 
upon as later presented to Members. This had included the implementation of 
investment and a restructure going through at the time, including the 
appointment of a Lead Principal Lawyer who is the advisor to the Committee 
normally present plus a programme the ongoing training of post-graduates to 
develop the in-house expertise and capability. There had been commissioned 
a review of the service conducted by external advisors over the summer of 
2020. This had led to a procurement exercise to appoint a strategic legal 
partner for the regeneration portfolio of legal work. This had recently been 
completed with the appointment of Trowers and Hamlins. There remained, 
however, a recruitment issue within the Planning and Property Law Team 
which was operating at 60% vacancy levels, which had proved difficult to 

Page 2



overcome despite HR recruitment best efforts over the intervening months 
and resulted in additional costs as expertise was purchased. 

Councillor Tony Jones suggested having a standing item on future agendas to 
note the progress of legal services improvement plan.

Councillor Dave Mitchell requested a report to a future meeting on the ability 
to bring to the Chair and Spokespersons attention major issues that could 
cause a bottleneck could be progressed outside of the Committee cycle to 
see how Members could assist. 

Councillor Andrew Hodson proposed an addition to the recommendations as 
a proposal, which was to refer inform the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee of the risk of legal services holding up the development 
programme.

This was seconded by Councillor Tony Jones. 

Councillors then asked questions of the presentation and programme which 
established:

 That a summary of the presentation, and a briefing note on the new methods 
of sustainable construction being used, would be sent to all Members of the 
Council. 

 The highest environmental standards were used in the design of office 
buildings and housing.

 Expertise and services are shared amongst the Liverpool City Region. 
 Future reports on the programme could note the issues which could 

potentially derail progress.
 The proposed Maritime Knowledge Hub was intended as a resource an 

innovation site for the development of the maritime industry, including its 
decarbonisation.

Councillor Tony Jones moved the recommendations together with the 
additional referral.
These were seconded by Councillor Jerry Williams.

Resolved – That:

(1) the transformation and progress made in Wirral’s regeneration to 
date and the next steps be noted; and

(2) whilst we consider the Council’s legal department to be a risk with 
regard to the comments made with regard to derailing the 
regeneration programme, this should be passed to the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee for continued scrutiny whilst this is 
still a risk to the Council.

Page 3



46 THE WIRRAL PLAN 2021-2026 DRAFT DELIVERY PLANS 

Director of Regeneration and Place introduced the report of the Chief 
Executive which presented the Wirral Plan 2021-26 Draft Delivery Plans. The 
Plans had been approved at Council on 6 September 2021, together with the 
recommendation that engagement and discussion with relevant Committees 
would take place to further shape the underpinning delivery plans and work 
programmes required to implement the Wirral Plan. Updates would be 
provided via the dashboard, with a ‘traffic light system for monitoring progress 
and reporting by exception.

Resolved – 
That the draft Delivery Plans, as they relate to the Economy, 
Regeneration and Development Committee set out in Appendix 1 to this 
report be noted.

47 WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE 

The Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee was responsible 
for proposing and delivering an annual committee work programme. This work 
programme was to align with the corporate priorities of the Council, in 
particular the delivery of the key decisions which are within the remit of the 
Committee.

Resolved – That the content of the Economy, Regeneration and 
Development Committee work programme for the remainder of the 
2021/22 municipal year, as set out in Appendix 1 to the report, be 
approved.

Page 4



 

ECONOMY REGENERATION & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
Monday, 22 November 2021 

REPORT TITLE: TOWN DEAL - ACCEPTANCE OF GRANT
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE

REPORT SUMMARY
On 15th July 2021, the Council received notification of the outcome of a submission it had 
made to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (now renamed 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities - DLUHC) Town Deal Programme. 
This announcement set out that the Council had been invited to enter into a Town Deal for 
Birkenhead, up to a value of £25,000,000 (the Grant Funding). This ‘in principle’ award is 
offered subject to the successful completion and approval of businesses cases for the 
projects included in the bid submission. Both the Council and DLUHC have agreed the 
Heads of Terms.

This report sets out the next steps. Committee is asked to delegate a number of decisions 
to the Director of Regeneration and Place in terms of accepting the grant and commencing 
activity to develop and deliver the Town Deal for Birkenhead.

Town centre regeneration is a long-standing priority for the Council. 

The Wirral Plan 2021 - 2026 has been developed and the focus covers the following five 
themes: 

 Safe & Pleasant Communities 
 Brighter Futures 
 Active and Healthy Lives 
 Sustainable Environment 
 Inclusive Economy 

This project, and the wider regeneration Programme, delivers against all of the above 
themes. Most specifically, it will contribute significantly towards the ambitions for a thriving 
and inclusive economy, creating jobs and opportunities for all.

This matter affects the wards of Birkenhead and Tranmere, and Seacombe.

This is a key decision owing to the significance in terms of the effect on communities living 
or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the Borough as well as being in 
excess of £500,000 in monetary value.

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



RECOMMENDATIONS

That Economy Regeneration and Development Committee requests that Policy and 
Resources Committee approve the following recommendations: 

1. Note the content of the report and the announcement from Government regarding 
the Town Deal funding award in relation to Birkenhead;

2. Note the re-profiling of the funding allocation for projects as set out in paragraph 3.8 
of this report;

3. Authorise the Director of Regeneration and Place to accept the offer and funding 
from DLUHC, via a grant made under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003;

4. Authorise the Director of Regeneration and Place to progress delivery of the Town 
Deal Programme, in line with the Section 31 Grant and the Town Investment Plan, 
and to implement a change control process (if required);

5. Authorise the Director of Regeneration and Place to allocate the Town Deal pre-
development funding of £1,250,000 (5% of the total award) on receipt;

6. Authorise the Director of Resources as S151 Officer to review and approve business 
cases, in consultation with the Director of Regeneration and Place, and submit the 
results to DLUHC in order to release the remaining funds; and 

7. Authorise the Director of Law and Governance in consultation with the Director of 
Regeneration and Place and the Director of Resources to enter into any necessary 
agreements or other legal documentation to implement the above recommendations.

Page 6



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 A Town Deal for Birkenhead will enable access to significant funding to support the 
regeneration of Birkenhead.

1.2 The Birkenhead Town Deal Board have identified a number of interventions that will 
help the regeneration of Birkenhead. These interventions were included in the Town 
Investment Plan which was approved by DLUHC and resulted in a grant funding 
offer. The funding provides the Council with the opportunity to support the projects 
identified by the Board and help to regenerate Birkenhead.

1.3  At its meeting on 26th January 2021 the Economy, Regeneration and Development 
Committee approved the Town Investment Plan and its submission to DLUHC for the 
funding. The Committee also delegated authority to the Director of Regeneration and 
Place, in consultation with the Chair and Committee Spokespersons, to accept the 
Heads of Terms. The Heads of Terms were accepted on 5th August 2021.

1.4 The Heads of Terms reflect the proposals set out in the Town Investment Plan and 
how the funding can be allocated. 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Council has the option not to accept the grant funding. The Town Deal Fund is 
significantly aligned with the ambitions of the regeneration programme for 
Birkenhead and provides a valuable source of funding for delivery. Should the 
Council choose not to accept the funding, the opportunity to invest £25,000,000 in 
Birkenhead and deliver the projects will be missed. This option has been discounted.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 In November 2019, DLUHC launched its Towns Fund programme with the ambition 
of creating jobs and building stronger and more resilient local economies and 
communities. Birkenhead was nominated as one of 101 towns in the country to 
potentially benefit from up to £25m and to develop a Town Deal. Later, the option 
was given for towns to apply for an additional £25m, additional to the original £25m, 
if it was felt a strong case could be made for projects with regional and/or national 
impact.

3.2 In January 2020, the Birkenhead Town Deal Board was established. Locally led and 
made up of Members of Parliament and locally elected members, representatives 
from business, education, community and voluntary sectors, the Town Deal Board 
oversees the Town Deal programme for Birkenhead and is accountable for delivery. 
The Board is advisory to the Council which is the lead authority on the Town Deal 
Programme. Chaired by Leigh-Anne Stradeski, Chief Executive of Eureka!, the 
Board developed and agreed a vision for Birkenhead, interventions required and the 
projects for inclusion in the Town Investment Plan (TIP).

3.3 The Board made a series of recommended interventions to the Council for inclusion 
within the TIP and, following approval of the TIP by the Council’s Economy, 

Page 7



Regeneration & Development Committee on 26th January 2021, the Council 
submitted its TIP. The TIP for Birkenhead set out a clear programme of evidence-
based intervention, informed by existing local strategies and aligned with the 
objectives of the Towns Fund with a funding ask of £45.4m to deliver 12 projects. 

3.4 In June 2021 the government announced a Town Deal award of £25m for 
Birkenhead, subject to the signing of Heads of Terms and certain conditions being 
met. 

The Town Investment Plan
3.5 The Town Investment Plan for Birkenhead sets out a clear programme of evidence-

based intervention, informed by existing local strategies and aligned with the 
objectives of the Towns Fund. The plan proposed the delivery of 12 projects. 

3.6 Following the receipt of the Heads of Terms and offer of £25m (less than the original 
bid of £45.4m), a review of all projects was undertaken to prioritise the projects. 
Following this review, potential alternative funding streams were found for a small 
number of projects, therefore minimising the impact and enabling delivery of the 
Town Deal objectives as originally planned. 

3.7 Two Council led projects no longer proposed to be in the Town Deal programme are 
Dock Branch Park, and the public realm works at Argyle Street. An alternative 
funding stream has been identified for these projects and a funding application will 
be made to the Sustainable Transport Settlement Fund. The grant scheme is not yet 
open, but soundings taken from the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority as 
funding manager suggest that the proposals meet the objectives of the fund. Two 
externally proposed projects - Sustainability Central and the refurbishment to the 
Chapterhouse Roof at the Priory - have been offered a lesser sum. An alternative 
funding stream has been found for the Egerton Village scheme. 

The Projects
3.8 At its meeting on 10th September 2021 the Town Deal Board agreed to the re-

prioritisation of projects and the allocation of Town Deal funding to deliver the 
following 10 projects:

Project Town Deal Allocation (£m)

Transport Visitor Attraction        5.80

Waterfront, Animation & Connectivity 5.31

Education Engagement Network 1.90

Egerton House  1.50

Wellbeing and Opportunity Centre 3.53

Startyard           0.23

Future Yard 1.60

Argyle Street Creative 1.63

Page 8



EXPO village 2.50

Sustainability Central 1.00

Total Town Deal Award 25.00

3.9 The allocation for each project includes 1% for programme management and 
monitoring costs. The projects that were included in the original submission but will 
no longer be funded by the Town Deal programme are proposed to be:

Project
Dock Branch Park
Egerton Village, Wirral Waters
Argyle Street public realm works and Chapterhouse refurbishment (from the 
Waterfront, Animation & Connectivity project)

Next Steps
3.10 Within the Heads of Terms offer, DLUHC required that the Council and project 

proposers provide further information to address conditions. This included details of 
the projects to be taken forward, confirmation of the Council’s assurance process, 
financial profiles of the projects and a draft Monitoring & Evaluation Plan. 

3.11 Following review of this information DLUHC will transfer 5% of the full grant amount 
(£1,250,000) to the Council. These funds are to be used by project leads to cover 
pre-development costs of the projects and help with the development of a robust 
business case. 

Draw down of pre-development funds
3.12 The funds will be transferred to the Council as a S31 grant and is likely to include 

recommendations for how the funds are to be used.

3.13 Once the funding has been received the Council will enter into a Grant Funding 
Agreement with the relevant grant recipient and ensure that any conditions attached 
to the funding from DLUHC are reflected in the Agreement. The pre-development 
funding can be used for many aspects of project development to give a full 
understanding of the project’s costs, scope and schedule, as well as activities such 
as site surveys, architectural drawings. Where projects are to be delivered by the 
Council, this funding could cover staff costs where they are associated with 
predevelopment of the project. All of the projects will benefit from pre-development 
funds and the allocation will be proportional to their total funding allocation. DLUHC 
require that the funds are spent prior to March 2022 and also require that all 
business cases are developed over a short period of time to meet a deadline with 
final drawn-down of funds in Summer 2022. In order to meet this deadline and 
ensure that the project leads have the cashflow to undertake the necessary pre-
development activity, the pre-development grant will be paid to the beneficiary 
following signing of the Grant Funding Agreement and once project leads have 
demonstrated a commitment to spend the grant on the predevelopment activity.  

3.14 In relation to the Council project of Waterfront, Animation and Connectivity, the pre-
development funds needed for the public realm elements of this project have already 
been provided for by an alternative funding stream. It is therefore proposed that the 

Page 9



predevelopment funding of £151,568 for this project be reallocated to the Argyle 
Street Creative Hub project. It is intended that the funding be used for the purchase 
of an asset required for this project to progress (the Property). The project proposer 
has secured additional match funding from Nesta - the UK's innovation agency for 
social good. To mitigate financial risk and to protect the Council’s interest in the 
Property an options appraised will be undertaken to ensure that a suitably robust 
approach is taken in the drawing up of the Grant Funding Agreement.

Business Case development 
3.15 Before the remaining funds will be released DLUHC require a full and robust 

business case to be prepared for all projects and approved by the Council’s Section 
151 Officer and chair of the Town Deal Board. A key component of the business 
case process will be to assess Treasury compliant Value for Money Assessment for 
individual projects.

3.16 A procurement exercise has been undertaken to appoint a consultant who will work 
with the project leads to develop the businesses cases. DLUHC have provided the 
Council with capacity funding to assist the Council in progressing the Town Deal 
programme. These funds will cover these costs.

3.17 Once completed, the business cases will be reviewed through the Council’s own 
assurance processes and approved by the S151 officer. The Town Deal Board will 
be asked to recommend approval of each business case to ensure alignment with 
the priorities set out in the TIP and to ensure they are developed with broad 
engagement with local communities and businesses. The Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority, which is also represented on the Town Deal Board, will also 
play a role in this assurance process, ratifying business cases and providing 
reassurance to the S151 Officer that they are robust and treasury book compliant. 

3.18 Once business cases have been approved by the Council’s S151 Officer a summary 
document setting out the outcome of the business case will be provided to DLUHC 
for their review and approval. DLUHC have not requested to see the full final 
business cases but have reserved the right to call them in. Once the summary 
documents have been approved by DLUHC the remaining 95% of funds will be 
released and can be drawn down. All business cases must be completed and 
approved by July 2022. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The Town Deal award of £25,000,000 has not yet been received by the Council. 
DLUHC will release the bulk of the funding following the approval by the S151 Officer 
of the business cases. The £1,250,000 (5%) early draw down for predevelopment 
funds will not be required to be paid back should the business case fail to reach the 
approval stage. The pre-development funds must be spent by March 2022.

4.2 At its announcement of the Town Deal programme in November 2019, MHCLG (now 
DLUHC) provide the Council with a capacity grant of £173,029 to cover cost of 
progressing the Town Deal programme and the preparation of the Town Investment 
Plan. A further award of £40,000 was made in March 2020 to support the 
development of business cases. Of this total sum (£213,029) £131,104 is remaining. 

Page 10



It is intended that £90,000 be used to cover the costs of appointing a consultant to 
develop the businesses cases for the 10 projects. 

4.3 Financial monitoring arrangements will need to be agreed and established to ensure 
appropriate and timely financial and performance reporting is produced for both 
internal and external use during the lifetime of the Town Deal.

4.4 Should the business cases be approved then the projects will be required to be 
developed and delivered prior to 2026. Where funding has been secured for a 
Council led project, the funding can be used to cover staff costs attributed to the 
development and delivery of these projects. DLUHC have confirmed that up to 5% of 
Town Deal grant can be used to cover revenue costs. However, given the scale of 
the Town Deal programme, input will be required from officers across the Council 
including regeneration and place, finance, and legal services. Therefore 1% 
(£250,000) of the Town Deal grant has been allocated to Programme Management 
Costs and this funding will be used to cover existing staff costs and for the 
appointment of a fixed term post to facilitate project development and monitoring. 

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003, a Minister of the Crown may 
pay a grant to a local authority in England towards expenditure incurred or to be 
incurred by it. The amount of a grant under this section and the manner of its 
payment and any conditions attached are to be such as the Minister may determine. 
The Council will receive the funds as a Section 31 Grant DLUHC will also provide a 
Change Control process to advise what amendments can be made within the 
programme. This will be important owing to many projects being at concept design 
stage.

5.2 The Council will enter into back-to-back funding agreements with the relevant grant 
recipients to protect the interests of the Council and ensure that the grant recipients 
utilise the grant funding allocated to them for predevelopment activities. 

5.3 The onward flow of funds will need to comply with the new regime applicable to state 
subsidy and project proposers will be responsible for ensuring that they comply with 
State Subsidy Control obligations. 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 Should the business cases be approved then a number of projects will be required to 
be developed and delivered and there will be a resource implication for this. As set 
out in paragraph 4.4, where funding has been secured for a Council led project, the 
funding can be used to cover staff costs attributed to the development and delivery 
of those projects. However, given the scale of the Town Deal programme, input will 
be required from officers across the Council including regeneration and place, 
finance, and legal services. The 1% (£250,000) allocation for Programme 
Management costs will be used to cover existing staff costs of officers across the 
Council where they are providing support to the Town Deal programme and also for 
the appointment of a fixed term post within the Regeneration & Place team to 
facilitate project development and monitoring. Existing staff resources within the 

Page 11



Regeneration & Place Directorate will also continue to steer the Town Deal 
programme.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The Council recognises that risk management is essential in good decision making 
and is a critical element of good governance. The Council continually develops its 
risk management processes to proactively and effectively manage risk.

7.2 The Council has recently established a Project Management Office (PMO) dedicated 
to the Regeneration and Place directorate. The PMO will have oversight of all Town 
Deal projects and will ensure that they align with the Council’s corporate policy to 
managing risk. The PMO will also align to the corporate Programme Management 
Office under a Head of Profession model which provides oversight, direction and 
monitoring of all Council projects. An assessment of the risks will capture 
assumptions, issues, and dependencies, across the projects and Town Deal 
programmes more generally, and dashboard reporting, data analytics, and 
gateway/assurance processes, will support the programme.

7.3 A Risk Register will be updated on a regular basis recording any significant risks 
which may prevent the programme from achieving its priorities, outputs and 
outcomes. The Register identifies the lead individual to manage the risk, identify the 
controls or mitigation that needs to be in place to continually monitor the risk and 
record the outcome of any audit review.

7.4 The Risk Register is used for reporting and monitoring of risks. Key risks will also be 
recorded in the Council’s Corporate Risk Register. The Town Deal Board will be 
provided with a programme delivery risk assessment as part of the monitoring 
process.

7.5 DLUHC has set out a timeframe which includes certain milestones. Key milestones 
include the completion of business cases by July 2022, and the final end date for 
spend being March 2026. To mitigate any risk of not delivering and spending within 
this timescale the Committee is asked within this report to authorise the Director of 
Regeneration & Place to progress a number of decisions including the development 
of project plans and business cases, approval of business cases by the S151 Officer, 
and management of the change control process as projects move from concept to 
full design.

7.6 Grant Funding Agreements with grant recipients will reflect the conditions set out by 
DLUHC. This will minimise risk and ensure the Council is protected.

7.7 The funding proposed to be used to finance the purchase of an asset for the Argyle 
Street Creative Hub, will be spent prior to the completion of a business case. DLUHC 
have confirmed that this is an appropriate use of the funding, and no clawback 
clause is included in the provision of this funding (part of the 5% early draw down). 
However, in the drawing up of the agreement the Council’s interest in the Property 
will be protected. To mitigate any financial risk to the Council, an options appraisal 
will be undertaken to inform this and ensure that a suitably robust approach is taken.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

Page 12



8.1 There has been significant interest from stakeholders and the community in the 
Town Deal programme. To ensure that stakeholders and the local community are 
fully engaged in the process a robust stakeholder engagement plan has been 
implemented and has included activity such as:

 An online survey on the Council’s ‘Have Your Say’ website
 Digital engagement across social media platforms
 Engagement through the Town Deal Board and thematic task and finish 

groups
 Press Releases and radio

8.2 Further engagement on particular aspects of the TIP has been included in the 
subsequent consultations for the Birkenhead 2040 Framework and also on Dock 
Branch Park. 

8.3 Though this engagement activity the Council has established strong relationships 
with a number of community groups in Birkenhead. The Council is continuing to 
engage with stakeholders and the local community groups as projects develop, as 
well as identifying creative methods to ensure engagement with those that may be 
digitally excluded or hard to reach.

8.4 The Council continues to work closely with the Town Deal Board to ensure its 
involvement in steering the programme forward and decision making where 
appropriate. At its meeting on 10th September 2021 the Board agreed the 10 projects 
to be included in the Town Deal programme and the funding allocation to be made to 
the projects, as well as its role and responsibilities now that Stage 2 (delivery) has 
been reached.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 
carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity.

9.2 The potential impact of a Town Deal for Birkenhead has been reviewed with regard 
to equality and links to the existing EIA conducted for Wirral’s Growth Plan and no 
amendments have been made. Therefore, the original EIA is still valid.

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 DLUHC in its guidance on Towns Fund sets out that proposals must be guided by 
sustainability – economic, environmental, and social. The Government has 
committed to a legally binding target to achieve net zero greenhouse gas emissions 
by 2050; clean growth represents a huge opportunity for the UK economy and is a 
core principle of the Towns Fund. The current situation creates an opportunity to 
speed up the process of restructuring our industry, commerce and communities 
towards a greener future. 

Page 13

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0


10.2 As the projects are developed, they will further support the Government’s ambitions 
for clean growth. Proposals will include, as appropriate, energy efficient buildings 
within new developments; infrastructure improvements to reduce car dominance and 
create a safer environment for road users and pedestrians, and environmental and 
climate considerations within the Council’s Social Value strategy to be used within 
the procurement of future contractors. Proposals are expected to reduce emissions 
of Greenhouse Gases.

10.3 The Council’s existing commitment ensures that redevelopment opportunities in and 
around Wirral Waters and Birkenhead take account of the climate crisis and is 
identified as part of work on the Cool (2014-19) strategy. This is reflected in the Cool 
2 strategy endorsed by Council which seeks to make the area ‘Sustainability Central’ 
- an exemplar of the transition to a ‘zero carbon’ ‘climate ready’ place. Securing 
Town Deal funding provides the opportunity to make progress against this ambition.

11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS

11.1 Community Wealth Building reorganises local economies to be fairer and stops 
wealth flowing out of communities. Striving for a prosperous and inclusive economy 
where local people can get good jobs and achieve their aspirations, the Council’s 
aims to create an economy that benefits all of our residents and one which keeps 
money within Wirral. The Council’s Community Wealth Building Strategy is a key part 
of how this is achieved and makes a major contribution to improving the economic, 
social and health outcomes of the borough.

11.2 The projects within the Town Deal programme for Birkenhead will revitalise the town 
ensuring that more wealth is invested and stays within our Borough. Several of the 
projects are being developed by local community interest companies which will help 
build a more resilient local community and support community organisations. Future 
procurement exercises will build the wealth of our local communities where we will 
strive to maximise social value activity through creation of local employment/ training 
opportunities and local labour/spend to maximise the Wirral pound. 

11.3 A further requirement of the Town Deal programme which also aligns with both the 
Council’s Community Wealth Building Strategy and ‘Cool 2’ Strategy is that projects 
are green and sustainable, ensuring that our environment is protected. 

REPORT AUTHOR: Kate Pierce
email:  katepierce@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

DLUHC Stage 2 guidance and FAQs

DLUHC Town Deal Heads of Terms offer letter dated 15th July 2021 (available on request)

Page 14



SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Economy Regeneration & Development Committee – 
Birkenhead Town Deal funding request 

26 January 2021

Director of Regeneration & Place - Delegated key 
decision report – Town Deal Accelerated Grant

4th November 2020

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



ECONOMY REGENERATION & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
Monday, 22 November 2021 

REPORT TITLE: WIRRAL ECONOMIC STRATEGY 2021 - 2026
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE

REPORT SUMMARY

This report provides Economy, Regeneration & Development Committee with details of a 
new Economic Strategy for Wirral. 

The Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision set out a shared partnership vision to improve outcomes for 
Wirral residents, supported by a Growth Plan which translated Wirral’s ambitions for 
economic growth into a clear direction of travel. Over the five years of the Growth Plan, 
significant progress has been made in positioning Wirral as a place to live, work, visit and 
invest. 

A new strategy, a Wirral Plan 2021 - 2026, has been developed to build on the success of 
the Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision, to provide a set of goals and objectives for the Council and 
its partners to work to over the next five years.

Alongside this, the Birkenhead 2040 Framework is being developed to support a 
transformational regeneration programme along the ‘Left Bank’ of the River Mersey 
stretching from New Brighton to Bromborough, with a particular focus on the creation of a 
sustainable, waterfront urban garden community in Birkenhead. This is one of the largest 
and most ambitious regeneration programmes in the UK with the potential to create up to 
20,000 new homes over the next 20 years through a radical re-use of neglected and 
brownfield sites, underpinned by the emerging Local Plan. 

Since March 2020, the local and national economy have experienced significant changes 
and a new economic strategy is needed to reflect these changes and to provide a 
framework for economic growth over the next five years, in support of the Wirral Plan and 
Local Plan.

The Wirral Economic Strategy 2021 - 2026 sets out the Council’s priorities for inclusive 
economic growth. The Strategy identifies the current challenges and opportunities and sets 
out the building blocks to secure inclusive growth in the long term, with a focus on ensuring 
that local residents and businesses benefit. The Strategy also recognises the impact of the 
Covid-19 pandemic on Wirral’s economy and sets out how resilience can be supported 
going forward.

Page 17

Agenda Item 7



The proposals contained in this report directly support the following key themes within the 
Wirral Plan 2021 - 2026:

• A thriving and inclusive economy, creating jobs and opportunities for all
• A clean-energy, sustainable borough, leading the way in tackling the environment 

crisis
• Brighter futures for all regardless of their background
• Safe and pleasant communities that our residents are proud of
• Healthy and active lives for all, with the right care, at the right time

This matter affects all wards in the Borough. 

This is a key decision owing to the significance in terms of the effect on communities living
or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the Borough.

RECOMMENDATION

Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee is recommended to approve the 
Wirral Economic Strategy 2021 - 2026, as set out in Appendix 1 to this report.

Page 18



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

1.1 To support the long term inclusive economic growth of the Borough and meet the 
objectives of the Wirral Plan 2026.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Do not approve the strategy – the option of not developing an economic strategy for 
the Borough has been considered. This option has been rejected as it would be 
challenging to meet the inclusive economic growth priorities of the Wirral Plan 2021 - 
2026 without a clear economic strategy supported by an action plan and 
performance monitoring framework.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Sub-Regional Context

3.1 The Liverpool City Region (LCR) Combined Authority Corporate Plan 2021-2024 
sets out a vision for a fairer, stronger, cleaner City Region where nobody is left 
behind.

3.2 The LCR Local Industrial Strategy seeks to deliver a competitive, clean and inclusive 
City Region. The Local Industrial Strategy builds upon its predecessor, The Liverpool 
City Region Growth Strategy: Building our Future, which established the sub-regional 
strengths in advanced manufacturing, creative, financial and professional services, 
health and life sciences, low carbon energy, maritime and logistics sectors and the 
visitor economy.  

3.3 The Covid-19 pandemic has required a re-focus towards economic recovery and 
resilience. The LCR Building Back Better Economic Recovery Plan has therefore 
been produced to provide a stimulus for recovery for the City Region in the short-
term, based on a pipeline of programmes and projects, and the priorities of the Local 
Industrial Strategy are being re-framed into a new Plan for Prosperity, which will set 
out the long-term economic framework for the City Region. The emerging LCR Plan 
for Prosperity seeks to maximise innovation across the business base; turn people’s 
potential into prosperity; create thriving and resilient places; and ensure integrated 
infrastructure for a connected City Region.

Local Context

3.4 The Wirral Plan 2021 - 2026 sets out the Council’s vision to secure the best possible 
future for our residents. The Plan sets out the following objectives:

 A thriving and inclusive economy, creating jobs and opportunities for all;
 A clean-energy, sustainable borough, leading the way in tackling the 

environment crisis;
 Brighter futures for all regardless of their background; 
 Safe and pleasant communities that our residents are proud of; and

Page 19



 Healthy and active lives for all, with the right care, at the right time

3.5 The Wirral Community Wealth Building Strategy 2020-2025 supports the latest Wirral 
Plan and sets out three strategic objectives: democratic economy; generative 
economy; and financial resilience. The three strategic objectives will be delivered 
across the following five pillars of the community wealth building:

• Plural ownership – residents in Wirral have a say on the wealth generated by 
their communities;

• Land and assets – Council land and assets are used to build community 
wealth, including ways in which Council assets can be used for the benefit of 
the local community;

• Making financial power work for local places – wealth that exists in Wirral is 
harnessed to increase investment in local communities;

• Workforce – residents of Wirral are employed in secure, well-paid jobs with 
progression of opportunities and good terms and conditions; and.

• Procurement – procurement practices of Wirral’s anchor institutions are used 
to build the wealth of local communities. 

3.6 The objectives of community wealth building are embedded in the Economic 
Strategy as a key working principle. Priorities include promoting good work/fair work, 
the use of local labour, the purchasing power of anchor institutions, and community 
sector ownership.

3.7 Wirral Council has declared an environment and climate emergency and has signed 
up to the Cool Wirral 2 Strategy as part of the Cool Wirral Partnership. This sets 
Wirral on the path to achieve two main goals: 

• To stay within a local emissions ‘budget’ of 7.7 million tonnes (Mt) of CO2 
between 2020-2100 and to reach ‘net zero’ pollution as early as possible 
before 2041  

• To ensure a climate resilient Wirral adapted to cope with existing change and 
further unavoidable disruption this century

3.8 The Cool Wirral 2 Strategy is supported by the Council’s Environmental and Climate 
Change Action Plan. The objectives of sustainability are embedded in the Economic 
Strategy as a key working principle. Priorities include promoting active travel, the 
decarbonisation of buildings; and encouraging a behavioural shift.

3.9 The Economic Strategy also reflects the transformational regeneration programme 
along the ‘Left Bank’ of the River Mersey stretching from New Brighton to 
Bromborough, with a particular focus on the creation of a sustainable, waterfront 
urban garden community in Birkenhead, underpinned by the Birkenhead 2040 
Framework and Local Plan. It seeks to maximise the opportunities of the 
regeneration programme and ensure local people benefit from growth.

Wirral Economic Strategy to 2026

3.10 Over the last five years, significant progress has been made in positioning Wirral as 
a place to live, work, visit and invest. The Wirral Plan: A 2020 Vision set out a shared 
partnership vision to improve outcomes for Wirral residents, supported by a Growth 

Page 20



Plan which translated Wirral’s ambitions for economic growth into a clear direction of 
travel. Over the five years of the Growth Plan, just under 5,000 jobs were created or 
safeguarded; the employment rate in Wirral increased by 15 per cent; £257m of 
investment into Wirral was secured; the Borough’s GVA per head increased by 
almost 25 per cent to £15,456; and the number of net new business increased by 
over 1,300.  

3.11 Since March 2020, the local and national economy have experienced significant 
changes and a new economic strategy is needed to reflect these changes and to 
provide a framework for economic growth over the next five years, in support of the 
Wirral Plan and Local Plan. 

3.12 The Council commissioned Hatch Consulting in June 2021 to work with the Council 
to develop a new Wirral Economic Strategy to 2026.  The Economic Strategy 
identifies the current challenges and opportunities and sets out the building blocks to 
secure inclusive growth in the long term, with a focus on ensuring that local residents 
and businesses benefit. The Strategy also recognises the impact of the Covid-19 
pandemic on Wirral’s economy and sets out how resilience can be supported going 
forward.

3.13 A summary of the Wirral Economic Strategy is provided below. A copy of the final 
document is available to view in Appendix 1 to this report. 

The Story of Wirral’s Economy

3.14   The Borough of Wirral covers an area of sixty square miles and its peninsula setting, 
bounded by the Rivers Mersey and Dee and Irish Sea, has strongly influenced its 
historic and current economic role. The borough’s population stands at around 
320,000 and almost two thirds of the borough's population live within the 
predominately built-up urban areas to the east of the M53 motorway.  The east of the 
borough is also the focus for most industry whereas many of the hamlets and villages 
on the Dee side of the peninsula have developed into popular and vibrant commuter 
settlements. The Borough is an integral part of the Liverpool City Region. Wirral is also 
a key part of the Mersey Dee Alliance which is a successful partnership that supports 
strategic economic growth across North East Wales, West Cheshire and Wirral. 

3.15 There are significant economic disparities between the east and west of the borough, 
and the Covid-19 pandemic has highlighted the depth of some our economic 
challenges. Many residents face multiple barriers to gaining and sustaining 
employment, including a lack of opportunity, limited access to affordable transport, 
poor mental health, addiction and debt issues. According to the Index of Multiple 
Deprivation, 25 per cent of the borough of Wirral falls within the 10 per cent most 
deprived areas of the country with the majority of these locations in the east of the 
borough in Birkenhead, Bidston, Seacombe and Rock Ferry.

3.16 Many of these places also provide us with the potential for large scale place-based 
regeneration and the opportunity to address the unacceptable levels of inequality and 
deprivation that currently exist. The Left Bank is one of the UK’s largest regeneration 
projects capitalising on its significant brownfield land assets and town centre renewal. 
Over the next 15-20 years we need to fundamentally strengthen the physical fabric of 
the Left Bank settlements and make significant social progress through local wealth 

Page 21



building, reducing the large disparities between east and west and triggering a step-
change in the quality of life for those in the most deprived communities. 

3.17   Through all of our strategies we recognise that we have an established presence in 
key growth sectors including maritime, advanced manufacturing and the visitor 
economy. We have also made impressive progress with the growing creative and 
digital industry focused in the Left Bank regeneration area. It is vital that this Economic 
Strategy supports these sectors to grow, innovate and to provide the right conditions 
for our business base to expand. We must also capitalise on our unique heritage 
assets and our coastal and rural offer to boost Wirral’s status as a visitor destination. 

3.18 We recognise that one of the most important factors for a successful economy is an 
effective transport system. Wirral is a well-connected borough and forms a vital part of 
both the Liverpool City Region and the Mersey Dee Alliance economic area. Despite 
this, a lack of ‘last mile’ sustainable transport options acts as a barrier to employment 
and education. We need to ensure that local residents and businesses benefit from 
improved access to employment and training opportunities.

3.19  We have made a commitment with our partners to tackle climate change and this 
Economic Strategy identifies ways we can embed sustainability into our large-scale 
regeneration programme and how we can equip local residents and businesses with 
the skills to take up opportunities within the fast-growing low carbon economy. 

3.20 Birkenhead 2040 and the Local Plan set out the spatial priorities for the borough, with 
a focus on the transformational proposals at Left Bank.  This Economic Strategy must 
build upon the significant progress made throughout the previous Growth Plan period 
in developing partnerships in health, education and skills, as well as with investors and 
developers, to set out how everybody can benefit from growth through a partnership 
approach.  

 
Vision and Objectives

3.21 The Economic Strategy sets out the following vision for the Borough:

Vibrant places, where communities and businesses thrive and people choose to live, work 
and visit. A rebalanced borough that stands out for its achievements on fairness, reducing 
inequalities and building local wealth. A borough that is celebrated for delivering new and big 
ideas, working jointly with others and for prioritising environmental sustainability.

3.22 The vision is supported by three priority objectives:

• Thriving Businesses – supporting local business growth, attracting inward 
investment and maximising our sector strengths;

• Vibrant Places – creating distinctive, well-connected places for people to live, 
work and visit; and

• Inclusive Economy - ensuring residents across the Borough have access to 
learning and employment opportunities and reducing the significant disparities 
between the east and west of the Borough. 

3.23 The Strategy includes three embedded working principles, which have informed the 
priority objectives and actions in the Economic Strategy: 

Page 22



• Community Wealth Building - ensuring everyone can contribute to and 
benefit from growth, building a fairer and more cohesive Borough;.  

• Prioritising Sustainability - ensuring growth protects and enhances our built 
and natural environment, while responding to the global climate emergency; 
and

• Openness and Collaboration - providing a well-networked economy that is 
known for joined-up working and for being open-minded and inclusive.

Actions and Performance Monitoring

3.24 The Economic Strategy sets out a series of actions against each of the priority 
objectives and working principles. These actions will be used to inform the 
development of programmes and projects which deliver the Strategy’s objectives. 
The actions are supported by a number of ‘output measures’ to evaluate their 
effectiveness and will be reviewed internally through our Regeneration Programme 
Management performance framework.

3.25 The Strategy also sets out a series of high-level ‘impact measures’, which reflect the 
five key Wirral Plan 2026 measures against the Inclusive Economy strand. These will 
be reported in line with the reporting timetable for the Wirral Plan. These impact 
measures are the broader effects of implementing the activities and are affected by a 
number of factors. 

3.26 The overall performance framework for our Economic Strategy will be subject to an 
independent annual review and evaluation to test the effectiveness of our detailed 
annual action plans and the overall progress against the Wirral Plan.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The total cost of the Economic Strategy was £33,099, funded through the 
Regeneration & Place Directorate’s existing revenue budget.

4.2 The approval of the Economic Strategy has no direct financial implications. The 
Economic Strategy sets out a series of actions to support inclusive economic growth, 
which includes some options which may require public sector support. Any future 
proposals which would have financial implications for the Council would be subject to 
a separate decision(s).

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The economic development strategy is not a statutory document and as such there is 
no legal requirement to produce one. However it is best practice to have such a plan. 
.As schemes/projects are developed, the legal implications will be identified as part 
of the project plan.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 The delivery of the Economic Strategy will be co-ordinated by existing staff resource, 
mainly from the Regeneration & Place Directorate but supported by staff from across 

Page 23



the Council. Every effort will be made to seek partner resource to support the 
delivery of the Strategy.

6.2 The effective implementation of the Economic Strategy may require additional 
resources which will be identified as the detailed action plans are developed. 

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

Table 7.1 – Risk Register
Risk Identified Mitigation Measures

Failure to secure stakeholder buy-in

Ensure key stakeholders are engaged from 
outset; establish clear engagement 
strategy/structure; monitor and manage 
feedback from stakeholders.

Failure to deliver desired 
outcomes/outputs

Set clear milestones for projects; carry out 
regular project progress meetings; monitor and 
manage delivery of outputs.

Failure to secure future funding to 
deliver programmes

Ensure funding applications are based on 
robust business case; ensure project outcomes 
and outputs meet funding requirement; make 
provision for contingency budget to reduce 
impact; ensure governance structures are in 
place to monitor and respond to any new 
funding opportunities. Look to partners to 
deliver outputs/programmes

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 A draft Wirral Economic Strategy Framework document was subject to public 
consultation hosted on the Council’s Have Your Say website between 25 August and 
22 September 2021. A survey was available for completion and the option to 
respond via e-mail or request the document in an alternative format was provided. 
The Council also hosted two on-line stakeholder workshops with Hatch via MS 
Teams on 1 September and 2 September 2021. 

8.2 The Council engaged the Wirral Youth Voice and Wirral SEND Youth Voice on the 
draft Framework document.

8.3 58 responses were received to the survey via Have Your Say and an additional 7 
responses were received via e-mail. Comments were generally supportive of the 
strategy, however, a number of respondents felt that the ‘competitive business’ and 
‘highly performing’ wording did not capture what the Council is trying to achieve 
through its Community Wealth Building ambitions. 

8.4 Feedback from the stakeholder workshops highlighted the need to make the strategy 
more specific to Wirral, to emphasise the significant disparities that exist between 
different parts of the Borough, and to promote independent businesses.

8.5 All feedback has been used to inform the final Economic Strategy and a Report of 
Consultation has been produced.

Page 24



9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 
carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity.

9.2 An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out and it is considered that the 
Economic Strategy will have a positive impact on protected groups. The Strategy 
seeks to reduce inequalities across the Borough to ensure that disadvantaged 
groups benefit from economic growth.

9.3 A copy of the EIA can be viewed at: 
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2021

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The Economic Strategy supports the Cool 2 Strategy and the Council’s Environment 
and Climate Change Action Plan. The Strategy identifies a number of actions under 
the ‘Sustainability’ working principle which seek to decarbonise buildings; promote 
active travel; support the provision of low carbon infrastructure; and encourage a 
shift in people’s behaviour. These actions will be used to develop and monitor 
projects and programmes to support the sustainability working principle.

11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS

11.1 The objectives of community wealth building are embedded in the Economic 
Strategy as a key working principle. Priorities include promoting good work/fair work, 
the use of local labour, the purchasing power of anchor institutions, and community 
sector ownership. These actions will be used to develop and monitor projects and 
programmes to support the community wealth building working principle.

REPORT AUTHOR: Hannah Austin
Economic Development Lead
email:  hannahaustin@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Wirral Economic Strategy 2021 – 2026 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Wirral Plan 2021-2026
Wirral Economic Strategy Report of Consultation 
Wirral Economic Strategy Evidence Base

Page 25

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2021
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2021


SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Wirral Plan 2021-2026 (Council, Minute 24 refers)

Wirral Plan 2021-2026 (Policy & Resource Committee, 
Minute 34 refers)

6 September 2021

28 July 2021

Page 26



Wirral Economic Strategy 
2021 - 2026 

October 2021Page 27



Table of
Contents

1 Why a New Economic Strategy for Wirral?  2

2 The Story of Wirral’s Economy 6

3 Vision, Objectives and Principles  20

4 Priority Actions  36

5 Summary Performance Framework 50

PREPARED WITH THE SUPPORT OF

Photo: Wirral Council 1

P
age 28



1 Why a New 
Economic Strategy 
for Wirral? 

2 3

P
age 29



How we produced 
this strategy?  
Wirral Council commissioned Hatch 
to develop an Economic Strategy in 
consultation with officers, Elected 
Members and stakeholders. The strategy 
has been built on significant quantitative 
economic analysis provided by the the 
Wirral Intelligence Service.  The work was 
also shaped by two types of stakeholder 
engagement: an online survey hosted on 
the Council’s ‘Have Your Say’ portal and 
a series of stakeholder workshops with 
businesses, community representatives, 
skills providers, and charitable 
organisations in the borough. The results of 
both consultations have been summarised 
in the ‘Consultation Report – Wirral 
Economic Development Strategy’. The 
feedback has been incorporated into this 
final strategy.

Wirral is at an important point in its economic 
history. Places throughout the UK are being 
challenged to come forward with ambitious plans 
for economic renewal as part of the government’s 
Levelling Up agenda and Wirral provides a unique 
and unprecedented opportunity for positive change. 
The Council and its partners have embarked on a 
transformational regeneration programme along the 
‘Left Bank’ of the River Mersey stretching from New 
Brighton to Bromborough, with a particular focus 
on the creation of a sustainable, waterfront urban 
garden community in Birkenhead, underpinned by 
the Birkenhead 2040 Framework and Local Plan. 
This presents us with a unique opportunity to 
use our significant regeneration programme and 
emerging government backed initiatives to build on 
our growing sector strengths, support accessible 
opportunities for our residents, and lever new 
investment to the area.

Wirral is a borough of contrasts and the Covid-19 
pandemic has shone a brighter light on economic 
inequalities in society. The concepts of fairness and 
equality are more important than ever in economic 
planning and we want to ensure that everyone can 
benefit from economic growth and that disparities 
are significantly reduced.

A new Wirral Corporate Plan – the Wirral 2021- 2026 
Plan - has been prepared and will rely on a well 
formulated local Economic Strategy to deliver on 
some of its central aims. The last Wirral Economic 
Growth Strategy (the 2015 Wirral Growth Plan) 
successfully achieved its outputs and has reached 
the end of its strategic lifetime. It is now time to 
refresh the approach and align with the scale of 
opportunity ahead of us.

New national and city-region policy 
frameworks have also evolved in recent years. 
Nationally the government published the 
Build Back Better Growth Strategy in March 
2021, soon followed by the Social Mobility 
Commission’s national recommendations. 
In the Liverpool City Region, the Combined 
Authority Corporate Plan 2021-24 was 
launched in July 2021 and follows documents 
such as the 2021-22 City Region Skills Action 
Plan and the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority Transport Plan. The Combined 
Authority is embarking on a new Plan for 
Prosperity which will provide a long-term 
economic and place-based vision for the City 
Region over the next decade. 

There is an opportunity right now, through 
the preparation of a new Economic Strategy, 
to make sure Wirral is fully aligned with this 
new policy backdrop and to provide a fresh 
articulation of Wirral’s economic and social 
objectives. This strategy is intended to provide 
a high level framework for Wirral over a five 
year period. It will guide our decisions on 
projects and programmes and inform our 
detailed yearly action plans, all underpinned 
by regular performance review and evaluation 
of progress.

4 5

P
age 30



2 The Story of 
Wirral’s Economy

6 7

P
age 31



Wirral Story  
of Place 
The Borough of Wirral covers an area of sixty square 
miles and its peninsula setting, bounded by the 
Rivers Mersey and Dee and Irish Sea, has strongly 
influenced its historic and current economic role. 
The borough’s population stands at around 320,000 
and almost two thirds of the borough’s population 
live within the predominately built-up urban areas 
to the east of the M53 motorway.  The east of the 
borough is also the focus for most industry whereas 
many of the hamlets and villages on the Dee side 
of the peninsula have developed into popular and 
vibrant commuter settlements. 

There are significant economic disparities between 
the east and west of the borough, and the Covid-19 
pandemic has highlighted the depth of some our 
economic challenges. Many residents face multiple 
barriers to gaining and sustaining employment, 
including a lack of opportunity, limited access to 
affordable transport, poor mental health, addiction 
and debt issues. According to the Index of Multiple 
Deprivation, 25 per cent of the borough of Wirral 
falls within the 10 per cent most deprived areas of 
the country with the majority of these locations 
in the east of the borough in Birkenhead, Bidston, 
Seacombe and Rock Ferry.

Many of these places also provide us with the 
potential for large scale place-based regeneration 
and the opportunity to address the unacceptable 
levels of inequality and deprivation that currently 
exist. The Left Bank of the Mersey is one of the UK’s 
largest regeneration projects capitalising on its 
significant brownfield land assets and town centre 
renewal. Over the next 15-20 years we need to 
fundamentally strengthen the physical fabric of the 
Left Bank settlements and make significant social 
progress through local wealth building, reducing 
the large disparities between east and west and 
triggering a step-change in the quality of life for 
those in the most deprived communities. 

Through all of our strategies we recognise that we 
have an established presence in recognised growth 
sectors including maritime, advanced manufacturing 
and the visitor economy. We have also made 
impressive strides with the growing creative and 
digital industry focused in the Left Bank regeneration 
area. It is vital that this Economic Strategy supports 
these sectors to grow, innovate and to provide the 
right conditions for our business base to expand. We 
must also capitalise on our unique heritage assets 
and our coastal and rural locations to boost Wirral’s 
status as a visitor destination. 

We recognise that one of the most important factors 
for a successful economy is an effective transport 
system. Wirral is a well-connected borough and 
forms a vital part of both the Liverpool City Region 
and the Mersey Dee Alliance economic area. Despite 
this, a lack of ‘last mile’ sustainable transport options 
acts as a barrier to employment and education. We 
need to ensure that local residents and businesses 
benefit from improved access to employment and 
training opportunities.

We have made a commitment with our partners to 
tackle climate change and this Economic Strategy 
identifies ways we can embed sustainability into 
our large-scale regeneration programme and how 
we can equip local residents and businesses with 
the skills to take up opportunities within the fast-
growing low carbon economy. 

Birkenhead 2040 and the Local Plan set out the 
spatial priorities for the borough, with a focus on 
the transformational proposals at Left Bank.  This 
Economic Strategy must build upon the significant 
progress made throughout the previous Growth 
Plan period in developing partnerships in health, 
education and skills, as well as with investors and 
developers, to set out how everybody can benefit 
from growth through a partnership approach.  

8 9

P
age 32



©Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100019803 ©Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 10001980310 11

P
age 33



 � Long established, thriving maritime sector and 
associated rich heritage. 

 � Strong quality of life provided by the range of 
environments on offer including town, access to 
a major city, countryside and coast which should 
help us retain talent and support active and 
healthy lifestyles.

 � Established communities with relatively 
low turnover and a strong affinity with their 
neighbourhood. 

 � Strong networks between public, private and 
community sectors and clear ambitions to drive 
community wealth.

 � Unique coastal, cultural and heritage assets 
which provide a different visitor offer to Liverpool.

 � Good strategic transport network with road and 
rail access to both the City Region and beyond. 
High quality Wirral Coastal Trail.

 � Significant potential brownfield land assets in 
the east of the borough with potential to deliver 
large scale mixed use development. These sites 
are supported by a clear regeneration framework 
through Birkenhead 2040 and the Local Plan.  

 � Continued growth of the port and maritime 
industry with significant economic opportunities 
for expansion of supply chains, logistics growth, 
and enhanced skills and innovation provided 
by the continued growth of the port industry, 
including the Freeport designation.

 � Strong partnerships with developers and 
investors to deliver high quality regeneration 
e.g. Peel and Wirral Growth Company, and clear 
frameworks in place with the Liverpool City 
Region to drive inward investment.

 � Growing cultural and creative sector, following on 
from the City Region Borough of Culture in 2019.

 � Generally, high performing schools with strong 
school attainment levels. High quality and fully 
engaged employment and skills provider base.

 � Well-engaged business base with dynamic small 
to medium businesses. Well established business 
support base with active sector networks.

 � Part of a well-established City Region partnership 
and brand, and also a key part of the Mersey Dee 
Alliance.

Our Strengths Facts

Wirral has 480 hectares of 
public parks and gardens; 
this is three times more than 
the UK average per head of 
population.
Source : OS data © Crown Copyright 2017

Wirral has 739 nationally 
designated entries on the 
National Heritage List 
for England and twenty-six 
Council-designated 
Conservation Areas. 
Source: Historic England

Wirral recorded 980 
businesses with 10+ 
employees, 5% of these 
were classed as high growth 
businesses. 
Source: ONS Business Demography

98% of premises in Wirral 
have access to superfast 
broadband, 68% to ultrafast 
broadband. 
Source : LCR Digital Strategy. 

A recent business survey 
highlighted that of those 
companies looking to relocate, 
93 per cent wanted to stay 
in Wirral. 
Source: Recent Wirral Council Survey. 

The % of people ‘satisfied 
with their neighbourhood’ 
(82.2%) is higher than the 
average across England 
(79.3%). 
Source : Local Insight profile for Wirral Local 
Authority © OCSI 2020

57% of the population have 
a qualification at Level 3 or 
above. 
Source : NOMIS 2020.

The Council’s Brownfield 
Land Register contains 83 
sites with potential for 
development. 
Source : Wirral Brownfield Land Register. 

 � High value housing in parts of the borough, 
and active engagement in innovative new build 
housing to create a better environment for our 
residents (e.g. East Float - the 50/50 Peel L&P 
and Urban Splash joint venture project at Wirral 
Waters).

 � A strong housing association sector which 
is committed to developing more affordable 
housing in the borough

 � Well established partnership commitment to 
zero carbon. Declaration of an environment and 
climate emergency, with clearly defined targets 
for net zero.

12 13

P
age 34



 � Some communities face intense multiple 
deprivation, with heavy reliance on benefits 
(particularly health related). Stark differences in 
levels of poverty between the east and west of 
the Wirral.

 � Population is ageing, with a clear need to retain 
young talent.

 � Much of the existing office and industrial 
premises are low value and poor quality, making 
it difficult for local businesses to grow and to 
attract new businesses.

 � Low levels of aspiration in some communities 
with a lack of established pathways to support 
higher qualifications.

 � Difficulty in retaining qualified people with 
selective out-migration of younger, skilled people.

 � Lack of concentration of high value businesses, 
relative to other areas, and a declining number of 
large businesses.

 � Low levels of economic productivity, as 
measured through GVA, with untapped research 
& development potential.

 � Level 3 and 4 qualifications in Wirral have recently 
declined and are currently lower than the 
national average. Structural constraints in the 
access to vocational qualifications.

 � Lack of last mile transport connectivity, which 
diminishes value of otherwise good public 
transport connectivity and vehicle dominance.

 � Lack of affordable housing in some areas (mainly 
in West), and a lack of housing choice in terms of 
type, tenure  and quality in other areas (mainly 
East). 

 � Poor quality public realm in parts of the borough, 
which acts as a barrier to pedestrian movement 
and encourages anti-social behaviour. 

 � A shift to online retailing and an over reliance on 
retail in the borough have led to the decline of a 
number of town centres and high streets within 
the borough. This has been further exacerbated 
by the pandemic.

 � Borough-level data often hides the significant 
disparities that exist across the borough.

Our Weaknesses Facts

Wirral is ranked 77th  
most deprived district in 
England, out of a total of 317.  
1st=Most deprived
Source: IMD 2019

Wirral ranked 111th in terms 
of business start-ups per 
active businesses, the lowest 
ranked area in the Liverpool 
City Region. Under 55% of new 
businesses are estimated to 
survive three years. 
Source : ONS, Business Demography 

13.5 per cent of Wirral 
households are in fuel 
poverty, an increase of 2.6 per 
cent over five years
Source: BEIS Sub-regional fuel poverty data 
2019

20% of children are living in 
poverty in Wirral compared 
with 17% across England. 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (Indices of Deprivation 
2019).

22% of people in Wirral 
report having a limiting long-
term illness or disability. This 
is above the National average 
of 17%’.
Source : PHE Local Health Data, MSOA level.

There are 13,900 people 
in Wirral claiming 
Employment Support 
Allowance in Wirral, of which 
51% was due to poor mental 
health/mental illness. 
Source: Department for Work and Pensions

Wirral is ranked 296th out 
of 317 local authorities on 
business density (number 
of businesses per head of 
population). 1st equals highest 
business density. 
Source : ONS, Business Demography

14 15

P
age 35



 � Strong networks in place between public, 
private and third-party sectors to help economic 
development and regeneration.

 � Left Bank is a significant opportunity, focused on 
the creation of a sustainable, waterfront urban 
garden community in Birkenhead. 

 � Significant opportunities for new growth and 
innovation in maritime sector to address key 
challenges.

 � Potential for a new trailblazing delivery vehicle to 
support Wirral’s regeneration ambitions. 

 � Opportunities to embed community wealth 
building and sustainability principles into 
regeneration programmes.

 � Delivery of transformational funding recently 
secured – including Future High Streets, Town 
Deal, Strategic Investment Fund, Transforming 
Cities Fund, Levelling Up Fund, and the Affordable 
Homes Programme

 � A key commitment to driving innovation in the 
borough, including through projects such as 
the Port City Innovation Hub and Sustainability 
Central. 

 � Growing demand for industry and office space. A 
shift in working practices in light of the Covid-19 
pandemic could support mixed use, industrious 
communities through innovative live/work 
spaces. 

 � Full fibre digital network roll out across the 
borough will help businesses and residents 
access the latest technology.

 � Strong commitment and opportunities to 
improve the energy efficiency of older housing 
stock and promote sustainable new builds.

 � Major opportunity to grow walking and cycling 
– through provision of new green infrastructure, 
high quality public realm and changing 
behaviours.

 � Opportunities through the Freeport Tax and 
Customs site at Wirral Waters and wider 
Freeport designation to enhance supply chain 
opportunities, attract investment and drive 
innovation.

 � Opportunities to build on existing and planned 
visitor attractions such as Eureka! Mersey; the 
new transport heritage attraction in Birkenhead; 
and an International Battle of the Atlantic Centre 
at Woodside. 

Our Opportunities Facts

Just 0.5% of premises in 
the Wirral have Broadband 
speeds below the Universal 
Service Obligation. The 
average for England is 1.8%. 
Source: Census 2011

A smaller proportion of jobs 
are in the most severely 
impacted COVID sectors 
in Wirral compared to the 
national average – 21% versus 
26%.
Source : LCRCA Analysis

Wirral had the fastest 
growing visitor economy in 
the City Region after Liverpool 
– growing annually at circa 7%. 
Source : Wirral Council Monitoring

Wirral scores highly on 
measures of levels of third 
sector civic and community 
activity. Wirral Active and 
Engaged community score 
is 28.4, significantly above the 
England average of 23.9. 
Source: Oxford Consultants for Social Inclusion 
(OCSI) and Local Trust

Birkenhead listed in the top 
ten cities/towns likely to 
return to previous levels of 
activity post COVID. 
Source : Centre for Cities High Streets Recovery 
Tracker. 

48% of public open space in 
Wirral is maintained to Green 
Flag Award status. 
Source : Wirral Council Monitoring. 

Wirral’s employment rate 
is 73.9% and we have 
successfully narrowed the gap 
with regional and national 
averages in recent years. 
Source : ONS, Annual Population Survey 

Only 1% of Wirral residents 
cycle for travel once a week, 
and 1% cycle for travel 
more frequently – lower 
than both national and city 
region average. There is an 
opportunity to improve this 
with new infrastructure. 
Source : DfT Participation Survey

 � Accelerating trade 
opportunities through building 
an integrated approach 
to exporting, including 
maximising opportunities 
arising from Brexit.

 � Providing a range of high 
quality mixed tenure housing, 
focused on the areas in 
greatest need in the east of the 
borough. 

 � Opportunity for the co-location 
of public services such as 
health, community and sports 
facilities to provide an anchor 
for town centre regeneration.

 � Diversifying town centres 
through the provision of a 
wider mix of uses such as 
housing and the establishment 
of a night-time economy

 � Renewed focus from partners 
on health inequalities could 
enable stronger alignment of 
action to address economic 
and health inequalities.

16 17

P
age 36



 � Continued Covid restrictions throughout 2021 and 
into 2022 and its ongoing aftershocks will impact 
on a number of Wirral’s major sectors. Future 
financial support for such industries remains 
uncertain.

 � Full impacts of Brexit on supply chain, customs, 
workforce and regulations are still emerging.

 � Continued shift to online retailing will present an 
ongoing threat to town centres and high streets. 

 � The need for more housing across the borough 
puts pressure to develop housing sites rather than 
continue to deliver commercial premises. 

 � Wirral is reliant on certain prime employers and a 
high level of public sector employment, and some 
of these are under threat of relocation/reduced 
headcount. 

 � Investment opportunity competition is a threat 
– for example from other Freeport locations and 
other ‘upwardly mobile’ towns throughout the 
north of England.

 � Failure to retain working age population to 
support economic growth ambitions. 

 � Climate change will increasingly impact Wirral 
as it will other areas. Locally we must cut CO2 by 
around three and a half times more each year 
than we have managed to do so far.

 � Lasting impacts of Covid-19 pandemic could 
reduce the number of residents using public 
transport.

 � Scale of regeneration opportunity in Left Bank 
is likely to require sustained public sector 
investment over several decades – a risk that 
recent funding successes cannot be sustained.

 � Increasing labour market deregulation could 
impact adversely on local workers.

 � Changes to the benefit system in England and 
Wales could force more residents into poverty.

 � Increasing health related worklessness and 
overall poorer health of the population as a result 
of the pandemic.

Our Threats Facts

The share of working age 
population is below the 
Liverpool City Region or 
England averages. Population 
aged 16 to 64 expected to 
decrease by 3.2%. 
Source: Annual Population Survey.

Only 10% of residents were 
involved in a decision that 
affected their area in the 
12-months leading to January 
2021, below the England 
average of 14%. 
Source: (5th August 2021) Census 2011.

The share of retail spend 
accounted for by online sales 
has risen by 282% in last 
10 years and will continue 
to grow. This represents a 
threat to Wirral’s town/local 
centres. 
Source : Retail Sales Index time series. 

60% of jobs in Wirral 
are in sectors likely to 
be moderately/severely 
impacted by COVID, 
according to the Social Market 
Foundation. This % is lower 
than national picture, but is 
still a significant number. 
Source: Social market foundation

In Wirral 63% of working-age 
residents (120,000 people) 
do not hold a degree level 
qualification, higher than 
the national average. 

There is a significant gap in 
life expectancy – equivalent 
to 11 years - between east 
and west Wirral. 
Source: Annual Population Survey

The largest employment 
sectors in Wirral – health/
social care/retail/wholesale 
– offer good employment but 
these sectors have failed to 
grow in last 5 years. 
Source: BRES, 2019.

It is predicted that the 
COVID-19 pandemic and 
lockdown will lead to a rise in 
unemployment from 3.8% 
to 10% nationally – these 
trends are also evident in 
Wirral.
Source: Office for Budget Responsibility

18 19

P
age 37



3 Vision, 
Objectives 
and Principles 

Photo: Future Yard 20 21

P
age 38



The analysis in the previous section 
has been used to shape our proposed  
Vision, Objectives and Working 
Principles. 

Our vision is to create:
Vibrant places, where communities and businesses thrive and 
people choose to live, work and visit. A rebalanced borough that 
stands out for its achievements on fairness, reducing inequalities 
and building local wealth. A borough that is celebrated for 
delivering new and big ideas, working jointly with others and 
for prioritising environmental sustainability.

Vibrant places Delivering New 
and Big Ideas

Fairness, 
Inequalities & 
Local Wealth

Working Jointly 
with others

Prioritising 
Environmental 
Sustainability

There are a series of key phrases in our Vision Statement:

It is essential that 
all parts of Wirral 
– east and west – 
are places where 
people want to 
live and where 
businesses 
choose to trade 
from and are 
supported to 
grow. We need 
to break down 
the disparities 
between east 
and west to 
create a network 
of successful 
places, with a 
strong focus on 
growth in the Left 
Bank. 

We want the new 
era in Wirral to 
be one where 
all parts of 
our economy 
work more 
extensively with 
partners and 
communities. 
We want to be a 
well networked 
economy that 
is known for 
joined-up 
working 
and being 
openminded.

No-one will be 
left behind in 
Wirral. We are 
committed 
to ensuring 
that wealth is 
more broadly 
distributed 
and that the 
entrenched 
needs of the 
most deprived 
areas are fully 
addressed. 

We require an all-
encompassing 
drive on 
climate change. 
Everything we 
do on economic 
development 
and regeneration 
needs to be 
guided by our 
commitment 
to transition to 
net zero and 
objective to 
build a greener 
economy in 
Wirral.

We want to build 
on our history 
as a place of 
firsts, and be 
a borough 
that seeks out 
new roles, new 
challenges 
and new 
opportunities. 
Wirral will 
be a place of 
innovation and 
new approaches.

22 23

P
age 39



Thriving   
Economy
Wirral has a diverse business base with 
a strong presence in some of the City 
Region’s identified growth sectors – 
including advanced manufacturing, 
maritime, digital & creative, health and 
life sciences and the visitor economy. 
We will build on the strengths of our 
sectors and prioritise interventions 
that boost their innovation capacity 
and jobs potential. We will maximise 
the growth and investment 
opportunities provided by our 
public service resources and assets, 
significant large-scale regeneration 
programme and emerging distinctive 
opportunities such as the LCR 
Freeports designation.

We need to provide all the necessary 
support to enable our local business 
base to grow and to increase their 
resilience to future market changes. 
This includes building greater 
opportunities for collaboration 
between our business base and the 
relevant support networks.

Stimulating new business start up 
and enterprise growth is also crucial. 
Although we have made great strides 
in supporting new independent 
business, particularly in the digital and 
creative sector through our Left Bank 
programme where demand remains 
high, we still lag behind the Liverpool 
City Region in business start-ups. We 
need to explore opportunities for more 
collaborative live/work facilities and 
managed workspaces in sustainable 
locations to support a growth in 
start-ups and to capitalise on changing 
work practices which have emerged 
from the Covid-19 pandemic. 

Objectives
We will focus on 
working with 
Business, Places 
and People in 
pursuit of our 
Vision. This 
tried and tested 
approach will 
ensure we are 
acting on all fronts 
to achieve our 
vision. 

Our three central 
objectives are:

 � Thriving 
Economy

 � Vibrant Places
 � Inclusive 

Economy

OBJECTIVE

We need to maximise inward 
investment opportunities to ensure 
that Wirral has a high quality offer 
for investors and businesses looking 
to relocate to Wirral, underpinned 
by our transformational Left Bank 
programme. 

We must also ensure that the enabling 
factors are in place to match business 
needs, including appropriate skills 
and training, business support, access 
to funding and high-quality digital 
infrastructure.

All of the above will be done with a 
focus on developing and attracting 
business activity to support inclusive 
economic growth.

24 25

P
age 40



Vibrant 
Places
We are developing the Birkenhead 
2040 Framework and a range 
of supporting Neighbourhood 
Frameworks and detailed masterplans, 
to provide a robust policy framework 
to guide the future development of our 
Left Bank. The strategies will be used 
to inform policies in our Local Plan 
and will set out how we will deliver 
high-quality, mixed-use development 
in our areas most in need.  We are 
committed to working with partners 
to deliver regeneration at scale and at 
pace, with high quality urban design 
and sustainability throughout.

Our network of towns, led by the 
primary centre of Birkenhead, is one 
of our greatest assets and the shift to 
home-working as a result of the Covid 
pandemic has seen a change in local 
spending, providing an opportunity 
to capitalise on ‘shopping local’. 
Many of our centres are, however, still 
facing profound challenges due to the 
changing role of retail, the pandemic 
and competition from other locations.  

We need to build on the existing 
individuality of centres, ensuring 
centres are a focus/hub for their 
communities, and extend the ‘dwell 
time’ and spend of people visiting 
town centres.  We must also support a 
diversity of uses, including housing, to 
generate footfall and secure the long-
term vitality and viability of centres.

We also need to maximise our 
opportunities for the visitor economy, 
by enhancing our cultural and heritage 
offer and promoting our coastal and 
rural assets.  Wirral provides a unique 
visitor destination which is distinct 
from the city centre experience in 
Liverpool. Many of the Left Bank’s 
heritage assets have not been utilised 
to their full potential and we need to 
connect these assets and create a 
strong visitor economy offer. 

We have an active network of 
Registered Providers with a strong 
track record of delivering high quality, 
affordable schemes in Wirral. Our 

OBJECTIVE

Left Bank regeneration programme 
provides an opportunity to deliver 
a significant uplift in housing, based 
around innovative, high quality 
family homes. We must ensure that a 
range of housing types and tenures 
are delivered in Wirral, particularly 
focused on the Left Bank area, to 
help rebalance the borough’s housing 
stock.

An effective sustainable transport 
network will also be crucial, to improve 
quality of place, drive our borough 
towards zero carbon, and to remove 
barriers to residents and businesses 
accessing work and training. 

We want each community to be 
exceptionally proud of their area. We 
must promote social and community 
connectivity as the physical 
regeneration of places alone will not 
be enough to create vibrant places – 
the people living and working there 
will create the place.  

26 27

P
age 41



Inclusive 
Economy
The levels of inequality across Wirral 
are unacceptable and too many people 
are experiencing multiple deprivation. 
Many residents, particularly focused 
in the east of the borough, experience 
a range of physical and mental health 
issues, and are often detached from 
the labour market or employed 
in fragile jobs that offer them too 
little security and little prospect for 
progression. We will work to ensure 
all labour market barriers are either 
removed or substantially reduced. 

We want to narrow the gap between 
those living in east and west Wirral. 
Nothing less than a multi-dimensional 
approach is required to turn this 
around, working with schools, colleges, 
other skills providers, employers and 
community groups – both locally and 
across the City Region and Mersey Dee 
Alliance.  

Being in good employment protects 
health, while unemployment, 
particularly long-term unemployment, 
contributes significantly to poor health. 
Evidence shows that good quality 
work is beneficial to an individual’s 
health and wellbeing and protects 
against social exclusion through the 
provision of income, social interaction, 
a core role, identity and purpose. 
Wirral has for many years sought to 
address health related worklessness 
and has had success in doing so by 
reducing it at a rate of double the 
national average. However, high 
levels remain, and the pandemic 
and associated social and economic 
response has further highlighted the 
need to augment work that supports 
people to enter the job market and 
maintain economic independence for 
themselves and their families.

OBJECTIVE

In terms of skills, we have strong 
partnerships with skills and 
employment providers, however, a 
number of priority sectors, including 
advanced manufacturing, health & life 
sciences and maritime and logistics, 
are experiencing skills gaps.  We need 
to identify and address sector skills 
shortages and skills gaps to meet 
the needs of employers and boost 
economic growth, linked to our Left 
Bank ambitions. 

There are also more immediate needs 
to support people who lose their 
jobs or businesses: finding creative 
ways of supporting them before 
re-engaging them into the workforce 
will be essential, focusing on key 
employability skills. We recognise that 
the provision of digital infrastructure 
does not automatically close the 
“digital divide” for those who cannot 
afford and/or do not know how to use 
digital services.  We must therefore 
ensure that digital connectivity is 
delivered in a fair and inclusive way 

across Wirral, and that residents have 
suitable skills and means.

The people of Wirral are one of our 
most important assets and we must 
ensure that residents furthest away 
from work including those with health 
conditions and/or disabilities have the 
right support to access. 

28 29

P
age 42



Thriving
Economy

Vibrant
Places

Inclusive 
Economy

Objectives
Community 
Wealth Building
We want to put Community Wealth at 
the heart of what we do. Put simply, 
we want to ensure that more of the 
wealth that is both held and generated 
in Wirral is retained and controlled 
locally and flows into the hands of 
local residents.

Inclusive procurement is also a central 
component of community wealth 
building. All our anchor institutions – in 
both the public and private sectors – 
can better orientate their purchasing 
to ensure that local residents and 
businesses benefit to a greater extent 
and that providers are delivering 
genuine local social value through 
contract delivery. We can also use 
planning agreements as part of our 
developments at Left Bank to secure 
social value through, for example, 
employment and skills agreements.

Striving 
for more local 
ownership and control 
is another dimension and has many 
components. It can and will include 
working with local businesses to 
stimulate worker ownership, growing 
the co-operative sector, and more 
creative ownership and control models 
for assets. We must fully engage the 
social and community, voluntary and 
faith sector to make the most of these 
opportunities. 

Facilitating socially just labour markets 
will be another part of the way we 
work. We need to shift the number of 
jobs that are offered on poor pay and 
conditions in favour of workers, and in 
doing so ensure that there is a better 
balance between shareholder value 
and the returns to employees.

Photo: Deana Kay

Working 
Principles 
In addition to 
the three central 
Objectives, the 
Economic Strategy 
will include three 
overarching 
Principles that will 
shape the way 
we want Wirral 
Council and its 
partners to work. 
The Objectives 
describe the 
outcomes we want 
to achieve and the 
Principles describe 
a cross cutting 
style of working: 

 � Community 
Wealth Building

 � Prioritising 
Sustainability

 � Openess and 
Collaboration

PRINCIPLE

30 31

P
age 43



Prioritising 
Sustainability
We have declared an environment and 
climate emergency and have signed 
up to the partnership Cool 2 Strategy 
– a flagship strategy that shows clearly 
our intent. We have also developed an 
Environment and Climate Emergency 
Action Plan to set out what we will do 
to tackle the environment and climate 
change emergency. Sustainability 
and the move to a low carbon future 
is integral to the future of Wirral’s 
economy and the UK’s clean economy 
is estimated to grow at four times the 
rate of the rest of the economy. 

With businesses and places, we 
will ensure sustainable methods of 
construction and renewable energy 
sources are prioritised; help refurbish 
existing residential and commercial 
buildings so that they use less energy; 
promote new buildings designed 
for low energy ‘zero carbon’; use 
heat networks in urban areas; and 
use smart grid technologies to take 
advantage of the decentralisation of 
energy generation and storage; and 
enable the use of electric vehicles.

 
 
 
 
 
We will also support the provision of 
‘green and blue’ infrastructure as part 
of our place regeneration programme, 
which will provide a network of green 
spaces and water environments to 
help limit negative impacts from 
existing and future changes in the 
climate.

With people, we need to work at all 
times to educate our residents on the 
climate emergency, to help them gain 
skills in new technologies, to prioritise 
active travel through promoting the 
benefits of cycling and walking, and to 
enable our residents to make a greater 
proportion of journeys within and 
between areas via public transport. 

PRINCIPLE

Openess and  
Collaboration
All successful economies are open 
to the opportunities beyond their 
immediate boundaries. We want 
to encourage businesses to be 
outward looking as they look for 
trading opportunities and expanded 
markets, and for our residents to take 
advantage of the opportunities and 
experiences available to them outside 
of Wirral. As an authority we know 
we are often stronger when we join 
forces with our neighbouring areas and 
build critical mass - we have seen this 
through our work with our City Region 
partners and the Mersey Dee Alliance.

We want to be seen as an area that 
places a premium on promoting 
integration and connectivity, and that 
readily seeks out opportunities and 
influences from elsewhere. As part 
of this agenda, we want people and 
businesses to generate new ideas and 
we will help put them into practice.

 
 
 
 
This working 
principle can be applied to all 
our stakeholders – our residents 
can be more outward looking 
and collaborative, so too can our 
community groupings, and so too 
can our business base.  We recognise 
the value of community engagement 
and co-creation and will ensure that 
communities are fully engaged in our 
regeneration programme. 

Through our Growth Plan, we made 
great progress in establishing strong 
partnership in areas such as health 
and education. We need to explore 
opportunities to work further together 
on initiatives and the co-location of 
services.

PRINCIPLE
PRINCIPLE

32 33

P
age 44



Community 
Wealth Building

Prioritising 
Sustainability    

Openness and 
Collaboration 

Working Principles

Three Objectives
What We Want to Achieve

Three Working Principles
How We Want to Work

Thriving
Economy

Community 
Wealth Building

Openness and 
Collaboration

Prioritising
Sustainability

Vibrant
Places

Inclusive
Economy

Summary of Vision, Objectives and Principles 

Vision
Vibrant places, where communities 

and businesses thrive and people 
choose to live, work and visit. A 

rebalanced borough that stands out 
for its achievements on fairness, 

reducing inequalities and building 
local wealth. A borough that is 

celebrated for delivering new and 
big ideas, working jointly with 

others and for prioritising 
environmental sustainability.

Our headline economic outcome 
measures for the Wirral Plan 
in 2021-22 will be reviewed 
and monitored on a quarterly 
basis as part of our corporate 
performance framework. 

They will be: 

 � Increase the employment rate 
 � Reduce the Claimant Count
 � Increase the Job Density Rate
 � Increase the Gross Value Added (GVA) per head of population
 � Increase the Business Count

34 35

P
age 45



Despite the pandemic, we have achieved 
much in recent years that will contribute 
to the delivery of the vision and objectives 
of this new Economic Strategy. We need 
to build on this and maintain momentum. 
The actions detailed in this section will 
therefore be used to guide future projects 
and programmes which support our 
vision and objectives.

4 Priority 
Actions

36 37

P
age 46



THRIVING 
ECONOMY

Action Lead

We will provide high quality, all-inclusive business support services 
to aid the stability and resilience of our indigenous businesses, 
promoting access to new and emerging opportunities for growth and 
diversification.

Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region 
Commissioned Services 
Business Partners

We will focus on intensifying the innovation and growth capacity of our 
target sectors such as Maritime, Logistics, Visitor Economy, Advanced 
Manufacturing, Low Carbon and Digital/Creative, and ensure we 
capitalise on the wealth of regeneration initiatives in the borough and 
beyond to open up new markets.

Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region 
Mersey Dee Alliance 
Businesses 
Developers

We will promote a stronger, more inclusive entrepreneurial culture in 
Wirral by providing effective start up support, business incubation 
services and active mentoring networks.

Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region 
Business Networks

We will increase our focus on inward investment to ensure that Wirral 
has the optimal propositions driven through our extensive Left Bank 
Regeneration Programme offering the right portfolio of sites and 
premises and assisted through proactive support promotion.

Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region 
Businesses 
Developers

We will deliver first class business infrastructure in Wirral i.e. digital 
infrastructure, easy access to funding, effective business networks etc

Digital Infrastructure Providers 
Funders 
Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region 
Mersey Dee Alliance

Thriving Economy 
Output Indicators 

 � Increase the number of 
businesses rating business 
support services as “excellent”

 � Increase the number of “high 
growth” businesses in Wirral, 
as measured by ONS

 � Increase the number of 
annual business start-ups

 � Increase the value of inward 
investment in target sectors 
entering the borough.

 � Number of responsive 
programmes delivered and 
new investment secured

38 39

P
age 47



VIBRANT 
PLACES

Action Lead

We will deliver Birkenhead 2040 and associated area-based 
regeneration strategies to provide a framework for growth

Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region 
Homes England 
Developers 
Investors  
Registered Providers

We will strengthen all of Wirral’s town centres and high streets, 
capitalising on existing and new government funding opportunities, to 
help diversify the offer and ensure their long term vitality

Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region 
Developers 
Investors  
Registered Providers 
Voluntary and Community 
Sector

We will maximise opportunities within the visitor economy through 
enhancing the cultural and heritage offer and promoting Wirral’s 
unique coastal and rural assets

Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region

We will deliver a diverse and affordable housing mix, in order to create 
vibrant mixed communities and retain talent in the area.

Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region 
Developers 
Investors  
Registered Providers

We will improve active and public transport infrastructure, with a 
particular focus on “last mile” connectivity

Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region 
Mersey Dee Alliance 
Merseytravel

Vibrant Places 
Output Indicators

 � Deliver Birkenhead 2040 
pipeline projects and produce 
area regeneration strategies

 � Secure funding and 
investments in our town 
centres and high streets

 � Increase the annual number 
of visitors to Wirral

 � Increase the number of 
new homes delivered on 
brownfield land

 � Increase the number of 
people walking and cycling 
based on our green sensors.  

40 41

P
age 48



INCLUSIVE 
ECONOMY

Action Lead

We will prioritise initiatives that tackle the deep-rooted levels of 
worklessness in our most deprived neighbourhoods and address the 
significant underlying physical and mental health and related issues 
which exacerbate and perpetuate the issue.  

Wirral Council 
Commissioned Services 
Health Partners 
Employment Partners

We will work with our employment partners to ensure the most 
effective and responsive labour support mechanisms are in place 
to guard against economic shocks/structural economic challenges 
and ensure we maximise the impact of our Left Bank Regeneration 
Programme by facilitating easy access to new opportunities for all.

Wirral Council 
Employment Partners 
Developers 
Businesses

We will work with our skills and education partners to secure relevant, 
accessible and high-quality essential skills programmes in Wirral 
that match the needs of our businesses, our sectoral growth and 
regeneration opportunities.  

Wirral Council 
Skills & Education Partners 
Liverpool City Region 
Mersey Dee Alliance 
Businesses

We will work with a wide range of partners to tackle skills and 
education inequalities and support our residents and workforce to 
access the most relevant and appropriate training opportunities, 
opening up new employment options whilst tackling skills shortages 
for our key sectors.

Wirral Council 
Skills & Employment Partners 
Liverpool City Region 
Mersey Dee Alliance

We will deliver first class skills and employment infrastructure in Wirral 
i.e. maximising new initiatives, piloting new approaches to delivery, 
building the capacity of local provision

Wirral Council 
Skills & Employment Partners 
Liverpool City Region 
Mersey Dee Alliance

Inclusive Economy 
Output Indicators

 � Reduce the gap in 
unemployment levels 
between areas of 
disadvantage and the rest of 
the borough

 � Achieve high performance 
through our commissioned 
services for the number of out 
of work residents achieving 
positive outcomes (into work 
or training) 

 � Increase the qualifications 
levels for Wirral residents

 � Reduce levels of reported 
skills/labour shortages 
amongst employers.

 � Numbers of responsive 
programmes delivered and 
people engaged

42 43

P
age 49



Photo: Deana Kay

Action Lead

We will promote fair and good work at all times, in line with City Region 
Fair Employment Charter, when engaging with businesses and partners

Wirral Council 
Commissioned Services 
Liverpool City Region  
Employment Partners

We will use the procurement powers of anchor institutions to promote 
social value, secure community benefits and develop local supply 
chains

Wirral Council 
Commissioned Services 
Employment Partners

We will encourage the development of the social business sector, to 
support the retention of wealth locally

Wirral Council 
Commissioned Services 
Liverpool City Region

We will use planning agreements (e.g., s106) to deliver more 
community wealth building / and build local supply chains

Wirral Council 
Commissioned Services 
Developers 
Registered Providers

We will support the capacity of the community to engage in 
regeneration and promote community ownership

Wirral Council 
Commissioned Services

COMMUNITY  
WEALTH BUILDING 

Community  
Wealth Building  
Output Indicators

 � Increase in percentage of 
people earning on or above 
the Real Living Wage

 � Increase the social value 
obtained from Council 
contracts

 � Increase in the number of 
generative enterprises

 � Increase the social value 
secured through planning 
agreements

 � Increase the number of 
community owned or 
operated assets across the 
borough

44 45

P
age 50



PRIORITISING 
SUSTAINABILITY

Action Lead

We will prioritise renewable energy infrastructure to support the 
transition to zero carbon in our place-shaping work, in particular 
when it supports our Left Bank Regeneration Programme

Wirral Council 
Infrastructure Providers 
Developers 
Registered Providers

We will use Council leverage to stipulate the use of green methods 
of construction and sustainable building design

Wirral Council 
Developers 
Regsitered Providers

We will maximise opportunities to encourage local businesses to 
respond to the climate emergency.

Wirral Council 
Commissioned Services 
Liverpool City Region

We will cut carbon emissions by embedding carbon saving 
behaviours into the general public, business and all other relevant 
stakeholders.

Wirral Council 
Commissioned Services

Prioritising 
Sustainability 
Output Indicators

 � Secure renewable energy 
infrastructure as part of our 
place-shaping work

 � Improved energy efficiency of 
all new/refurbished buildings

 � Increase the number of 
businesses referred to 
programmes which respond 
to the climate emergency

 � Increase in number/frequency 
of climate emergency 
communications

46 47

P
age 51



OPENNESS AND 
COLLABORATION 

Action Lead

We will actively engage a wide range of stakeholders through a joint 
approach, to maximise opportunities presented through the Left Bank 
regeneration programme.

Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region 
Mersey Dee Alliance 
Commissioned Services 
Voluntary & Community 
Sector 
Developers 
Investors 
Registered Providers

We will ensure Wirral takes a proactive stance in becoming a test bed 
for new technologies, new ideas and new approaches to place-based 
economic development

Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region 
Mersey Dee Alliance 
Commissioned Services 
Voluntary & Community 
Sector

We will enhance the community input / community co-creation in 
developing local regeneration schemes 

Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region 
Commissioned Services 
Voluntary & Community 
Sector

We will seize opportunities to open Wirral to external markets and to 
boost the exporting potential of local businesses. 

Wirral Council 
Liverpool City Region 
Commissioned Services

Openness and 
Collaboration  
Output Indicators  

 � Increase the number of 
collaborative joint-working 
initiatives with partners

 � Increase the number of 
projects and programmes 
which are based on new and 
innovative approaches

 � Increased community 
participation in place-based 
projects

 � Increased number of 
exporting businesses in Wirral

48 49

P
age 52



5      Summary 
Performance 
Framework

We will track a series of high-level 
outcome measures that will show us 
how far we are succeeding in building 
a more prosperous and fairer Wirral 
economy. We have also identified 
a series of more specific output 
indicators that will show progress 
in delivering the various objectives 
and principles which shape this 
strategy. The output performance 
will be reviewed internally through 
our Regeneration Programme 
Management performance 
framework.

The overall performance framework 
for our Economic Strategy will be 
subject to an independent annual 
review and evaluation to test the 
effectiveness of our granular annual 
action plans and the overall progress 
on our 5 year priority strategy 
impact.

50 51

P
age 53



Objectives - Output Indicators  

THRIVING 
ECONOMY

 � Increase the number of businesses rating business support services as “excellent”
 � Increase the number of “high growth” businesses in Wirral, as measured by ONS
 � Increase the number of annual business start-ups
 � Increase the value of inward investment in target sectors entering the borough.
 � Number of responsive programmes delivered and new investment secured

VIBRANT 
PLACES

 � Deliver Birkenhead 2040 pipeline projects and produce area regeneration strategies
 � Secure funding and investments in our town centres and high streets
 � Increase the annual number of visitors to Wirral
 � Increase the number of new homes delivered on brownfield land
 � Increase the number of people walking and cycling based on our green sensors.  

INCLUSIVE 
ECONOMY 

 � Reduce the gap in unemployment levels between areas of disadvantage and the 
rest of the borough

 � Achieve high performance through our commissioned services for the number of 
out of work residents achieving positive outcomes (into work or training) 

 � Increase the qualifications levels for Wirral residents
 � Reduce levels of reported skills/labour shortages amongst employers.
 � Numbers of responsive programmes delivered and people engaged

Vision
Vibrant places, where communities and businesses thrive and people 
choose to live, work and visit. A rebalanced borough that stands out for 
its achievements on fairness, reducing inequalities and building 
local wealth. A borough that is celebrated for delivering new 
and big ideas, working jointly with others and for prioritising 
environmental sustainability.

High Level Outcome Indicators  
 � Increase the employment rate 
 � Reduce the Claimant Count
 � Increase the Job Density Rate
 � Increase the Gross Value Added (GVA) per head of population
 � Increase the Business Count

Working Principles - Output Indicators  

COMMUNITY  
WEALTH BUILDING 

 � Increase in percentage of people earning on or above the Real Living Wage
 � Increase the social value obtained from Council contracts
 � Increase in the number of generative enterprises
 � Increase the social value secured through planning agreements
 � Increase the number of community owned or operated assets across the 

borough

PRIORITISING 
SUSTAINABILITY  

 � Secure renewable energy infrastructure as part of our place-shaping work
 � Improved energy efficiency of all new/refurbished buildings
 � Increase the number of businesses referred to programmes which respond to 

the climate emergency
 � Increase in number/frequency of climate emergency communications

OPENNESS AND 
COLLABORATION

 � Increase the number of collaborative joint-working initiatives with partners
 � Increase the number of projects and programmes which are based on new 

and innovative approaches
 � Increased community participation in place-based projects
 � Increased number of exporting businesses in Wirral

52 53

P
age 54



PREPARED WITH THE SUPPORT OF

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



ECONOMY REGENERATION & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
Monday, 22 November 2021 

REPORT TITLE: LISCARD NEIGHBOURHOOD FRAMEWORK: AN 
INTEGRATED MASTERPLAN

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE

REPORT SUMMARY

This report provides Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee with details of a 
new Neighbourhood Framework for Liscard: An Integrated Masterplan. The Council 
commissioned BDP, supported by Aspinall Verdi and Curtins, to produce a long-term 
framework for Liscard in March 2020. The framework is intended to provide an ambitious 
vision and strategic context to drive forward and guide the sustainable economic growth 
and renewal of Liscard over the next 15 years.

The Neighbourhood Framework has been funded the through the Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority (LCRCA) Town Centre Fund, which aims to support the viability and 
vitality of town centres. In addition to the Neighbourhood Framework, the funding is being 
used to support a range of interventions. These include the diversification of activity to bring 
vacant premises back into use, public realm and street scene improvements, and a number 
of community projects. 

The Wirral Plan 2021 - 2026 sets out the Council’s vision to secure the best possible future 
for our residents. The proposals contained in this report directly support the following key 
themes within the Plan:

 A thriving and inclusive economy, creating jobs and opportunities for all;
 A clean-energy, sustainable borough, leading the way in tackling the environment 

crisis;
 Brighter futures for all regardless of their background;
 Safe and pleasant communities that our residents are proud of; and
 Healthy and active lives for all, with the right care, at the right time.

This matter affects the wards of Liscard, Wallasey and Seacombe.

This is a key decision owing to the significance in terms of the effect on communities living
or working in an area comprising two or more wards in the Borough.

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



RECOMMENDATION

Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee is recommended to approve the 
Liscard Neighbourhood Framework: An Integrated Masterplan, as set out in Appendix 1 to 
this report, as the Council’s regeneration strategy for Liscard.

Page 58



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

1.1 The Neighbourhood Framework for Liscard: An Integrated Masterplan will support 
the long-term renewal of Liscard as a vital and viable town centre which will be well-
connected and will provide a high-quality environment.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Not develop a framework – the option to not develop a Neighbourhood Framework 
for Liscard was considered. This option was rejected as it would be challenging to 
secure investment and support the long-term renewal of Liscard town centre without 
a robust framework in place.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (LCRA) Town Centre Fund

3.1 The Council secured £500,000 grant funding for Liscard through the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) Town Centre Fund in 2019. This fund aims to 
support the viability and vitality of town centres through a range of interventions 
including masterplan strategies, public realm improvements, physical and digital 
infrastructure, business support, town centre management plus events and 
marketing activities. In addition to a Neighbourhood Framework, the LCRCA Town 
Centre Fund funding is being used to support a range of interventions including the 
diversification of activity to bring vacant premises back into use; public realm and 
street scene improvements; and a number of community projects.

3.2 The Council commissioned BDP, supported by AspinallVerdi and Curtins, in March 
2020 to produce a Neighbourhood Framework for Liscard, to provide an ambitious 
vision and a clear neighbourhood framework to drive forward and guide the 
sustainable economic growth and renewal of Liscard over the next 15 years. 

Local Context

3.3 The Wirral Plan 2021 - 2026 sets out the Council’s vision to secure the best possible 
future for our residents. The proposals contained in this report directly support the 
following key themes within the Plan:

• A thriving and inclusive economy, creating jobs and opportunities for all;
• A clean-energy, sustainable borough, leading the way in tackling the 

environment crisis;
• Brighter futures for all regardless of their background;
• Safe and pleasant communities that our residents are proud of; and
• Healthy and active lives for all, with the right care, at the right time.

3.4 The Council consulted on its Draft Local Plan between January and April 2020 under 
Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012. The proposals for the Draft Local Plan identified Liscard as a 

Page 59



priority area for regeneration in recognition of its potential as a high-quality mixed-
use centre.

3.5 Liscard forms part of a wider transformational regeneration programme along the 
‘Left Bank’ of the River Mersey stretching from New Brighton to Bromborough, with a 
particular focus on the creation of a sustainable, waterfront urban garden community 
in Birkenhead, underpinned by the Birkenhead 2040 Framework and emerging Local 
Plan.

3.6 The Wirral Community Wealth Building Strategy 2020-2025 supports the latest Wirral 
Plan and sets out three strategic objectives, which are: democratic economy, 
generative economy, and financial resilience. The three strategic objectives will be 
delivered across the following five pillars of the community wealth building:

• Plural ownership – residents in Wirral have a say on the wealth generated by 
their communities;

• Land and assets – Council land and assets are used to build community 
wealth, including ways in which Council assets can be used for the benefit of 
the local community;

• Making financial power work for local places – wealth that exists in Wirral is 
harnessed to increase investment in local communities;

• Workforce – residents of Wirral are employed in secure, well-paid jobs with 
progression of opportunities and good terms and conditions;

• Procurement – procurement practices of Wirral’s anchor institutions are used 
to build the wealth of local communities. 

3.7 It is considered that the Neighbourhood Framework supports the principles of 
community wealth building and is built around a vision for a Liscard as a place at the 
‘heart of the community’:

• Where everyone feels welcome;
• Where people can live, work and play;
• Where there is a strong sense of local identity; and
• Where people can come together

3.8 Wirral Council has declared an environment and climate emergency and has 
developed the Cool Wirral 2 Strategy as part of the Cool Wirral Partnership. This 
sets Wirral on the path to achieve two main goals: 

• To stay within a local emissions ‘budget’ of 7.7 million tonnes (Mt) of CO2 
between 2020-2100 and to reach ‘net zero’ pollution as early as possible 
before 2041; and  

• To ensure a climate resilient Wirral adapted to cope with existing change and 
further unavoidable disruption this century.

3.9 The Neighbourhood Framework seeks to support active travel and the provision of 
electric vehicle charging points in support of the Cool Wirral 2 Strategy.

Page 60



Baseline Review

3.10 A baseline review of Liscard identifies Liscard as an important retail centre offering a 
range of national retailers along the pedestrianised Liscard Way and a greater 
number of independent retailers and other service, financial and business uses along 
the outer arterial roads that lead to the central core.  The area has seen limited 
investment in public realm enhancements in recent years and now suffers from 
above average vacancy rates, poor environmental quality, vandalism, anti-social 
behaviour and a limited leisure and cultural offer and night-time economy.

3.11 The baseline review identifies potential to diversify the offer in the town centre to 
provide a wider range of uses. There is potential to develop underused and vacant 
sites to create more footfall and activity, create more spaces for people to dwell and 
improve pedestrian connectivity in Liscard.

Vision and Objectives for Liscard

3.12 The Neighbourhood Framework recognises the changing nature of high streets and 
the significant move to on-line shopping. It notes that potential lasting changes 
following the Covid-19 pandemic may accelerate this process, leading to more store 
closures and an oversupply of floorspace.  This provides an opportunity to re-
imagine a new type of town centre that is more locally distinctive, more interesting 
and more community focused and less of a ‘clone’ and ‘more Liscard.’ A town that is:

 More diverse – retaining a good range of retail in the town centre while 
balancing this with a much wider range of uses including leisure, residential 
and workspace; 

 More people focused – reducing the impact of traffic and making the town 
centre easier to navigate from surrounding communities by foot, cycle and 
public transport;

 More social – creating spaces (both internal and external) that bring people 
together and enliven the town centre both by day and into the evening; and

 More attractive – enhancing the appearance of the town and the quality of 
spaces including more green infrastructure and colour.

3.13 These aspirations are supported by five themes:

1. Connected Town; 
2. Spaces for People; 
3. Renewing the Core; 
4. Urban Village; and
5. Community Hub 

Connected Town

3.14 The Neighbourhood Framework proposes to reduce the dominance of roads and 
create a safer, calmer and more attractive environment for pedestrians, cyclists and 

Page 61



bus users. This includes proposals to re-organise the roads that form the gyratory 
around the town centre to reduce the amount of space given over to vehicles and to 
create more space for pedestrians, cyclists and public realm. The Neighbourhood 
Framework also supports the proposals for a dedicated cycle corridor around the 
gyratory as part of the Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan. It should be 
noted that this route will be subject to further public consultation. 

3.15 In terms of parking, it is proposed that the Seaview Road car park will be developed 
as part of a high-quality housing scheme and that the amount of car parking would 
be retained at the Cherry Tree Centre.  The parking at the Cherry Tree Centre could 
be re-provided as a multi-storey car park to release land for re-development.

Spaces for People

3.16 The Neighbourhood Framework proposes to form more attractive and interactive 
public spaces, including through new paving, lighting, street furniture and green 
infrastructure along Liscard Way and at key gateways into the town centre.

Renewing the Core

3.17 The Neighbourhood Framework proposes to re-shape the town centre core through 
the part redevelopment of the Cherry Tree Centre and car park to potentially create 
space for a new food store and other commercial, business, service and residential 
uses. The Neighbourhood Framework also supports the high-quality refurbishment 
or redevelopment of Dominick House to bring it back into use, and the 
redevelopment of buildings on Liscard Way for new mixed-use development.

Urban Village

3.18 The Neighbourhood Framework proposes to o create more housing in the town 
centre through the development of the Seaview Road car park and former 
Community Centre site for housing along with the conversion or redevelopment of 
the vacant Municipal Buildings The Neighbourhood Framework also identifies 
potential to redevelop the site currently occupied by two automotive businesses on 
Burns Avenue for housing as a long-term potential proposal, and includes design 
principles for the conversion of commercial properties along the main routes into the 
town centre.

Community Hub

3.19 There is an aspiration to establish a community hub in the town centre. While every 
community hub is different, most community hubs host different partners in one or 
more buildings to deliver a wide range of services to the local community that meet 
community needs. Typically, community hubs are run and managed by a dedicated 
community organisation, but in other instances they may be owned or managed by a 
public agency such as a housing association, or local authority but with substantial 
input and influence from the community.

Page 62



Delivery

3.20 As part of the Neighbourhood Framework, Aspinall Verdi has developed a high-level 
delivery plan to identify how the ambitions could potentially be delivered in the short, 
medium and long term. The delivery plan has been informed by a soft market testing 
exercise with a range of private sector developers and registered providers to gauge 
demand for investment in Liscard. Feedback indicates that developers specialising in 
regeneration have a particular interest in Liscard and that there is a perception that 
Liscard has significant potential, but the prolonged under-investment has affected 
market confidence. Feedback also stressed the importance of place-making and 
enhancements to the public realm.

3.21 The delivery plan highlights that public sector support will be required to create the 
conditions to de-risk early-stage development and provide confidence to investors 
and development. It identifies key opportunity sites to act as a catalyst for 
sustainable growth, including Seaview Road Car Park, Dominick House, and the 
Cherry Tree Centre.

3.22 The delivery plan recommends that the Council:
 appoints a project manager to lead on the delivery of Liscard; 
 agrees a development strategy for Council assets and acquisitions; and 
 appoints a steering group to ensure proposals are brought forward in a 

comprehensive way and to promote the need for coordinated public sector 
funding support to deliver key public realm and infrastructure.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The total cost of the Neighbourhood Framework was £81,773. £75,000 of the total 
cost has been funded through the LCR town Centres Fund and an additional £6,773 
has been provided through the Regeneration & Place’s capital budget.

4.2 The adoption of the document as a Neighbourhood Framework for Liscard has no 
direct financial implications. The Neighbourhood Framework sets out a series of 
recommendations to support delivery, which includes some options for public sector 
support. Any future proposals which would have financial implications for the Council 
would be subject to a separate decision(s).

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Any external grant funding secured to support the delivery of the Neighbourhood 
Framework will need to be subject to a formal grant agreement to ensure the delivery 
of the funding outcomes, to be agreed between the Council and the funding body.

5.2 Economy, Development and Regeneration is the relevant decision-making body 
within the Council for approving this Framework. This is on the basis that the 
document comes within the definition of a Master Plan or development brief, as 
referred to in the Committee’s Terms of Reference. Potentially a future iteration of 
the Framework (or part of it) could be adopted as a Supplementary Planning 
Document.

Page 63



6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 In order to deliver the ambitions of the Neighbourhood Framework, additional Council 
resources may be required in the form of a project manager and project delivery 
team. Existing officer time may be required to monitor any external grant funding 
secured. Further public consultation may also be required regarding site proposals 
and additional resourcing may be required in terms of officer time and consultation 
materials.

6.2 Any future proposals involving the disposal of Council-owned land, or the acquisition 
of privately owned land would be subject to a separate decision(s).

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

Tale 7.1: Risk Register
Risk Identified Mitigation Measures

Failure to secure stakeholder/Elected 
Member buy-in

Ensure key stakeholders are engaged 
from outset; establish clear engagement 
strategy/structure; monitor and manage 
feedback from stakeholders

Failure to deliver desired outcomes / outputs

Ensure robust project management 
approach with clear output/outcome 
monitoring measures in place

Failure to secure future funding to realise 
ambitions of Neighbourhood Framework

Ensure business cases are robust; 
ensure governance structures are in 
place to monitor and respond to any 
new funding opportunities.

Failure to secure planning permission for 
redevelopment of key sites

Ensure governance structures are in 
place to monitor and respond to 
planning enquiries

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 The team engaged with a range of stakeholders on a one-to-one basis, including 
local Ward Members and traders, as part of the baseline review of Liscard Town 
Centre. A webinar with community and business stakeholders was also held via 
Zoom on 8 July 2020, where the masterplan team presented a range of emerging 
options and sought feedback on proposals. Key feedback included:
• Local people / sense of community spirit is the town’s greatest strength.
• The town’s appearance is its greatest weakness.
• A community focal point, followed by unique businesses and public spaces 

would make Liscard a more distinctive destination.
• There was very strong preference for a community hub and bringing new uses 

into the town centre.

8.2 Public consultation on the options took place between 12 October and 2 November 
2020. Due to the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic all consultation was 
conducted in an on-line environment. Members of the public could access 

Page 64



information about the consultation including a YouTube video explaining the 
proposals and plans could be downloaded in pdf form. A link to a SurveyMonkey 
questionnaire was also provided from the website.

8.3 In total there were 175 respondents to the questionnaire. The strongest support was 
for the ‘Renewing the Core’ proposals with 64% ranking it 1st or 2nd priority and 
there was a strong focus on independent / local retailers as a priority. Feedback 
highlighted that a parking strategy is needed for new residential units, especially in 
central locations and that any residential conversions must be of high quality and 
aimed at the local housing need. 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 
carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity.

9.2 The potential impact of the Liscard Neighbourhood Framework has been reviewed 
with regard to equality and links to the existing EIA conducted for Wirral’s Growth 
Plan and no material amendments have been made.

9.3 A copy of the EIA can be viewed at:
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-
assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 Measures would need to be taken through the design and planning process to 
identify any potential impacts on factors including transport, flood risk, biodiversity 
and coastal change; with appropriate mitigation measures identified. 

10.2 As a result of the initiatives outlined above, it is considered that the content and 
recommendations contained in this report are likely to have no overall impact on 
emissions of Greenhouse Gases and, where possible, the proposal could reduce 
emissions of greenhouse gases. A full assessment of environmental impact, 
including statutory assessments relating to flood risk and biodiversity, would be 
required as the scheme progresses.

11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS

11.1 It is considered that the Framework supports the principles of community wealth 
building and is built around a vision for a Liscard as a place at the ‘heart of the 
community’: As the project moves into the delivery phase, all opportunities to secure 
community wealth and social value e.g. through Council contracts or planning 
agreements, will be explored. 

REPORT AUTHOR: Hannah Austin
Economic Development Lead

Page 65

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/communities-and-neighbourhoods/equality-impact-assessments/equality-impact-assessments-2014-0


email:  hannahaustin@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Liscard Neighbourhood Framework: An Integrated Masterplan
Appendix 2 – Liscard Neighbourhood Framework: An Integrated Masterplan – Executive 
Summary
Appendix 3 – Report of Public Consultation

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Liscard Integrated Masterplan: Request for Quotation
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Town Centre Fund Prospectus
Liscard Masterplan: Baseline Report
Liscard Masterplan: Transport Baseline Report
 (exempt) Liscard Neighbourhood Framework: An Integrated Masterplan – Delivery Plan
 (exempt) – Liscard Neighbourhood Framework – Soft Market Testing Report

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Dominick House (Economy, Regeneration and 
Development Committee)

Liverpool City Region Town Centre Fund (Officer 
Decision Report)

Disposal of freehold reversionary interest – Dominick
House, St Albans Road, Liscard. Delegated Member
Decision

29/10/2021

29/09/2021

05/01/2019

Page 66



Neighbourhood Framework for 
Liscard: An Integrated Masterplan

L I S C A R D

Page 67



BDP.
11 Ducie Street
Manchester
M60 3JA
+44 (0) 161 828 2200
www.bdp.com

Revision I
22/4//2021
CN

CONTENTS
1. Introduction .....................................

2. Liscard Today ...................................

3. A Vision for Liscard ..........................

4. Connected Town ..............................

5. Spaces for People .............................

6. Renewing the Core ...........................

7. Urban Village ....................................

8. Community Hub ................................

9. Delivery ............................................

05

11

25

33

40

57

69

79

83

P
age 68



1
 INTRODUCTION

P
age 69



6 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
7LISCARD MASTERPLAN

Introducing Liscard
Liscard town centre is the main retail and 
service centre for Wallasey and North Wirral. 
The town’s main retail area is focussed on 
the pedestrianised Liscard Way and covered 
Cherry Tree Shopping Centre. Along the arterial 
roads that lead to the central core are a greater 
number of independent retailers and other 
business uses such as estate agents, banks, 
bars and eateries.

The town centre core was significantly 
redeveloped in the 1960s and has seen 
limited investment since the 1990s. A number 
of high profile retailers have left the town in 
recent decades and vacancy rates are rising. 
Recognising that this is part of wider changes 
to the nature and purpose of town centres, 
the Liscard Integrated Masterplan has been 
commissioned to shape a new vision for 
Liscard beyond retail. 

The aim of the masterplan is to re-balance the 
town centre, focusing on the provision of an 
improved retail offer, along with opportunities 
for leisure, community and residential uses, 
and a complementary evening economy; 
all of which should encourage sustainable 
development and the growth of diverse 
independent businesses, re-establishing 
Liscard as a modern, vibrant and thriving town 
centre.

The masterplan provides a Neighbourhood 
Framework for Liscard. It articulates an 
ambitious vision and a clear framework to drive 
forward and guide the sustainable economic 
growth and renewal of Liscard over the next 
15 years. It will influence how the Council 
enables investment in social, economic and 
environmental regeneration and will inform 
the emerging Local Plan. The masterplan is 
not intended as a blueprint, however, and 
alternative options that support the overall 
principles of the masterplan will be supported.

The masterplan has been prepared within 
the midst of the COVID-19 global pandemic, 
which will undoubtedly have an impact on town 
centres. The production of this masterplan will 
therefore play an important role in enabling 
the Council to have a clear vision in place 
for Liscard so that a strong case can be put 
forward for any future development and funding 
opportunities.

The masterplan is a significant opportunity 
to reshape Liscard in a way that will improve 
the experience of residents, businesses and 
visitors ensuring it is a town centre fit for the 
future. A well-connected, more accessible and 
attractive town centre will provide an enhanced 
focal point and in doing so will play a part in 
enhancing community wellbeing.

Masterplan Purpose

Existing Town Centre Boundary as defined in the current Unitary Development Plan

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 70



8 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
9LISCARD MASTERPLAN

Town Centres - The National Picture
Across Britain, town centres are facing 
considerable challenges that threaten their 
future vitality and viability. High Street retailers 
are being hit hard by online competition, 
increasing rent prices and high maintenance 
costs, and as a consequence, many town 
centres are suffering from falling retail sales, 
reduced footfall and rising vacancies. The 
expectations of town centres is also increasing 
and those that don’t have the quality and 
broader diversity of attractions that customers 
now expect are increasingly falling off the map. 

Faced with these pressures, there is a need for 
town centres to adapt to the massive changes 
in shopping habits, global trends and the 
dynamics that attract people to town centres. 
There is too much retail floor space in the UK: 
changing consumer shopping habits have 
resulted in a need to physically change how 
town and city centres look. Not only is there too 
much retail in our urban centres but it is often 
in poorly configured and designed space and 
based on a cost model that no longer works for 
a number of retail operations.

More recently, the COVID-19 pandemic has 
introduced potentially permanent effects on 
society and the economy. Lasting changes 
could include more people working from home, 
people travelling less and permanent shop 
and business closures. The opportunities to 
re-imagine town centres will need to focus on 
the space that is made available and unlikely to 
succeed in its current form and the distinctive 
needs and aspirations of local people who are 
more likely to work, shop and socialise within 
closer proximity to their homes.

Recognising that people visit town centres 
for a variety of reasons, there needs to be a 
shift in emphasis, with town centres being 
restructured from primarily retail areas, towards 
mixed use places that contain a diversity of 
uses including other commercial and cultural 
enterprises, entertainment and leisure, social 
and community uses, and housing. These 
uses help to create vibrancy, emphasising the 
social factor of town centres as places to meet 
friends, join community activities or simply 
enjoy sitting and watching everyday life. This 
can in turn generate an economically beneficial 
level of footfall that sustains the commercial 
function of town centres. 

The key trends in town centre regeneration can 
be summarised as:

Fewer ‘High Street’ shops, more 
independent traders. As the large chain stores 
struggle to compete with the growth of online 
retailing, independent, artisan traders offering 
a personalised service that cannot be found 
online have a chance to thrive. 

Leisure, food and drink. Shopping has 
become just one of a range of activities rather 
than the sole purpose for visits to town and 
city centres. Consumers are increasingly 
seeking trips that blend retail with a hospitality 
opportunity. Food and drink uses also help to 
retain footfall into the evening.

Community hubs. The provision of public 
services such as healthcare, social support, 
education and culture helps to drive footfall in 
town centres and ensures their relevance to 
civil society. The re-imagining of town centres 
from commercial centres to civic centres will 
put more emphasis on the need for spaces 
where people can come together with a 
common purpose. 

Town centre living. Housing can help to create 
a more lived in town centre. The value of town 
centre living as part of mixed-use town centre 
development is also being recognised by retail 
investors and shopping centre owners who are 
taking a more diverse approach to their assets. 

Workspace. Shared office space can support 
the development of small and medium 
enterprises that contribute to the wider 
economy but also bring into town centres a 
daytime population of workers who use local 
shops, cafés and restaurants. The impact of 
the COVID-19 pandemic may mean that more 
people chose to work closer to home rather 
than travel to a large central office. 

Health and wellbeing. The COVID-19 
pandemic has had an unprecedented impact 
on how the public realm is used. People are 
increasingly valuing public space for social 
interaction and exercise.

Structure of this Report

INTRODUCTION

Introduces Liscard and 
the local and wider 

picture with regard to the 
need for a masterplan

CONNECTED TOWN

Sets out the proposals 
for enhancing movement 
and connectivity within 

Liscard town centre 

URBAN VILLAGE

Describes proposals for 
new housing outside the 

core retail area

LISCARD TODAY

Describes the character 
of Liscard in more detail 

SPACES FOR PEOPLE

Describes the proposals 
for the public realm

COMMUNITY HUB

Sets out the proposal 
for increased community 
provision within the town 

centre

A VISION FOR LISCARD

Presents a new 
ambitious vision for the 
future of Liscard town 
centre to take it from a 
‘Clone Town to a Home 

Town’

RENEWING THE CORE

Focuses on the 
redevelopment and 

restructuring of the core 
retail area

DELIVERY

Describes how the 
masterplan can 
move forward to 
implementation

1

4

7

2

5

8

3

6

9

P
age 71



2
 LISCARD TODAY

P
age 72



12 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
13LISCARD MASTERPLAN

The town centre as experienced today is the 
product of centuries of human activity. Liscard 
is an early medieval settlement but became 
more established as a town centre in the 
nineteenth century. 

The early development of the town followed 
a linear pattern and centred at the junction of 
Liscard Road, Seaview Road, Wallasey Road 
and Manor Road. ‘The Old School’ (188 Liscard 
Road) was erected in 1839 and is now Liscard 
Business Centre. In 1852 a plot of land was 
purchased in Mill Lane and the foundation 
stone of their first church in the District, St 
Alban’s, was laid in July 1852. The church is 
now Grade II listed as is the water tower on Mill 
Lane, which was developed in 1860. 

To the south-east of the town centre Central 
Park was established adjacent to Liscard 
Hall, providing a high-quality central green 
open space for the growing population of 
the surrounding area. At the turn of the 20th 
Century, Liscard began to further establish itself 
as a key centre in the wider area of Wallasey. In 
1911, at 53 Seaview Road, the Liscard Electric 
Palace cinema opened (now Shoemarket). 
Another ‘picture theatre’ opened on the corner 
of Seaview Road and Liscard Village in 1926 
(Capitol Buildings, now partly demolished). This 
prominent building stands in an anchor location 
at the junction of three major routes through 
Liscard Village Centre and forms an important 
focal point for the town. 

By the late 1960s the central area of Liscard 
(bounded by Liscard Road, St. Alban’s Road, 
Wallasey Road and Mill Lane), was redeveloped 
to create a new shopping precinct with anchor 
tenants including Marks & Spencer, Tesco 
and Woolworths, as well as the Dominick 
House office block and Liscard House 
residential tower. The central area of the town 
was pedestrianised becoming Liscard Way, 
following the creation of a gyratory of roads 
incorporating St. Alban’s Road, Wallasey 
Road, Mill Lane and the newly created 
Liscard Crescent. The shopping centre was 
covered over and reopened as the Cherry Tree 
Shopping Centre in 1991.

Photographs:
1. Liscard Electric Palace Cinema (Shoemarket)
2. Capitol Buildings
3. St. Alban’s Church Hall
4. ‘The Old School’ - Liscard Business Centre
5. The White Lounge - The Beer Keg
6. St. Alban’s Church
7. The Boot Public House
8. Liscard Water Tower

Heritage Buildings Location Plan

Historic Character

1

1

2

2 5

5

7

3

8

3

6

6

8

7

4

4

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 73



14 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
15LISCARD MASTERPLAN

Built Character
Seaview Road 
• Arterial route and northern 

gateway to the town centre.
• Terraces of mainly Victorian 

era commercial buildings (with 
residential above).

• Commercial function of this 
street is waning (vacant units).

• ASDA store defines the edge of 
the town centre boundary but 
has a weak relationship with the 
town centre. 

• Peripheral nature of Asda is 
reinforced by commercial 
roadside uses on the western 
frontage of Seaview Road.

• Non-designated heritage asset 
is at No. 53 Seaview Road, 
formerly Liscard Electric Palace.

• Nodal point where Liscard Way, 
Wallasey Road and Seaview 
Road meet is defined by the 
Wellington Hotel and Capitol 
Buildings, creating a potentially 
attractive nodal point. 

• Seaview Road Car Park is 
enclosed to the east by the 
now vacant Municipal Building 
(formerly occupied by the 
Borough Council) and the vacant 
Liscard Community Centre. 

• The Municipal Building is of 
some architectural interest, 
especially on Egerton Street.

• Together the car park, Municipal 
Building and community centre 
have been identified as a 
development opportunity.

Wallasey Road
• Almost continuous commercial 

frontage, providing the western 
gateway to the town centre.

• Commercially more successful 
along its length.

• Architecturally the area feels 
better maintained and more 
interesting, but some properties 
are in a poorer condition or have 
been insensitively altered.

Central Area
• Liscard Way and adjacent 

Cherry Tree Centre form the 
central shopping area of Liscard.

• Cherry Tree Centre dominates 

Wallasey Road

Seaview Road

Built Character Plan

the southern side, whilst the 
northern side is more visually 
interesting due to a greater mix 
of (often traditional) properties.

• Some loss of historic shop 
fronts and features.

• Vacancy rates are generally low. 
• Cherry Tree Shopping Centre 

externally presents a largely 
unattractive and dated 
appearance.

• The centre is set back from 
St. Alban’s Road and Mill 
Lane, with a mix of surface car 
parking, servicing areas and 
blank façades, which jars with 
surrounding heritage buildings.

• Liscard House tower block (13 
storeys) is a prominent landmark 
but is not particularly attractive 
and it relates poorly at street 
level, being set back from Mill 
Lane in a car park.

• Dominick House is another tall 
building. It is now empty and in 
need of regeneration. 

Liscard Crescent
• Poorly defined route with the 

rear of properties presenting an 
unattractive frontage.

Mill Lane
• Wallasey Water Tower (Grade 

II Listed) forms a distinctive 
landmark.

• The spire of St. Alban’s Church 
positively contributes to the 
skyline in this area.

• Frontages on Mill Lane include 
residential terraces and 
commercial properties. 

Liscard Road
• Southern gateway to the town.
• Terraces of commercial 

buildings with residential above, 
rising in density to the centre of 
the town.

• Buildings in a fair state of repair, 
most have lost their historic 
shop fronts and other historic 
features.

• A number of empty units.
• Liscard Business Centre, a 

historic building and modern 
infill development, is a notable 
feature. 

Liscard Crescent

Liscard Road

Liscard Way

St. Alban’s Road

Mill L
ane

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 74



16 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
17LISCARD MASTERPLAN

Environmental Character
Seaview Road 
• Sufficient pavement width, 

but uneven with mixed paving 
provision and cracked surfaces 
on both sides.

• Car parking along both sides 
leads to pavement parking.

• Empty units and poor upkeep 
of buildings impair the visitor 
experience.

Wallasey Road
• Forms part of Liscard’s main 

commercial offer.
• Sufficient pavement widths for 

pedestrian movement.
• Overall quality of the public 

realm is in need of improvement.
• Lighting is inconsistent and 

the overuse of bollards and 
guardrails creates a vehicle-
dominated feel.

• Build-outs for bus stops are 
common along the northern 
side.

• Opportunities for including extra 
features, such as street furniture 
or planting, have been missed.

St Alban’s Road
• Car parking fronts this key route 

and provides little animation or 
interest.

• Multiple dropped kerbs for car 
park entrance / exit break up the 
footway and make the walking 
experience unpleasant.

• Pavement widths acceptable on 
the northern side, but narrow on 
the southern side.

• Lack of active frontages and 
wayfinding make St. Alban’s 
Road unappealing.

Liscard Way
• Fronted by retail uses on both 

sides.
• Good natural surveillance and a 

mix of active frontages. 
• Pedestrianised and last 

enhanced in the 1990s, now 
dated.

• Block paved areas are becoming 
undulating in parts, a number 
of street trees have been lost, 
and street furniture and lighting 

Wallasey Road

Seaview Road

Environmental Character Plan

Liscard Crescent

Liscard Road

Liscard Way

St. Alban’s Road
Mill L

ane

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

columns are looking weathered.
• Public realm configuration lacks 

a positive identity.
• Public realm is underutilised as a 

space to dwell and enjoy.

Liscard Crescent
• Service areas front key routes.
• Rear servicing area conflicts with 

residential amenity
• Significant number of visitors to 

Liscard access town centre here
• Limited controlled crossing 

points at the bus gyratory.
• Route needs to be realigned / 

reconfigured to make it more 
cohesive.

Mill Lane
• Good state of repair, with 

wide footways and cycle lane 
provision built in along the 
northern side

• Tree planting adds to the 
open and attractive feel of the 
pedestrian amenity in this area

• Pedestrian links to Liscard Road 
and Liscard Way are good and 
desire lines open.

Liscard Road
• Unattractive to pedestrians 

overall. 
• Small area of seating 

and planting is worn and 
unappealing.

• Car parking given priority, 
creating difficulties for those of 
impaired movement.

• Crossing roads is difficult and 
tactile paving is worn.

• Linkages to the central shopping 
centre and Central Park are poor.

P
age 75



18 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
19LISCARD MASTERPLAN

Access and Movement
Key Issues
• The gyratory experiences 

high levels of congestion with 
vehicle speeds often at 10kph 
(approximately 6mph) or lower. 
Congestion is at its worst during 
the Off-Peak and Weekend.

• Significant congestion along 
Wallasey Road, Liscard 
Crescent and at the Wallasey 
Road / Seaview Road / Liscard 
Crescent signals.

• Seaview Road car park is 
underused, offering little value to 
the area.

• The area is dependent on bus 
travel as the primary practical 
mode of public transport. 

• Rail travel is not a realistic 
option given there are no railway 
stations within walking distance 
of the town centre.

• Pedestrian links between the 
bus stops and areas they serve 
are mixed, with poor links to the 
retail core from stops along St 
Alban’s Road and Mill Lane.

• Taxi provision at Wallasey 
Road and Liscard Crescent is 
bounded by guard railing, which 
restricts pedestrian access. 

• There is a distinct lack of cycle 
infrastructure.

• Central and southern areas 
are restricted by the one-way 
system that encircles it. Mill 
Lane and St Alban’s Road 
have poor permeability, with 
no crossing provision along the 
desire lines to the retail uses.

• Liscard Crescent and Wallasey 
Road have poor pedestrian 
infrastructure, creating 
unattractive environments that 
are difficult to negotiate. There 
are conflicts with servicing along 
Liscard Crescent, and there is 
inadequate footway provision 
along parts of Wallasey Road.

• Levels of Nitrogen Dioxide 
above the average annual 
mean concentration have been 
recorded on Wallasey Road 
for the last 6 years and it has 
been identified as a localised air 
pollution hotspot, largely due to 
taxi engine idling. 

Access & Movement Plan

Key Opportunities
• Build on existing relatively high 

uptake in walking and relatively 
low uptake in trips by private 
car, locally.

• Encourage modal shift towards 
more sustainable modes 
including walking, bus and 
cycle.

• Enhance the street scene along 
Wallasey Road and Liscard 
Village, following re-provision of 
servicing.

• Consolidate parking and use 
the land for other purposes, 
e.g. mixed use commercial and 
residential.

• Upgrade bus stops to include 
Real Time Information (RTI).

• Gyratory layout could be 
revised to better serve Liscard 
town centre from a walking, 
bus access and taxi access 
perspective, in line with the 
emerging LCWIP proposals.

• Enhance cycle access, focusing 
on providing greater priority to 
cycle movements across the 
one-way loop and delivering 
more (and convenient) cycle 
parking.

• Progress the design of Liscard 
Way.

• A more efficient traffic and taxi 
solution throughout the retail 
core of Liscard town centre can 
assist with reducing harmful 
emissions in the area.

Liscard Road

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 76



20 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
21LISCARD MASTERPLAN

A Public Perception Study was undertaken by 
PLACED in October 2019, which highlighted 
the following issues: 

• Anti-social behaviour: There was a feeling 
that Liscard is safe of a day, but of an 
evening it becomes a place people do 
not want to visit. Young people, and in 
particular those on bikes, are considered 
to be a key factor in this. Intervention and 
preventative activity, as well as a greater 
police presence, were considered critical. 

• Shops: Most people were disappointed by 
the current retail offer, feeling that it had 
significantly declined over the years and 
had little diversity. There is an eagerness for 
some creative thinking, reduced rates and 
rents, and a quicker turnaround of empty 
units. 

• Sense of the town being overlooked: People 
frequently referred to other areas, feeling 
Liscard is ignored or just ‘not as good’ as its 
neighbouring towns and cities. 

• Limited offer: There is a desire to increase 
the non-retail offer in the town through 
events, workshops, activities, festivals and 
clubs. This includes interventions that will 
create activity of an evening, which will in 
turn help to reduce anti-social behaviour 
and intimidation. Establishing a community 
centre / hub in one of the empty units was 
an idea that was raised during discussion. 

• Parking: Provision of free parking was felt to 
be important to revitalise Liscard.

As part of the development of the masterplan 
a Webinar was held with business and 
community stakeholders to explore ideas. The 
key findings were:

• Local people / sense of community spirit is 
the town’s greatest strength.

• The town’s appearance is its greatest 
weakness.

• A community focal point, followed by 
unique businesses and public spaces would 
make Liscard a more distinctive destination.

• There was very strong preference for a 
community hub and bringing new uses into 
the town centre.

Local Perceptions

P
age 77



22 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
23LISCARD MASTERPLAN

S
Strengths

W
Weaknesses

• Main retail and service centre for 
Walllasey 

• Long-standing shopping centre 
• 98.2% retention rate in convenience 

retail sector 
• Distinctive independent retailers
• Centre for banking 
• Emerging evening economy on 

Wallasey Road
• Good bus links to surrounding areas 

and towns 
• Engaged and active business and 

residential communities

• Loss of many key retailers and a retail 
offer now focused on ‘value’ end of the 
market 

• Limited leisure offer and inactivity 
during the evening 

• Public realm looks tired
• Dated appearance of Cherry Tree 

Centre 
• Lack of greenery and character in 

public spaces 
• Empty units, particularly on Seaview 

Road and Liscard Road
• Poor building upkeep and shop signage

O
Opportunities

T
Threats

• Diversification through changes of use
• Develop underused sites and densify 

the town centre to create more activity
• Create more focal points and dwell 

spaces
• Improve pedestrian connectivity to 

adjacent communities
• Expansion of cycle network through the 

town centre (LCWIP) 
• Housing need identified in local plan
• Promoting sustainable development
• Making more of the town’s heritage and 

distinctiveness

• The nature of High Streets is intrinsically 
changing with advances in technology 
and consumer behaviour 

• Business closures due to the impact of 
COVID-19

• Negative impacts of retail servicing on 
residential amenity 

• Impact of crime and ASB on the 
desirability of the town centre

• Air pollution hotspot on Wallasey Road 
• Lack of railway connectivity

P
age 78



3
A VISION FOR 

LISCARD

P
age 79



26 LISCARD MASTERPLAN

Towards a Vision
In 2004 the New Economics Foundation 
produced its report “Clone Town Britain: The 
Loss of Local Identity on the Nation’s High 
Streets.” The report identified the ‘assault 
on the character of town centres’ and their 
growing homogenisation through the loss of 
‘real’ local shops and distinctive shop fronts to 
make way for near-identical chain stores. In the 
intervening period, however, people’s shopping 
habits have changed considerably and many 
once well-known chains common to towns like 
Liscard have either rationalised their portfolio 
away from second and third tier towns (Marks & 
Spencer) or disappeared entirely (Woolworths). 

Potential lasting changes following the 
COVID-19 pandemic are only more likely to 
accelerate this process, leading to more store 
closures and an oversupply of floorspace, 
but whilst the well documented ‘death of 
the high street’ is potentially a threat to the 
social and economic vitality of Liscard, it also 
provides a fundamental opportunity to re-
imagine a new type of town centre that is more 
locally distinctive, more interesting and more 
community focused; less of a ‘clone’ and ‘more 
Liscard.’ 

A town that is:

• More diverse – retaining a good range of 
retail in the town centre, but balancing this 
with a much wider range of uses including 
leisure, residential and workspace. 

• More people focused – reducing the 
impact of traffic and making the town 
centre easier to navigate from surrounding 
communities by foot, cycle and public 
transport. 

• More social – creating spaces (both internal 
and external) that bring people together and 
enliven the town centre both by day and 
into the evening. 

• More attractive – enhancing the 
appearance of the town and the quality of 
spaces including more green infrastructure 
and colour.

These aspirations provide the foundations for 
the Vision for Liscard.

P
age 80



28 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
29LISCARD MASTERPLAN

Liscard town centre is loved by local 
people because it is:

• Where everyone feels welcome
• Where people can live, work and play
• Where there is a strong sense of local 

identity
• Where people can come together

Liscard is the HEART of the community

Our Vision
Five masterplan themes support the vision 
and provide the framework for 19 masterplan 
projects. The themes are: 

• Connected Town - creating a more 
accessible Town Centre. 

• Spaces for People - forming a Town Centre 
that is more people focused. 

• Renewing the Core - establishing a more 
diverse Town Centre. 

• Urban Village - making the Town Centre 
more ‘lived in’. 

• Community Hub - providing local people 
with a focal point in the Town Centre.

CONNECTED

TOWN

SPACES FOR

PEOPLE
MASTERPLAN

THEMES

RENEWING

THE CORE

URBAN

VILLAGE

COMMUNITY

HUB

Masterplan Themes

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 81



The Masterplan

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 82



4
 CONNECTED TOWN

PROJECTS FOR A BETTER CONNECTED 
TOWN CENTRE

P
age 83



34 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
35LISCARD MASTERPLAN

What is the project?
This project involves the re-organisation of 
roads that form the gyratory around the town 
centre – Liscard Crescent, Mill Lane, St. 
Alban’s Road and Wallasey Road. The works 
would involve reducing the amount of space 
given over to vehicles to create more space 
for pedestrians, cyclists and public realm. 
Existing road capacity would be retained at the 
junctions with the main traffic lanes reduced 
from two lanes to one. The proposal also 
includes the redesign of the bus layover area to 
create a more efficient layout in response to the 
overall aim of maximising pedestrian space.

Why is this project proposed?
We want to create a more walkable and cycle 
friendly town centre that is better connected to 
adjoining communities. The current road layout 
creates a poor environment for pedestrians and 
cyclists and severs the town centre core from 
the rest of Liscard. By reducing road space we 
can widen pavements and form segregated 
cycle lanes that will help to create safer and 
calmer streets. This reclaimed space will also 
increase the capacity for green infrastructure 
and public realm, thus making the town centre 
a more attractive and convivial place.
 
What will the project deliver?
The narrowing of roadway provides additional 
space that can be utilised in response to 
particular issues and opportunities:

Liscard Crescent: the narrowing of the 
carriageway provides the space to incorporate 
the proposed LCWIP, a high-quality cycleway 
that will connect New Brighton and Birkenhead 
and is proposed to pass through Liscard town 
centre. By accommodating this link on Liscard 
Crescent the route can avoid Liscard Way, 
reducing current conflicts between cyclists and 
shoppers, so that Liscard Way can be a safer 
and more comfortable space for pedestrians. 
The reduction in carriageway space also 
provides the ability to set aside more pavement 
space on the southern side of the road where 
currently there is no clearly defined space 
for pedestrians. Finally, by relocating the bus 
layover area into a more efficient format more 
space can be created around the Mother 
Redcap statue to expand this space into a civic 
square.

Mill Lane: widened pavements can be formed 
to the northern side of the road with on-street 
car parking and bus provision retained on 
the southern side. The additional space can 
provide better separation of the current walking 
and cycle route and the ability to incorporate a 
two-way cycle route should cycle provision be 
further extended beyond the LCWIP.

St. Alban’s Road: the space gained from the 
carriageway can provide additional on-street 
car parking (potentially also EV charging 
points), as well as wider pavements and 
provision for landscaping and street tree 
planting, which can screen servicing areas. 

Wallasey Road: the northern and southern 
pavements can be widened in certain areas 
to create more spill-out space for adjacent 
properties. The north side of the road benefits 
from a southerly aspect, which should make it 
attractive for outdoor seating.

The proposals clearly reduce vehicular 
capacity, but this is part of a transition 
towards promoting sustainable transport over 
the private car in response to the Climate 
Emergency and the health and wellbeing of 
local residents. Reduced vehicular capacity 
is likely to encourage through traffic to take 
different routes, so there will need to be wider 
mitigation measures imposed on surrounding 
local roads to prevent rat running. Highway 
designs are illustrative and would be subject to 
further detailed design work.

CT01 - The Gyratory

P

P

P

P

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

N

The Gyratory

Liscard Crescent before and after

Summary

• Liscard Crescent, Mill Lane and St. 
Alban’s Road reduced to a single 
carriageway.

• Dual carriageway arrangement 
retained at junctions.

• Upgraded crossings for both 
pedestrians and cyclists.

• Off road cycle route and widened 
pavements provided on Liscard 
Crescent.

• Pavements widened on Wallasey 
Road, Mill Lane and St. Alban’s 
Road.

• New off-street car parking provided 
on St. Alban’s Road.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 84



36 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
37LISCARD MASTERPLAN

CT02 - LCWIP Cycle Route
What is the project?
The Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
(LCRCA) is progressing a Local Cycling and 
Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) that 
is developing a cohesive network of high 
standard active travel routes across the 
region. Liscard is identified for improvement 
under Phase 2 of the scheme, as part of a 
link between New Brighton and Birkenhead. 
Under this phase of the LCWIP, a two-way 
cycle corridor is proposed that extends along 
Seaview Road in the north to Liscard Road in 
the south.

Why is this project proposed?
We want people to be able to walk and cycle 
for short journeys, but for this people need 
suitable routes, which requires improving the 
design of roads so that people can walk and 
cycle from where they live to where they want 
to go. This is not just about people who already 
walk and cycle, but those people who would 
and could do so with more suitable roads, 
footways and cycleways. Walking and cycling 
has many benefits, from improved mental and 
physical health to improved air quality and 
reduced congestion.

What will the project deliver?
The LCRCA are currently developing the wider 
LCWIP route. The project aims to deliver a 
high-quality segregated cycleway between 
New Brighton and Birkenhead subject to road 
widths and other constraints.  The masterplan 
shows the route running along Seaview Road 
on the western side of the carriageway. The 
route then crosses Seaview Road and Liscard 
Village to run along Liscard Crescent before 
joining Liscard Road with the Liscard Crescent 
section being designed as part of the overall 
redesign of the gyratory requiring the closure 
of access to the Liscard Village car park from 
Liscard Crescent and the relocation of the 
entrance to the Liscard Crescent car park. The 
LCWIP proposals are provisional and subject to 
further design development and consultation. 
Any proposals that are brought forward for 
Liscard Crescent will need to reflect the final 
agreed route. 

LCWIP alignment in Liscard Town Centre

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Town Centre Boundary

Proposed Strategic 
Walking & Cycling 
Route

Summary

• New dual carriageway off-road 
cycleway through Liscard Town 
Centre.

• Cycleway forms part of a wider 
route connecting New Brighton to 
Birkenhead.

Segregated cycle lane precedents

P
age 85



38 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
39LISCARD MASTERPLAN

What is the project?
The town centre currently has car parking 
provision in the following locations:

• Cherry Tree Centre Car Park – 254 spaces + 
8 disabled spaces 

• Seaview Road Car Park – 184 spaces + 7 
disabled

• Liscard Village Car Park – 76 spaces + 2 
disabled

• Liscard Crescent Car Park – 15 spaces + 5 
disabled

The overall amount of car parking should seek 
to meet the needs of those living, working and 
visiting in the town centre while supporting 
a move towards walking, cycling and public 
transport usage. It is proposed that  the 
Seaview Road car park will be developed 
as part of a high-quality housing scheme 
and that the amount of car parking would be 
retained at the Cherry Tree Centre, however, 
this would be re-provided as a multi-storey car 
park to release land for redevelopment. It is 
also proposed to provide Electric Vehicle (EV) 
charging points and to upgrade cycle parking 
provision in the town centre. 

Why is this project proposed?
Whilst we want more people to visit the town 
centre by foot, cycle and bus, it is accepted 
that people will still choose to come to Liscard 
by car. It is essential that the town centre 
has the right type and amount of car parking 
including electric vehicle charging as society 
transitions to electric vehicles. There is also 
a need to provide high-quality cycle parking 
to encourage cycling more generally. The 
Seaview Road Car Park has low patronage, 
which is considered to be due to its proximity 
in relation to the Town Centre and associated 
inconvenience. The Cherry Tree Centre Car 
Park is more centrally located and, by re-
providing a multi-storey car park, there is scope 
to retain or even increase the amount of car 
parking as appropriate to the scale of the final 
redevelopment. Future parking provision at the 
Liscard Village and Liscard Crescent car parks 
will be considered as part of a future review of 
Council car parks and should take into account 
the potential for new housing development in 
the town centre to increase footfall and reduce 
the need for trips by car.

What will the project deliver?
The amount of car parking at the Cherry 
Tree Centre will be retained or increased as 
part of the redevelopment of the centre. The 
masterplan shows a three storey car park (two 
storeys plus rooftop car parking), which would 
provide a similar amount of parking at c.250 
spaces. A small amount of additional on-street 
car parking can be accommodated as part of 
the redesign of St Alban’s Road. All car parks 
will need to provide an increasing amount of EV 
charging points as uptake of electric vehicles 
increases. It is also proposed that the Cherry 
Tree Centre accommodates a cycle hub. This 
would predominately provide secure, covered 
cycle parking with the scope for additional 
facilities such as lockers and potentially shower 
/ changing facilities.

CT03 - Parking
Existing Car Parking Location Plan

N

A. Cherry Tree Centre Car Park
C. Seaview Road Car Park

B. Liscard Village Car Park
D. Liscard Crescent Car Park

A

A

B

B

C

C

D

D

Summary

• New multi-storey car park (c.250 
spaces) to replace Cherry Tree 
surface car park.

• Seaview Road car park to be 
developed.

• Provision of EV charging points.
• Town Centre Cycle Hub.

P
age 86



5
SPACES FOR PEOPLE

PROJECTS FOR A MORE PEOPLE-
FOCUSED TOWN CENTRE

P
age 87



42 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
43LISCARD MASTERPLAN

SP01 - Liscard Way
What is the project?
Liscard Way is the main public space within 
the town centre core. The proposals are to 
comprehensively redesign the public realm with 
new paving, lighting, street furniture and green 
infrastructure. 
 
Why is this project proposed? 
Liscard Way was last updated in the early 
1990s and today it is looking very tired, which 
creates a poor impression for the town. Block 
paved areas are becoming undulating in parts, 
a number of street trees have been lost, and 
street furniture and lighting columns are looking 
weathered. The configuration of the public 
realm including the location of street furniture 
and signage lacks a positive identity and 
consequently the public realm is underutilised 
as a space to dwell and enjoy. By completely 
redesigning Liscard Way, including design 
features to deter cyclists, the aim is to make it 
feel less like a thoroughfare and more like an 
attractive and convivial space that encourages 
people to shop and visit the town.

What will the project deliver?
Liscard Way will be retained as a 
pedestrianised space with cyclists encouraged 
to the use the LCWIP cycle route so there is 
more space for pedestrians and opportunities 
to dwell. The proposals include:

• Green infrastructure – planting of new 
appropriate tree species and retention 
of healthy mature trees, along with 
complementary shrub planting to soften the 
public realm, provide shelter, colour and 
visual interest.

• Street furniture – including comfortable 
seating to encourage people to stop and 
enjoy their environment, increasing the 
potential for a varied commercial offer (e.g. 
new food and drink uses).

• Paving – the full upgrade of street surfaces 
to create an accessible space for all and a 
high-quality appearance.

• Lighting – a mix of general lighting to create 
a safe evening environment and accent 
lighting to provide visual interest.

Summary

• c.3,300m2 of upgraded public realm.
• New street lighting.
• New street furniture including 

seating.
• A mix of retained and new planting.

Liscard Way

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

N

Liscard Way

Liscard Crescent

Liscard Way Visualisation

P
age 88



44 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
45LISCARD MASTERPLAN

SP02 - Mother Redcap Place
What is the project? 
There is an existing area of public realm 
between Liscard Way and the bus stops on 
Liscard Crescent with the Mother Redcap 
statue at its centre. The proposals are to 
rationalise the bus stops to expand this space 
into a civic square. 

Why is this project proposed?
There are currently few public spaces in the 
town centre. Whilst this area is currently a 
square of sorts it could be so much better. It 
forms a key gateway to the town by bus and 
could also provide an enhanced east – west 
route through the town centre as part of the 
proposals for the Cherry Tree Centre. The 
Mother Redcap statue is currently the sole 
piece of public art in the town and there is 
potential to create more of a focal point for the 
town centre and enhance opportunities for civic 
pride.

What will the project deliver?
The aim is to expand the public realm and 
create a high-quality civic square. The 
proposals include:

• Mother Redcap – retention (potential 
relocation) of the statue within an enhanced 
setting. 

• History / storytelling through the public 
realm – new paving and street furniture 
with unique designs that relate to Liscard’s 
history. 

• Seating - removal of existing benches 
and replacement with better quality street 
furniture and a more varied offer of seating 
options. 

• Green infrastructure - planting of new 
appropriate tree species and retention 
of healthy mature trees, along with 
complementary shrub planting to soften the 
public realm, provide shelter, colour and 
visual interest.

• Lighting – a mix of general lighting to create 
a safe evening environment and accent 
lighting to provide visual interest.

Mother Redcap Place Plan

Precedent Images

Mother Redcap
Place

N

Liscard Crescent

Summary

• c.500m2 of upgraded public realm.
• New seating and street furniture.
• A mix of retained and new planting.
• New street and accent lighting.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 89



46 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
47LISCARD MASTERPLAN

SP03 - Gateways
What is the project? 
The main approaches to Liscard Town Centre 
form two gateway areas. From the north the 
junction of Seaview Road, Wallasey Road, 
Liscard Village and Liscard Way is a focal point 
and from the south the junction of Liscard 
Road, Mill Lane and Liscard Way forms another 
gateway. It is proposed to enhance the arrival 
experience into the town centre with new 
public realm features in these locations.

Why is this project proposed? 
As with many areas of the town centre, the 
public realm is dated and tired. Visually 
prominent from Seaview Road to the north 
and Liscard Road to the south, these two 
spaces act as important markers for the town 
centre. The proposals will provide a better 
environment for visitors to the town centre 
and are also an opportunity to ‘advertise’ the 
town centre to passing traffic. By creating new 
high-quality and distinctive features the aim is 
to form a new positive impression of Liscard 
and encourage more people to visit the town 
centre.

What will the project deliver?
The gateway proposals will be designed within 
the overall theme and palette of Liscard Way 
with each having a unique feature to create 
distinctiveness and diversity. The main spaces 
will focus on Liscard Way with new paving, 
street furniture and green infrastructure, 
but designs should bleed out into the wider 
junction to maximise impact. 

Northern gateway (junction of Seaview 
Road, Wallasey Road, Liscard Village and 
Liscard Way) – the proposal should include 
the retention of appropriate tree species, 
potentially with a water feature which would 
serve to drown out traffic noise and create a 
calmer environment.

Southern gateway (junction of Liscard Road, 
Mill Lane and Liscard Way) – the proposal 
includes the replacement of the existing 
gateway signage, potentially with a new 
sculptural / lighting feature.

Gateways Plan

Precedent Images

N

Mother Redcap
Place

Liscard Way

Liscard Crescent

Summary

• New and distinctive feature spaces 
at either end of Liscard Way.

• Potential to incorporate water, 
sculpture, lighting and signage.

• New street furniture and green 
infrastructure.

• New accent lighting.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 90



48 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
49LISCARD MASTERPLAN

SP04 - Wallasey Road
What is the project? 
Wallasey Road is one of the main arterial routes 
into the town centre and is becoming a focus 
for food and drink outlets and the evening 
economy. As part of the widening of pavement 
areas through the works to the gyratory, the 
proposal is to create an enhanced setting for 
outdoor café culture.

Why is this project proposed? 
The overall quality of the public realm is in 
need of improvement. Surfacing materials 
vary in terms of quality and condition, lighting 
is inconsistent and the overuse of bollards 
and guardrails creates an environment that 
feels unappealing and vehicle-dominated. The 
widening of pavements and new public realm 
will create a more comfortable environment for 
pedestrians and enhanced impression of the 
town centre within this key location. 

What will the project deliver?
The proposal includes the complete upgrade of 
the public realm between St Alban’s Road and 
Seaview Road to include:

• Widened pavements – to provide 
pedestrians with more circulation space and 
to encourage spill-out cafe seating. 

• Paving – the full upgrade of street surfaces 
to create an accessible space for all and a 
high-quality appearance. 

• Lighting – a mix of general lighting to create 
a safe evening environment and accent 
lighting to provide visual interest.

• Green infrastructure – planting of new 
appropriate tree species, along with 
complementary shrub planting to soften the 
public realm, provide shelter, colour and 
visual interest.

There is also further scope to extend these 
improvements to the rest of Wallasey Road, 
through new paving, street furniture and green 
infrastructure.

Wallasey Road Plan

Precedent Images

N

Wallasey Road

Summary

• Widened pavements with upgraded 
paving.

• Enhanced lighting.
• New street furniture.
• New planting.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 91



50 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
51LISCARD MASTERPLAN

SP05 - Tower Place
What is the project? 
Tower Place is a new street and open 
space that would be formed as part of the 
redevelopment of the Cherry Tree Centre. The 
space is shaped by extending the existing 
Greenfield Way mall to St. Alban’s Road and 
creating an enlarged public square outside 
Cherry Square. 

Why is this project proposed?
Liscard currently has few public spaces, with 
the main thoroughfare of Liscard Way being 
the only focal point in the town centre. By 
extending Greenfield Way and opening it out 
to form a square there is scope to create a 
new multi-use space that would provide a 
stage for different activities that will enhance 
the vibrancy of the town centre including 
events, outdoor markets and food and drink 
spill out areas. This location also provides the 
opportunity to enhance connections to Cherry 
Square, which is a key asset in the form of a 
significant covered space, but is largely hidden 
from the rest of the town centre. The street 
will form a continuous east – west connection 
across the town centre between St Alban’s 
Road and Liscard Crescent, which will improve 
pedestrian access to town centre from adjacent 
communities. 

What will the project deliver?
Tower Place will form a direct connection 
between Liscard Way and St. Alban’s Road, 
opening up views of Liscard’s historic water 
tower, which will form an interesting setting 
and enhanced sense of place. Tower Place will 
include:

• High-quality paving, street furniture, street 
and accent lighting and green infrastructure. 

• A flexible open space that can be used 
for events and market traders with the 
necessary utilities infrastructure. 

Tower Place Location

Tower Place Visualisation

Tower
Place

Liscard Way

Wa
lla

se
y R

oa
d

N

Summary

• New town centre street and square 
(c.1,000m2).

• High-quality paving, street furniture, 
street and accent lighting and green 
infrastructure.

• A flexible open space that can be 
used for events.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 92



52 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
53LISCARD MASTERPLAN

SP06 - Lighting Strategy
What is the project? 
As part of the upgrade of the public realm 
and the enhancement of the town more 
generally, there is a particular opportunity 
to light up the town. This includes improved 
street lighting, but also accent lighting and 
other lighting effects. A lighting strategy 
would be commissioned to identify the issues 
and opportunities for lighting, exploring the 
potential for seasonal and festive lighting and 
the scope for a lighting festival in the town 
centre.

Why is this project proposed?
People have commented that they feel that the 
town centre is not a welcoming place to visit 
at night - sensitively deployed street lighting 
can lead to reductions in crime and fear of 
crime, and increase pedestrian street use after 
dark. Creative lighting can also create a more 
distinctive and special environment that further 
encourages the development of the evening 
economy.

What will the project deliver?
The lighting strategy will develop a series of 
design principles relating to lighting and will 
include the design of specific lighting schemes 
across the town centre. The strategy will 
identify ways for people to take more notice of 
the heritage and features of the town centre, 
create opportunities for play and interaction, 
enhance feelings of safety and improve 
wayfinding. Particular opportunities include:

• Liscard Way / Tower Place / Mother Redcap 
Place.

• The northern and southern gateways.
• Feature buildings such as the Water Tower.
• Arterial routes into the town centre, e.g. 

Seaview Road.
Summary

• A Lighting Strategy to identify 
opportunities to enhance street and 
accent lighting.

• Strategy to inform public realm 
proposals.

• Strategy to include seasonal and 
festive lighting opportunities.

• Strategy to include opportunities 
to light buildings and emphasise 
distinctiveness.

N

Precedent Images

Lighting opportunities

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 93



54 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
55LISCARD MASTERPLAN

What is the project? 
Green infrastructure is the overall term to 
describe a network of natural elements such as 
trees, other forms of vegetation and planting, 
green space and water features such as rivers 
and canals. As part of the enhancement of 
the town centre there is scope to increase the 
amount of green infrastructure and to improve 
its quality through a green infrastructure 
strategy that would be used to inform any 
redesign of the public realm as well as other 
opportunities.

Why is this project proposed?
Green infrastructure can provide multiple 
benefits. It can support people’s mental and 
physical health, encourage active travel, 
cool urban areas during heat waves, create a 
more attractive place that attracts consumers 
and investment, reduce water run-off during 
flash flooding, provide carbon storage and 
sustainable drainage. The extent to which 
green infrastructure provides these benefits 
depends on how it is designed and maintained, 
meaning there is a need for an overall strategy.

What will the project deliver?
The green infrastructure strategy will develop 
the principles for increasing the amount and 
quality of green infrastructure in the town 
centre. It will identify a series of projects and 
proposals including:

• Planting proposals for new and existing 
spaces, e.g. Liscard Way, Tower Place.

• Identification of opportunities for street tree 
planting, e.g. St. Alban’s Road, Mill Lane.

• Improvements to green areas in the town, 
e.g. St. Alban’s Church grounds, Liscard 
Crescent.

• Opportunities for green walls, planters, 
hanging baskets etc.

Existing Condition

Precedent Images

Summary

• A Green Infrastructure Strategy to 
identify opportunities to enhance 
coverage in the town centre.

• Strategy to inform public realm 
proposals for key public spaces and 
arterial routes.

SP07 - Green Infrastructure

P
age 94



6
 RENEWING THE 

CORE

PROJECTS FOR A MORE DIVERSE TOWN 
CENTRE

P
age 95



58 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
59LISCARD MASTERPLAN

TC01 - Cherry Tree Centre
What is the project? 
The Cherry Tree Centre is the town’s main retail 
destination, comprising key anchor stores 
such as Primark and Wilko and other national 
and independent retailers. It is proposed to 
restructure part of the Cherry Tree Centre to 
bring in new uses and activities into the town 
centre.

Why is this project proposed? 
The Cherry Tree Shopping Centre occupies 
a prominent central position in the town. The 
centre was modernised in 1991 to form an 
indoor mall, but externally it presents a largely 
unattractive and dated appearance. The centre 
has commercial frontage to Liscard Way and 
Wallasey Road, but is set back from St. Alban’s 
Road and Mill Lane, presenting a mix of surface 
car parking, servicing areas and blank façades, 
forming a hole in the fabric of the town, which 
jars with surrounding buildings including the 
Grade II listed St. Alban’s Church and St. 
Alban’s Hall. There is scope to better use this 
land for new activity generating uses and to 
create an enhanced urban structure with better 
pedestrian permeability, along with the overall 
enhancement and modernisation of the Cherry 
Tree Centre.

What will the project deliver?
Two different options have been explored as 
part of the masterplan, but broadly the key 
opportunities are:

• Demolition of the units at the end of 
Greenfield Way to create a new street and 
public space (Tower Place) between Liscard 
Way and St. Alban’s Road.

• Development of a multi-storey car park 
to rationalise all car parking into one 
space, potentially including an element of 
residential car parking.

• Development of a new anchor food store 
and other retail units at ground level to 
animate and enclose Tower Place.

• A new entrance into Cherry Square from 
Tower Place.

• Upper floor residential (assume three floors).

Option 1 retains the existing servicing ramp 
from St Alban’s Road, which provides reduced 
scope for new development.

Option 2 assumes an alternative servicing 
arrangement with an at-grade servicing area 
from St Alban’s Road with goods trollied from 
there to retail units. This option provides the 
scope to demolish the ramp and create mixed 
use development either side of Tower Place. 

These are just options to demonstrate the 
potential of the site for comprehensive 
regeneration - alternative schemes that support 
the broad principles of the masterplan would 
be supported. 

1. Option 1 - Ground Floor
3. Option 2 - Ground Floor

2. Option 1 - Upper Floors
4. Option 2 - Upper Floors

1 2

3 4

Summary

• Part redevelopment of Cherry Tree 
Centre and surface car park.

• New anchor food store (c.1,600-
1,800m2).

• New ground floor commercial 
(2,000-2,500m2).

• New homes c.50-110 apartments 
(over three floors).

• New multi-storey car park (c.250 
spaces).

Food Store

Fo
od

 S
to

re

Servicing

Servicing

Cherry
Square

Cherry
Square

Car Park
(250 spaces)

Car Park
(250 spaces)

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 96



60 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
61LISCARD MASTERPLAN

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Cherry Square

Cherry Square

Reta
ine

d s
erv

ice
 ac

ces
s

Tower Place

Tow
er 

Plac
e

Multi-storey 
car park

Multi-storey 
car park

Cherry Tree Centre Option 1 

Cherry Tree Centre Option 2

N

N

Tower Place Visualisation

Precedent Images

P
age 97



62 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
63LISCARD MASTERPLAN

TC02 - Dominick House
What is the project? 
Dominick House is a currently empty office 
block adjacent to the Cherry Tree Centre on St 
Alban’s Road. It is proposed to either refurbish 
or redevelop the building to bring it back into 
use – most likely residential with other uses on 
the ground floor.

Why is this project proposed? 
The building has been empty for a number of 
years and there is a need to find a new use 
for the site. It is unlikely that there is a market 
for such a large amount of office space in 
a secondary location such as Liscard, so a 
mix of other uses should be considered. The 
building has permitted development rights for 
residential, but  it is recommended that the 
ground floor is maintained as non-residential 
where possible to create an active frontage 
at street.  Any proposals for residential on 
the ground floor would need to be sensitively 
/ appropriately designed given the adjacent 
service yard to the rear of the building.

What will the project deliver?
The regeneration of Dominick House will 
bring a key site back into use. The building 
could be retained and refurbished with a 
community / workspace use on the ground 
floor and residential above (potentially with the 
additional of an extra floor, subject to structural 
survey). There is also the scope to redevelop 
the building entirely to provide purpose built 
housing accommodation. The potential number 
of apartments could be in the region of 50 
homes. It is assumed that these dwellings 
would not have any allocated car parking.

Dominick House within the Masterplan

Precedent Schemes

Summary

• Refurbishment / redevelopment of 
Dominick House.

• Community / commercial uses to 
ground floor.

• Residential to upper floors c50 
homes.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 98



64 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
65LISCARD MASTERPLAN

TC03 - Central Development Site
What is the project? 
The Central Development Site comprises four 
retail units on Liscard Way. It is proposed to 
develop these units to create a new high-
quality development opportunity within the 
heart of the town centre.

Why is this project proposed? 
The site is a key location on the corner of 
Liscard Way and Mother Redcap Place. The 
buildings are largely unremarkable and there 
is scope to create a much higher quality 
development in this key location. The new 
building would provide better animation to 
Liscard Way and Mother Redcap Place, as 
well as bring in new community, commercial or 
residential uses that help to drive footfall within 
the town centre.

What will the project deliver?
The redevelopment would bring in a new 
high-quality single use (such as a community 
hub) or a mix of commercial and residential 
development to this prominent site. 
Redevelopment provides the opportunity 
to build taller and therefore deliver more 
accommodation to upper floors, which would 
generate more activity and overlooking within 
the heart of the town centre. Along with the 
upgrade of the public realm this development 
will contribute to enhancing the image and 
attractiveness of Liscard Way.

Central Development Site Plan

Mother Redcap
 Place

Liscard Crescent

N

Summary

• Redevelopment of existing 
commercial buildings on Liscard 
Way.

• Community / commercial uses to 
ground floor c500 sqm.

• Community / commercial / 
residential uses to upper floors 
(c1,000m2  / 14 apartments).

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Central Development Site Visualisation

P
age 99



66 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
67LISCARD MASTERPLAN

TC04 - Empty Building and 
Frontage Improvements
What is the project? 
Across the town centre there are a number of 
commercial buildings that are either empty or 
not looking their best. This proposal identifies 
a number of key buildings and frontages for 
improvement.

Why is this project proposed? 
There is a need to find new uses for vacant 
property. Boarded up – or worse still – 
vandalised shops have a negative impact on 
the look and feel of the town centre. There is 
also a need to invest in the overall quality of 
buildings and shop fronts along the arterial 
routes into the town centre, which due to poor 
maintenance and insensitive alterations, can 
give a poor impression of businesses and the 
overall quality of the town centre.

What will the project deliver?
Two significant buildings that positively 
contribute to the character of Liscard and 
should be brought to life with new uses are:

• Former HSBC bank, Liscard Way – this 
Victorian commercial building still retains 
many of its original features and occupies a 
prominent position at the southern gateway 
into the town. The reuse of this building 
should reinstate lost historic features (e.g. 
sash windows, shop front), retain an active 
frontage at ground level and fully utilise 
vacant upstairs accommodation.

• Former Manweb / Beer Keg, Wallasey 
Road – with Art Deco influences this is 
a particularly distinctive building. Any 
proposed reuse of this building should be 
sensitive to its character, whilst delivering 
both an active ground floor use and 
utilisation of upper floors.

In addition to these particular buildings there 
is scope to improve frontages on all the key 
arterial routes into Liscard, namely Seaview 
Road, Liscard Road, Mill Lane and Wallasey 
Road. Face-lifting improvements could include 
new high-quality shop fronts and signage, 
ideally utilising bold colours and graphics to 
create a vibrant and distinctive identity for the 
town centre as well as specific businesses.

Building and Frontage Upgrades Plan

Precedent Images

Summary

• Retention / refurbishment of former 
HSBC bank and former Manweb / 
Beer Keg buildings.

• Community / commercial uses to 
ground floors.

• Community / commercial / 
residential uses to upper floors c18 
apartments.

• Upgrade of building frontages / 
shop fronts on Seaview Road, 
Liscard Road, Mill Lane, Wallasey 
Road and Liscard Way.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 100



7
URBAN VILLAGE

PROJECTS FOR A MORE ‘LIVED IN’ 
TOWN CENTRE

P
age 101



70 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
71LISCARD MASTERPLAN

Municipal Building

Seaview Road

Lis
ca

rd 
Vil

lag
e

UV01 - Seaview Road Car Park
What is the project? 
It is proposed to develop the Seaview Road car 
park for housing development. This proposal 
also includes the vacant Municipal Buildings 
and community centre and could be extended 
to include the adjacent Tesco Metro block on 
Liscard Village.

Why is this project proposed? 
The Seaview Road car park has very low levels 
of use compared to other car parks in the town 
centre. It is considered that this is due to its 
relative isolation from the town centre core. 
This underused site along with the vacant 
Municipal Buildings and community centre is 
therefore a significant development opportunity. 
Housing within this location will help to 
increase the local population, generating more 
spend and activity in the town. Incorporating 
the Tesco Metro block can increase the amount 
of housing and enhance the link between the 
site and Liscard Village.

What will the project deliver?
The site can bring a significant amount of new 
housing into the town. Ideally the Municipal 
Buildings should be retained for conversion 
to residential, preserving this interesting 
heritage building, as well as providing 
distinctive housing accommodation. The type 
of housing accommodation would primarily be 
apartments aimed at smaller households, but 
there is also scope for larger apartments and 
mews / town housing. There would be some 
residential car parking, but at a reduced level to 
standard housing schemes. Any replacement 
development on Liscard Village should retain a 
ground floor commercial use.

Existing site condition Redeveloped site

Precedents

N

Summary

• Redevelopment of Seaview Road 
car park for residential.

• Refurbishment of Municipal 
Buildings for residential.

• Potential redevelopment of Tesco 
block at Liscard Village.

• Total homes c.100-130 apartments.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 102



72 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
73LISCARD MASTERPLAN

UV02 - Burns Avenue
What is the project?
This site is currently occupied by two 
automotive businesses. It is proposed to 
redevelop the site for new housing should 
these current uses cease operation in the 
future.

Why is this project proposed?
The Burns Avenue site is of a comparatively 
significant size and if it were to become 
available for redevelopment, housing is 
considered to be the best use of the site. The 
site presents an opportunity to provide much-
needed homes in a sustainable location, close 
to local amenities. Redevelopment of the site 
will also provide the scope to enhance the 
frontage to Seaview Road (a key gateway into 
Liscard) with new high quality development.

What will the project deliver?
It is likely that the redeveloped site would 
predominately accommodate apartments, 
but there may also be some scope for family 
housing.

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Existing site condition Potential development
Seaview Road

Burns Avenue

N

Summary

• Redevelopment of automotive uses.
• New homes c.70.

Precedents

P
age 103



74 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
75LISCARD MASTERPLAN

UV03 - Capitol Buildings
What is the project?
Capitol Buildings is a prominent town centre 
building with vacant land to the rear. In 2019 
an application to redevelop this land was 
refused on the basis of the poor amenity 
provided by the scheme. As part of the wider 
redevelopment of the Seaview Road car 
park there is scope to consider an alternative 
residential development proposal for this site 
that complements the wider regeneration of the 
Seaview Road / Municipal Buildings site.

Why is this project proposed?
The Seaview Road car park / Municipal 
Buildings site is identified as a key 
residential development site. As part of 
this development there is an opportunity to 
consider incorporating adjacent underused 
land to create one cohesive development that 
can overcome the issues raised with past 
development proposals. The incorporation 
of this currently vacant land will bring it into 
productive use and create more scope to 
increase the town centre population.

What will the project deliver?
It is likely that the redeveloped site would 
predominately accommodate apartments. 

Summary

• Development of vacant land to the rear of 
Capitol Buildings.

• Development to integrate with proposals for 
Seaview Road car park.

Existing site condition

Seaview Road

Lis
ca

rd 
Vil

lag
e

N

Tesco

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Precedents

P
age 104



76 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
77LISCARD MASTERPLAN

UV04 - Residential Conversion
What is the project?
Along the main arterial routes into Liscard 
(particularly on Seaview Road) it is 
acknowledged that long redundant commercial 
units may be proposed for conversion to a 
residential use. This project aims to ensure that 
this is handled sensitively in terms of the overall 
coherence of the town centre and the quality of 
residential accommodation created.

Why is this project proposed?
Seaview Road and Liscard Road currently 
have a fair number of vacant retail units, which 
has a negative impact on the look and feel of 
the town centre. It is considered that on this 
basis there is a need to reconsider the town 
centre boundary to retain a commercial focus 
within a tighter area that can sustain its vitality. 
By shrinking this area it is likely that vacant 
property outside of the town centre core may 
be proposed for conversion to residential uses 
but the quality of residential conversions needs 
to be of higher standard – often residential 
conversions can create a poor interface with 
the public realm and the amenity of occupiers 
is compromised.

What will the project deliver?
The refocused town centre boundary provides 
the opportunity to consider the conversion 
/ redevelopment of redundant commercial 
units on Liscard Road and Seaview Road. The 
successful restructuring of these areas will rely 
on creating some critical mass – the conversion 
of single units (particularly within the centre 
of a parade of shops) should be avoided. 
Redevelopment, as opposed to conversion, 
is preferred as this will provide higher quality 
purpose built residential development, as well 
as creating the opportunity to maximise the 
full depth of the site and the potential height 
of development (up to three storeys). It is 
likely that type of development will commonly 
provide apartments as opposed to family 
accommodation.

Design Principles for converting retail units to residential

1 2

3 4

Summary

• Contraction of town centre 
boundary on Seaview Road.

• Conversion / redevelopment of 
commercial properties outside of 
town centre boundary on Seaview 
Road and Liscard Road.

Refocused Town Centre Boundary

1. Existing units

3. Match new ground �oor openings to building proportions

2. Create defensible space from pavement edge

4. De�ne boundaries and add green infrastructure

5

5a

2
0

E
l S

ub
 S

ta

31.7m

1
a

7

1b

1

2

3

18 6

C R

1

11
7

2

17 6

32.2m

LB

Station

Ambulance

2 8

27

13

Works

1 6

18 8

18 8

Car Park

Car Pk

ESS

8

8

3
0

6

32.3m

Community

32

Shelters

Centre
Health

Manor O�ce

Wallasey

Delivery

Centre

Liscard

TCB

20

16

26

28

to

20a

25

24

2 2

Car Park

24 to 26

25

33

3 9

Hotel

R oyal Oak

27

( PH )

14

16
1 3

5

7

2

9

31.9m

31.7m

12

18

8

Capitol Buildings

4  to 6

12

LB

10

15
 t o

 1
7

11

3
2

E l S u b S ta

3
8

33

24

32.8m

17

1
9 2

1

Shelter

LB

2

23
 to

 2
7

3
1

33.9m

57

2

47

51

49

55

53

4
6

4

3

15

3

4

15

3 2

24

14

2

45

1

3

15

14 1

3
7

14

4

35

5

2 8

Works

30

38

2 4

1 2

1 6

9

El

Sub Sta

33

31

27

27

41

2 4

4 2

45

40

30

33.0m

Exchange

8

65

PW

MS

Telephone

3

15

11

P

Council O�ces

2

52

2

1 2

2

24

1

1
3

St Thomas

6 8
c

6 6

6 6
a

6 8

7 4

The Apostle
Church

60

H
a l l

Shelter

1a
1b

1

2

59

67

1 0

11

6

2

7

1

6
5

35.2m

8 6

7

3
1

7
1

 to
 7

3

(PO)

4

2

ESS

1

10

LB

34

42

29

33

25

5

Dukes

TCBs

(PH)

4

6

7

31.4m

Shelters

15

11

13

1 to 9

30.9m

8

9 to 12

C oronation B uildings
17

to
13

25

1

44

5 4

37

C oronation W ay

49

61

(PH)

The Clairville
14

40

Little Rainbows

93

Turnberrys
(PH)

(Childrens Nursery)

9 4

Brittanic
Buildings

9 2 to 9 0

29.3m

9 6

9 8

1c

1b

1

1

3

19

1a

4

2

GP

1 0 4

Shelters

9
8 a1

00

1
00

a

1 0 2

107

1 0 61 1 2

119

1

Shelter

S helter

2

121

123

29.6m

12 0

2

15

1

30.3m

21

2

Garage

2a

4

13 2

125

1

1
30

a

1
30

13 6

LB

13 8  to 1 4 2
14 4

13 4

137

139

30.4m

15
6

1 54

127

12

19

18

7

1

22

6

13

C R

1 2

2 0

29

2

2 2

House

23

32.5m

3
0

43

3 6

3 4

33

School

Oldershaw School

4 2

25

2 7

2 4

11

1 4

22

33

1 1

56

21

53

4 4

3 1

32.3m

46

El Sub Sta

21

16

18

1 5

3

12

27

2

1

4 3

34

32.1m

T rac k

Allotment Gardens

32.2m

62

50

47

31.5m

34

55

48

45

32

38

29

33

28

3
1

57

67

61

ATC

Centre

48

72

23

6

9

8

5

11

75

64

73

E
l S

ub S
ta

62

P

55

32
a

 to
 3

2e

14

10

30

20

11

1
8

18

14

15

15

2
0

2

1

4

3

1

2

6

8

3

5

35.4m

Police Station

52

54 to 60

FS

44

2
5

4

El Sub Sta

12

2
3

50

64
62

1

1  to  21

Old Courthouse

Memorial
34.4m

FS

35

19

14

2

28

20

24

5
3

Yard

Builders

5
1

2

27

5
2

6
0

1

8

2

19

15

49

47

Club

Ballroom

45

Church

1

20

21

4 5

4 3

10

2

1

Ps

7

12

2

13

30

26

1
3

4 1

1

3 1

1

1
1

11

24

35

38

4
5

4
3

4
1

4
3a

47

49

7

6

7a

9

30

34

11

11
a

38

36
a36

b

42

13

34
a

36

40

40
a

3 0

7

2

1

3 6

15

9

2

7

3

12

22

3

21 0

Shelter

P os t

39

32.8m

19 8

20 8

231

41

43

22 6

245 21 2

21 6

21 8

243

2

28

3

Surgery

19

17

Car Park

12 El

Sub

Sta

2

13

3

4

LB

10

8

Tower

6

2 to 4

The

255

5

1

(PH)

25

23

16

28

16

15

3

5

1

7

8

16

TCB

15

11

1 to
 1

18

Lis ca rd
 H

ouse

7

5

3

9

11

15

32.0m

S hop
(b

elo
w

)

6 to
 8

10

19

14

21

P C
s

El Sub Sta

17

Central Park

Court

Home

Nursing

1

6

60

(PH)

40

34

42

1  to  7

Nicola Gardens

38

33.8m

2

1

13

27

6

Galleries

19

16

22

TCPs

7

Statue

20

6

4

8

2

10

24

1

12

2

2

6

1

Car Park

25

12

to

23

47

57

13

1

3

25

33

35

R C  Church

S t Alba n's

4 0

3

2

3 0

34

1

32

38

69

P re
s byte

ry

4 2

2

C herry Square

Townfield W
ay

20

Sta

Sub

22

19

Car Park

El

S t Alban's  C atholic P rimary  S chool

Hall

8

9

10

1 1

2

8

2

2

51

Shelters

45

11

19

El Sub Sta

Dominick House

41

4

53

7

1

27

48

28

43

55

1 6

30

1

15

17
to

3

10

14

1  to
 5

Rullerton
Mews

6  to
 1 4

16

1 4

1

2
4

20

2 1

2

17

32

Shelters

3

46

29

E l S ub Sta

17

21

TCB

20

15

8

32

71

74

E l S u b S ta

48

34.5m

2 4

1 4

19

21

2

51

1

64

72

30

El
D ef

Sub Sta

2 4

W
a rd

 B
dy

2 8

31

39

32.7m

7

25

13

18

1

23

28

16

10

2

48

8 57

11

10

4

The

1 
to

 6

48

3

20

22

5

1
6

1

2
9

39

to

37

41

35

33

31

30.2m

P

2

8

16

1

4

1

21

1 4

19

15

9

32

31

33

36

24

40

4 5

4 1

LB

to

60

58

56

52

54

6

18

1 9

31

53

43

49

3

7

5

51

5

1 1

10

1 1

110

5

4

11

70

6 8

64

17 2

62

2

47

53

4

1

41

1 4

48

60

55

29.6m

5

3

12

5

6

86

G
a

r a
ge

88

2

74

15

2

1 6

1

13

29

2 8

28

34

27

39

26

27

1

22

55

6 6

8 2

1
1

5

1
3

71

28.9m

2
3

1 6

3
3

3 6

38

29.7m

Church

75

2
6

1
6

2
5

86

8 4

14

1
3

El Sub Sta

3

39

1

1a

35

89

41

4 8

2

2

1
3

1

1
8

2
5

10 6

96

1
0

8

4
7

2

s

1  to 6

17

23

3 0

35

Play Area

52

1
1

11

23

10

2

1

13

40

36

42

5

3

Queens

1

The

11

Garage

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100019803. You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 105



8
 COMMUNITY HUB

PROJECTS FOR A TOWN CENTRE FOCAL 
POINT

P
age 106



80 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
81LISCARD MASTERPLAN

Community Hub
What is the project?
There is an aspiration to establish a community 
hub in the town centre. While every community 
hub is different, most community hubs host 
different partners in one or more buildings 
to deliver a wide range of services to the 
local community that meet community 
needs. Typically, community hubs are run 
and managed by a dedicated community 
organisation, but in other instances they may 
be owned or managed by a public agency such 
as a housing association, or local authority but 
with substantial input and influence from the 
community. 

Why is this project proposed?
The re-imagining of the town centre from a 
commercial centre to civic centre will put more 
emphasis on the need for spaces where people 
can come together with a common purpose, 
but there is currently little civic and community 
infrastructure in Liscard. The hub would provide 
a much needed focal point for local people 
and would contribute to enhancing community 
life in Liscard. The location of the hub is also 
strategically important, as it should help to 
drive beneficial footfall in the town centre.

What will the project deliver?
The range of services that the hub could host 
will reflect local need, and may be delivered 
by local people, other organisations, or public 
agencies. The model, can in particular, help 
to underpin an enterprising and resilient 
community organisation. The community hub 
could host health and wellbeing activities, 
employment support, childcare facilities, 
cultural and learning activities and advice 
and information services amongst others. 
Depending on the needs of these activities, 
the hub could include meeting rooms, IT 
facilities, offices and training rooms, sports 
and arts facilities, play areas, exhibition space 
and catering facilities (potentially a community 
café). There may even be a need for more than 
one community hub.

No site has been formally identified for the hub 
– this will depend on the needs of the facility. 
It may be that the hub initially occupies a 
‘meanwhile’ space such as an empty shop unit. 
As the hub becomes established the hope is 
that a new landmark facility can be delivered in 
the heart of the town centre core. 

Summary

• A focal point for people to meet and 
access services in the town centre.

• Accommodation and location to 
be defined in line with community 
need.

• Potentially beginning as a 
meanwhile use in a vacant shop 
unit.

• Eventually a new landmark facility in 
the town centre core. 

Potential Community Hub Locations

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Precedents

P
age 107



9
DELIVERY

P
age 108



84 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
85LISCARD MASTERPLAN

Introduction
The Integrated Masterplan represents an 
ambitious programme which, if substantially 
implemented, will radically transform the town 
centre of Liscard. It concentrates on physical 
development activity as this is the role of 
this study and it will need to be coordinated 
with the implementation of the Left Bank 
Programme and the other ongoing regeneration 
programmes of Wirral, to ensure that education 
and skills development and business support 
and other vital services are improved in 
tandem.

Regeneration is a challenging activity. Early-
stage development is cost intensive and little 
value is generated for a considerable period. 
Successful transformation will happen, but can 
only be truly achieved through the attraction 
of appropriate private sector investment. The 
public sector needs to create the conditions 
that will de-risk early-stage development and 
give confidence to developers and investors.

The fundamental aim of this masterplan is to 
create a positive investment climate for those 
investors considering whether to enter the 
market. We are aware of developers who are 
interested in attracting investors to the town, 
but this will only happen if Wirral Council and 
its partners are demonstrating that they are 
there with them for the long run.

As well as the guidance provided by this 
masterplan, the Council can use its influence 
in several ways. It can use its covenant 
strength to enhance viability, it can acquire 
strategic sites and use its land holdings as an 
intervention tool to help stimulate investment. 
Transferring land at nil or low cost in the short 
term can help to give competitive advantage 
to the area as it seeks to compete with sites in 
neighbouring areas.

Market Positioning
Liscard is an intriguing proposition in market 
terms. It is an existing retail and service centre 
for Wallasey and has performed reasonably well 
during the pandemic; yet it has underperformed 
in recent years and there is a feeling that the 
town centre has been neglected. It has the 
potential to do much better and with targeted 
investment in can thrive as the service centre at 
the heart of  Wallasey.

In contrast to many town centres, land 
ownership is not a hugely complicated 
patchwork of ownerships with multiple layers 
of interests. The Council owns the freehold of 
several opportunity sites in the town centre 
and as such, it can control many of the factors 
that can make it a successful, sustainable and 
viable concept. 

The Council has developed this strategy to 
achieve long term structural change and with 
a strong emphasis on quality and aligning the 
town centre to the needs of a target audience. 
Liscard can move beyond retail and diversify 
the mix of town centre uses to maintain and 
improve vitality and viability. This can be 
achieved by introducing a wider range of town 
centre uses, including residential, independent 
food and drink, leisure, community uses and 
co-working space, alongside core retail (A1) 
provision. The result can be a fully integrated 
town centre that can act as an exemplar to 
other towns with a similar size and locational 
context. 

Liscard will continue to serve the wider 
Wallasey area and be a lively, attractive place 
to live, work and spend leisure time in. It can 
also attract more people from the wider area. 
To make this strategy a reality, there needs 
to be significant and sustained public sector 
investment in infrastructure, land assembly and 
regeneration to create a platform to catapult 
the area forward during the next decade. 

This vision is dependent on creating an 
environment of exemplar quality (green spaces 
and good design) with excellent connections 
(including ICT) plus public transport and 
attractive walking and cycling routes through 
the area. It also needs to be perceived as 
a safe town centre and one where facilities 
(including community uses, leisure amenities 
and shops) are excellent.

Phasing
There are a number of ‘early win’ projects 
that need to be progressed immediately. 
They are required to ‘set the scene’ for new 
development in Liscard. Some of the other 
proposals will require several months and years 
of preparatory, investigative and design work 
before new homes, buildings and public realm 
can be delivered.

The interlinked nature of the Masterplan means 
that the broad phasing programme is linked to 
a number of related projects. The other main 
phasing issue relates to financial performance. 
The cash-flow of the development will benefit 
generally from the earlier delivery of the 
most profitable elements such as the pre-let 
schemes, leisure, retail and more attractive 
housing projects.

A separate Action Plan has been prepared 
which identifies a series of quick wins and 
short-, medium- and long-term actions which 
the Council can take the lead on. 

Working In Partnership
Whilst the Council is a major landowner in the 
area, delivery of the Masterplan will require 
ongoing partnership working with other 
stakeholders. This provides a strong strategic 
foundation for more focussed and project 
specific partnerships that will be required in 
and around Wallasey. Key partners are likely to 
include:

• Wirral MBC;
• Liverpool City Region Combined Authority;
• Homes England;
• West Bromwich Building Society and 

Colliers International (Cherry Tree Centre); 
and

• Other land owners.

Funding Sources & Mechanisms
In the current financial climate, there is scarcity 
of funds for site acquisition and capital 
enabling works. There are severe restrictions 
on local authority budgets and this is likely to 
remain so for a considerable time to come. 
In addition to these issues, there are major 
difficulties for private sector developers gaining 
access to development loan finance for 
schemes where there is a market in transition. 
This is particularly true for speculative 
commercial development and this will need to 
be considered.

Local Authority investments to control assets 
and generate revenue
The principle on ‘Invest to Earn’ is being 
embraced by many local authorities looking 
to adapt to the new public-sector funding 
landscape. Property acquisitions can generate 
new revenue streams and can address the 
funding gap in areas of marginal viability to 
boost regeneration and to add value, both 
economic and social; by supporting the 
creation of new jobs and generating additional 
revenue from Business Rates. The income from 
these investments can then be reinvested in the 
local area, or to fund local services.

Local Authority investment to facilitate 
regeneration
The use of Local Authority covenants to help 
facilitate viable development is an increasingly 
common occurrence. There are numerous 
examples of this practice across England and 
Wales. There are current examples of this 
practice being used by smaller authorities, as 
well as large metropolitan cities and boroughs.

There are several potential options that are 
available to the Council and future development 
Joint Venture Partners that would enhance 
viability of new development in Wirral. In recent 
times, the Council has agreed to intervene in 
this way with Peel Land and Property at Wirral 
Waters and with Muse Developments (Wirral 
Growth Company) in Birkenhead Town Centre.

One such example is when the Council enters 
into a lease over the development. The amount 
of space that the Council leases or the level 
of commitment is dependent on the degree of 
viability of the project.

Councils can borrow at beneficial interest 
rates through the Public Works Loan Board. 
The Council can therefore undertake direct 
development of capital projects, with savings 
on borrowing and other overheads, such as 
developer’s profit. This can be done as a 
standalone project with a separate Design and 
Build contract; but it would be beneficial if 
done as part of a complementary programme 
of targeted interventions.

Liverpool City Region
It would seem fortuitous timing that in June 
2020 the government launched a Brownfield 
Land Release fund to support brownfield 
development, estate regeneration, development 

P
age 109



86 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
87LISCARD MASTERPLAN

on public sector land and self and custom-
build serviced plots in coming forward. It was 
allocated “for pro-development” councils and 
ambitious mayoral combined authorities with 
the aim of creating more homes by bringing 
more brownfield land into development.” 
Liverpool City Region was allocated £45M 
and this is funding that could be used to help 
unlock the regeneration of Liscard.

Wirral Growth Company
Wirral Growth Company (WGC) is a 50:50 joint 
venture partnership between Wirral Council 
and Muse Developments. WGC has an option 
agreement over a number of Council owned 
sites throughout the Wirral and is initially 
looking to bring forward development and 
regeneration on priority sites in Birkenhead 
town centre, Bromborough and Moreton. 
The partnership will be looking to bring 
about physical, social and environmental 
improvements through a range of regeneration 
projects across the borough over the next 10-
15 years.

The Seaview Road car park and former 
Municipal Building are in the WGC’s business 
plan as a Stage 2 project. It is likely that the 
major projects described above will be the 
priorities for the short to medium term. It will be 
a decision for the Council whether WGC is the 
appropriate delivery mechanism.

Homes England
Wirral Council is working with Homes England 
on the development of the Brownfield Register 
to access the funding in the Brownfield Land 
fund. Previously developed sites that are in 
the new Local Plan will have the opportunity to 
receive funding. 

Another possible funding scheme from Homes 
England will be the Home Building Fund. This is 
a fund that is aimed at small and medium sized 
house builders to upscale and tackle larger 
developments. Homes England is working with 
a Wirral-based developer that has expressed 
interest in developing a Build to Rent model 
aimed at Key Workers in Liscard Village.

The government is encouraging councils to 
ensure that appropriate numbers of family 
homes come forward, with the right mix 
of home sizes, types and tenures for local 
communities.

Future High Street Fund 
A new round of the £675 million Future High 
Streets Fund was announced by the Minister of 
Housing Communities and Local Government 
in December 2020. £24.6 million of funding 
has been confirmed for Birkenhead to support 
the delivery of 186 new homes, road safety 
improvements and a permanent new space 
for the historic market. A provisional funding 
offer of £3.2 million has also been received to 
support the renewal of New Ferry. 

As a central part of the government’s ‘Our Plan 
for the High Street’ measures announced in 
the 2018 Budget, the objective of the Fund is 
to renew and reshape town centres and high 
streets in a way that improves experience, 
drives growth and ensures future sustainability. 
Essentially, the Fund has been set up to help 
town centres facing significant challenges to 
respond and adapt to changes in the retail 
industry. 

The Fund supports local areas to prepare long-
term strategies for their high streets and town 
centres, including funding a new High Streets 
Taskforce to provide expertise and hands-on 
support to local areas and it will also then co-
fund with local areas’ projects. Wirral Council is 
hopeful of receiving an allocation in any future 
rounds of FHSF and Liscard is planned as one 
of the priority high streets.

Private Sector Funding
There are a number of ways in which private 
sector finance could be mobilised in order to 
regenerate Liscard. These are as follows:

Owner-occupiers / firm led development – 
driven by the need to expand or reconfigure 
their own premises or reduce accommodation 
by downsizing premises and selling / leasing 
or redeveloping surplus space as residential 
accommodation.

Orthodox Property Development – 
where development of new premises or 
the refurbishment of existing premises is 
undertaken by property developers who 
acquire sites, construct a building and let it out 
in the pursuit of a return on their investment 
(developer’s profit) that reflects the inherent 
risks of doing so. In some cases, the owners of 
sites are property companies who let out their 
premises or companies whose main source of 
business is trading in and developing land.
Recycled land value – allied to orthodox 

property development many elements of 
regeneration schemes have in the past 
been wholly or partly funded by revenues 
generated by the sale of land for high value 
use (typically retail and residential) that are 
effectively ‘recycled’ so that unviable elements 
are provided within a project. The actual 
mechanisms for achieving this vary, but include 
the public sector allowing internal cross 
subsidy (where they own the land) and through 
the use of planning agreements (where the 
private sector owns the land).

Special Investment Decisions – this 
expression is used to cover the possibility that 
some investors will be interested in sites within 
the study area for special reasons such as a 
soon to expire lease and potential relocation 
opportunities.  In these cases, we believe that 
the private sector could be ‘guided’ to invest 
in the study area by the public sector pursuing 
a ‘joined-up’ approach to addressing the twin 
objectives of regeneration with targets for 
delivery of public services.

Private Rented Sector Funding
While the Private Rented Sector Funding (PRS) 
sector has grown over the last two decades, 
it has lacked the scale which is needed to 
provide high-quality housing and deliver 
professional management expertise in a cost-
effective way. The last five years has a growing 
movement in the UK property market for Build 
to Rent (BtR) property, which aims to capitalise 
on the burgeoning rental market while providing 
renters with improved stability and quality. Build 
to Rent property developments are owned by 
institutional investors and property companies, 
and are rented out directly or through an agent.

The BtR model gives renters access to a choice 
of professionally managed property, which 
typically offers greater security and a higher 
level of management than they would typically 
expect from a small-scale amateur landlord. 
There have been several large high-rise city 
centre PRS schemes coming forward in the 
North West, notably in Manchester with others 
on site in Liverpool. Whilst Wirral (and Wallasey 
in particular) is not as high on the list of target 
areas; we believe that as this market matures, 
there will be pension fund investment into this 
sector. 

Despite this, there were some developers 
consulted who had considered this issue and 
think that there is a role for PRS in Liscard. 

Although this report is non-attributable, we are 
aware of developers who are keen advocates 
of affordable PRS in this location. This would 
be aimed at locally based key workers and 
young professionals. These developers feel that 
such a scheme would be ideal for generating 
momentum in Liscard. This will help to rapidly 
transform the area (and proper neighbourhood 
management will be in place from the start). 
The PRS units should mainly be one and two 
bedroom apartments.

Implementation
The Masterplan establishes a long term spatial 
framework to guide the future development 
of Liscard town centre, as well as providing 
further comfort to the proposers of the current 
pipeline development projects happening in 
the area. It identifies a series of interlinked 
development projects to achieve the vision and 
deliver the growth which will take the concept 
of a mixed-use future for Liscard going forward; 
strengthening its reinvention as a progressive, 
thriving 21st century sustainable community. 
The presence of a community hub and larger 
residential population in the town centre will 
also help to sustain the vitality and vibrancy of 
the town in the years ahead.

The establishment of a Steering Group will have 
an important coordinating and championing 
role to play in bringing forward the masterplan, 
particularly by providing a single focus, whilst 
working with public and private sector partners 
in stimulating additional investment across the 
area. In particular, the Project Steering Group 
will need to:

• Ensure the proposals are brought forward in 
a holistic and progressive manner through 
the public sector - through its regeneration, 
property, economic development, planning, 
transportation and social roles;

• Encourage developers to embrace the 
quality agenda required;

• Promote the need for coordinated public 
sector funding support to deliver key public 
realm and infrastructure projects required 
early on in the Masterplan proposals;

• Champion the complex projects that will 
initiate wider change in Liscard;

• Prepare projects which can then be taken 
on by private and public sector partners; 

• Ensure that development and public realm 
proposals are of the highest design quality.

P
age 110



Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Neighbourhood Framework for 
Liscard: An Integrated Masterplan

L I S C A R D

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 113



2 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
3LISCARD MASTERPLAN

Introducing Liscard
Liscard town centre is the main retail and 
service centre for Wallasey and North Wirral. 
The town’s main retail area is focussed on 
the pedestrianised Liscard Way and covered 
Cherry Tree Shopping Centre. Along the arterial 
roads that lead to the central core are a greater 
number of independent retailers and other 
business uses such as estate agents, banks, 
bars and eateries.

The town centre core was significantly 
redeveloped in the 1960s and has seen 
limited investment since the 1990s. A number 
of high profile retailers have left the town in 
recent decades and vacancy rates are rising. 
Recognising that this is part of wider changes 
to the nature and purpose of town centres, 
the Liscard Integrated Masterplan has been 
commissioned to shape a new vision for 
Liscard beyond retail. 

The aim of the masterplan is to re-balance the 
town centre, focusing on the provision of an 
improved retail offer, along with opportunities 
for leisure, community and residential uses, 
and a complementary evening economy; 
all of which should encourage sustainable 
development and the growth of diverse 
independent businesses, re-establishing 
Liscard as a modern, vibrant and thriving town 
centre.

The masterplan provides a Neighbourhood 
Framework for Liscard. It articulates an 
ambitious vision and a clear framework to drive 
forward and guide the sustainable economic 
growth and renewal of Liscard over the next 
15 years.  It will influence how the Council 
enables investment in social, economic and 
environmental regeneration and will inform 
the emerging Local Plan. The masterplan is 
not intended as a blueprint, however, and 
alternative options that support the overall 
principles of the masterplan will be supported.

The masterplan has been prepared within 
the midst of the COVID-19 global pandemic, 
which will undoubtedly have an impact on town 
centres. The production of this masterplan will 
therefore play an important role in enabling 
the Council to have a clear vision in place 
for Liscard so that a strong case can be put 
forward for any future development and funding 
opportunities.

The masterplan is a significant opportunity 
to reshape Liscard in a way that will improve 
the experience of residents, businesses and 
visitors ensuring it is a town centre fit for the 
future. A well-connected, more accessible and 
attractive town centre will provide an enhanced 
focal point and in doing so will play a part in 
enhancing community wellbeing.

Masterplan Purpose

Existing Town Centre Boundary as defined in the current Unitary Development Plan

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 114



4 LISCARD MASTERPLAN

Masterplan Vision
In 2004 the New Economics Foundation 
produced its report “Clone Town Britain: The 
Loss of Local Identity on the Nation’s High 
Streets.” The report identified the ‘assault 
on the character of town centres’ and their 
growing homogenisation through the loss of 
‘real’ local shops and distinctive shop fronts to 
make way for near-identical chain stores. In the 
intervening period, however, people’s shopping 
habits have changed considerably and many 
once well-known chains common to towns like 
Liscard have either rationalised their portfolio 
away from second and third tier towns (Marks & 
Spencer) or disappeared entirely (Woolworths). 

Potential lasting changes following the 
COVID-19 pandemic are only more likely to 
accelerate this process, leading to more store 
closures and an oversupply of floorspace, 
but whilst the well documented ‘death of 
the high street’ is potentially a threat to the 
social and economic vitality of Liscard, it also 
provides a fundamental opportunity to re-
imagine a new type of town centre that is more 
locally distinctive, more interesting and more 
community focused; less of a ‘clone’ and ‘more 
Liscard.’ 

A town that is:

• More diverse – retaining a good range of 
retail in the town centre, but balancing this 
with a much wider range of uses including 
leisure, residential and workspace. 

• More people focused – reducing the 
impact of traffic and making the town 
centre easier to navigate from surrounding 
communities by foot, cycle and public 
transport. 

• More social – creating spaces (both internal 
and external) that bring people together and 
enliven the town centre both by day and 
into the evening. 

• More attractive – enhancing the 
appearance of the town and the quality of 
spaces including more green infrastructure 
and colour.

These aspirations are the foundation for the 
Vision for Liscard, which is supported by five 
masterplan themes: 

• Connected Town - creating a more 
accessible Town Centre. 

• Spaces for People - forming a Town Centre 
that is more people focused. 

• Renewing the Core - establishing a more 
diverse Town Centre. 

• Urban Village - making the Town Centre 
more ‘lived in’. 

• Community Hub - providing local people 
with a focal point in the Town Centre.

Liscard town centre is loved by local 
people because it is:

• Where everyone feels welcome
• Where people can live, work and play
• Where there is a strong sense of local 

identity
• Where people can come together

Liscard is the HEART of the community

Our Vision

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

P
age 115



The Masterplan

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100019803.
You are not permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell any of this data to third parties in any form.

Tower Place proposal

Tower 
Place

P
age 116



8 LISCARD MASTERPLAN
9LISCARD MASTERPLAN

Connected Town

We want to reduce the dominance of roads 
and create a safer, calmer and more attractive 
environment for pedestrians, cyclists and bus 
users through the following projects:

CT01 Liscard Gyratory: This involves the re-
organisation of roads that form the gyratory 
around the town centre – Liscard Crescent, 
Mill Lane, St. Alban’s Road and Wallasey 
Road to reduce the amount of space given 
over to vehicles and to create more space for 
pedestrians, cyclists and public realm. 

CT02 LCWIP Cycle Route: The Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority (LCRCA) 
is progressing a Local Cycling and Walking 
Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP) that is developing a 
cohesive network of high standard active travel 
routes across the region. A two-way cycle 
corridor is proposed through Liscard town 
centre that extends along Seaview Road in the 
north to Liscard Road in the south.

CT03 Parking: The overall amount of car 
parking should seek to meet the needs of 
those living, working and visiting the town 
centre while supporting a move towards 
walking, cycling and public transport usage. It 
is proposed that  the Seaview Road car park 
will be developed as part of a high-quality 
housing scheme and that the amount of car 
parking would be retained at the Cherry Tree 
Centre, however, this would be re-provided 
as a multi-storey car park to release land for 
redevelopment. It is also proposed to provide 
Electric Vehicle (EV) charging points and to 
upgrade cycle parking provision in the town 
centre. 

Spaces for People

We want to form more attractive and interactive 
public spaces through the following projects:

SP01 Liscard Way: A comprehensive redesign 
if the public realm with new paving, lighting, 
street furniture and green infrastructure. 

SP02 Mother Redcap Place: An enhanced 
civic square around the Mother Redcap statue.

SP03 Gateways: Two enhanced public spaces 
at either ends of Liscard Way.

SP04 Wallasey Road: More space for outdoor 
café seating and enhanced public realm.

SP05 Tower Place: A new pedestrianised 
street and square formed as part of the 
redevelopment of the Cherry Tree Centre. 

SP06 Lighting Strategy: As part of the 
upgrade of the public realm there is a particular 
opportunity to improve street lighting, but also 
accent lighting and other lighting effects. 

SP07 Green Infrastructure: As part of the 
enhancement of the town centre there is scope 
to increase the amount of greenery and to 
improve its quality.

Renewing the Core

We want to reshape the town centre core 
through the following projects:

TC01 Cherry Tree Centre: The part 
redevelopment of the centre and car park to 
create space for a new food store and other 
commercial, business and service uses with 
residential above.

TC02 Dominick House: To refurbish or 
redevelop the building to bring it back into use 
– most likely residential with other uses on the 
ground floor.

TC03 Central Development Site: 
Redevelopment of buildings on Liscard Way for 
new mixed use development.

TC04 Empty Buildings and Frontage 
Improvements: This proposal identifies a 
number of key buildings and frontages for 
reuse and improvement.

Masterplan Projects

Urban Village

We want to create more housing in the town 
centre through the following projects:

UV01 Seaview Road car park: The 
development of the car park and former 
Community Centre site for housing along 
with the conversion of the vacant Municipal 
Buildings.

UV02 Burns Avenue: To redevelop the 
site currently occupied by two automotive 
businesses for housing.

UV03 Capitol Buildings: To develop land to 
the rear for residential as part of the wider 
redevelopment of the Seaview Road car park 
site.

UV04 Residential Conversion: Along the 
main arterial routes into Liscard (particularly 
on Seaview Road) it is acknowledged that 
long redundant commercial units may be 
proposed for conversion to a residential use. 
This project aims to ensure that this is handled 
sensitively in terms of the overall coherence of 
the town centre and the quality of residential 
accommodation created.

Community Hub 

There is an aspiration to establish a community 
hub in the town centre. While every community 
hub is different, most community hubs host 
different partners in one or more buildings 
to deliver a wide range of services to the 
local community that meet community 
needs. Typically, community hubs are run 
and managed by a dedicated community 
organisation, but in other instances they may 
be owned or managed by a public agency such 
as a housing association, or local authority but 
with substantial input and influence from the 
community. 

Liscard Way visualisation

P
age 117



Page 118



Public Consultation Analysis

P
age 119



Overview

• Consultation on the masterplan options took place between 12 October and 2 November 2020. 

• Due to the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic all consultation was conducted in an online 
environment.

• From the website www.bdp.com/liscardmasterplan members of the public could access information about the 
masterplan including a YouTube video explaining the proposals and plans that could be downloaded in pdf 
form.

• A link to a SurveyMonkey questionnaire was provided from the website.

• There were 175 respondents to the questionnaire.

• Analysis of respondents’ feedback is provided herein. 

P
age 120



1. Overall Vision

Does the following vision for Liscard reflect your aspirations for an improved town centre: 
“Liscard Town Centre is loved by local people because it is a place: Where everyone feels 
welcome; Where people can live, work, and play; Where there is a strong sense of local 
identity; Where people can come together - Liscard is the heart of the community”.

The majority of respondents either Strongly 
Agree or Agree (69%)

P
age 121



Feedback - overview

• Desire for an increased police presence in Liscard Town Centre

• ALDI / LIDL highly popular amongst respondents

• ‘Heart of Liscard’ group comprising local people and business owners

• Additional residential provision should be affordable

• Lighting improvements were welcomed by multiple respondents

• Addressing the climate emergency is high among multiple respondents’ priorities

• Desire for a more diverse retail offer, especially for more independent retailers

• Uncertainty surrounding the reversal of the gyratory

• Reservations about reducing car parking

• Liscard should aim higher – become the main town centre in Wallasey

• Community space should focus on young people (youth initiatives, crime prevention)

• Support for small local businesses (help shape the community)

P
age 122



Word cloud

P
age 123



2. Priorities

Which of the following do you think is most important for Liscard? Please rank from most 
important (1) to least important (5).

• Renewing the Core – 1 or 2 = 64%
• Spaces for people – 1 or 2 = 48%
• Connected Town – 1 or 2 = 40%
• Community Hub 1 or 2 = 30%
• Urban Village – 1 or 2 = 19%

• Renewing the Core – 4 or 5 = 20%
• Spaces for people – 4 or 5 = 25%
• Connected Town – 4 or 5 = 35%
• Community Hub 4 or 5 = 47%
• Urban Village – 4 or 5 = 70%

P
age 124



3. Connected Town

Do you think that the following Connected Town proposals are the most effective way to improve accessibility in Liscard? 
Project CT01 Liscard Gyratory ‐ Reducing road space to create more pedestrian and public space. Project CT02 Cycle Route ‐
Creating a high quality off road cycle route through the town centre. Project CT03 Car Parking ‐ Retaining the Liscard
Crescent, Liscard Village and Cherry Tree car parks, creating short stay parking on St Albans Road and creating electric 
charging points.

• A small majority of respondents Strongly 
Agree and Agree at 54%

• 20% of respondents Neither Agree nor 
Disagree

P
age 125



Feedback

• Concern about cyclists travelling through the centre, especially Liscard Way – space preferred for pedestrians

• Multiple calls for cycle lanes to be scrapped / design overhauled

• Concerns over the reduction in parking provision across the Town Centre, as this is seen as a pull factor –
multiple calls for free parking

• Bus stops: Gyratory Option B would mean buses idling next to new public space due to reduction in space for 
buses / Dominick House stop is mainly used for school drop off, so should remain on school side to negate the 
need for parents & children to cross the road

• Concerns over reduction in road space on the gyratory

P
age 126



4. Spaces for People
Do you think the following Spaces for People proposals are the most effective way to improve the environmental quality in Liscard? Project SP01 Liscard Way ‐
Redesigning Liscard Way with new paving, lighting and street furniture. Project SP02 Mother Redcap Place ‐ Creating an enhanced civic square around the Mother 
Redcap statue (outside McDonalds). Project SP03 Gateways ‐ Creating two enhanced public spaces at either ends of Liscard Way (junction with Seaview Road and the 
junction with Liscard Road). Project SP04 Tower Place ‐ Forming a new pedestrianised street and square alongside Cherry Square (Cherry Tree Centre atrium). Project 
SP05 Wallasey Road ‐ Creating more space for outdoor café seating. Project SP06 Lighting Strategy ‐ Incorporating feature lighting in the town centre. Project SP07 
Green Infrastructure Interventions ‐ Planting more greenery in the town centre.

The overwhelming majority of respondents 
Strongly Agree and Agree at 84%

P
age 127



Feedback
• Many respondents commented that the priority should be getting occupiers in the vacant shop units to revitalise the 

core – THEN enhancing public realm

• Trees and greenery high on the agenda

• Mother Redcap Place not to reduce bus stop capacity

• Internal upgrades to Cherry Tree Centre preferred over ‘European-style’ outdoor cafes 

• New paving and lighting very popular amongst respondents

• Focus on sustainability (e.g. materials / planting)

• Support for greening of public space

• Support for community events

• Point raised that funding for the maintenance of any physical interventions is important so that it doesn’t fall into 
disrepair (e.g. maintaining planting, etc.)

• Suggestion of a community volunteer group to assist with maintenance

• Outdoor café seating not supported due to the weather in England, focus should be on inside Cherry Tree Centre for 
example

• Consider sustainability credentials of proposals – be an exemplar

P
age 128



5. Renewing the Core
Do you think the following Renewing the Core proposals are the most effective way to create a diverse town centre? Project TC01 Cherry Tree Centre ‐ Redeveloping the 
surface car park to create new space for a food store and other commercial, business and service uses with residential above. Project TC02 Dominick House ‐
Conversion, refurbishment or redevelopment of Dominick House for residential, commercial or community uses. Project TC03 Mother Redcap Place ‐ Redeveloping some 
of the buildings on Liscard Way for new commercial, business and service uses potentially with residential above. Project TC04 Former HSBC building ‐ Refurbishing the 
building for new commercial, business and service uses. Project TC05 Former Manweb building ‐ Refurbishing the building for new commercial, business and service 
uses. Project TC06 Retail frontages ‐ Improving shop fronts on the main routes into the town centre.

The overwhelming majority of respondents 
Strongly Agree and Agree at 78%

P
age 129



Feedback

• Support for community use at ground level in Dominick House

• Support for vacant shop units on routes into the centre to be converted into residential – focus retail offer in the 
centre

• Restore and preserve Manweb building & shop fronts to reflect the history of Liscard retail core

• Focus on restoring / redeveloping existing before building new

• Support for residential above retail in centre – provide businesses with more customers

• Indoor food market (pop-up?) for small retailers / family businesses

• Huge support for lower rents for businesses – support start ups, SMEs, etc.

• Ensure responsibility of commercial property owners for upkeep of adjacent spaces, etc.

• Fewer charity / low-end shops (e.g. vape outlets)

• Directly target businesses / users, instead of ‘refurbish and hope’

• Concerns over whether a large supermarket would hinder the smaller businesses (e.g. greengrocer, butcher, 
etc.)

P
age 130



6. Urban Village
Do you think the following Urban Village proposals are the most effective way to create a more 'lived in' town centre? Project UV01 Seaview 
Road Car Park / Municipal Buildings ‐ Redeveloping the car park and empty buildings for new housing. Project UV02 Seaview Road West ‐
Redeveloping car showroom and service uses for residential. Project UV03 Capitol Buildings ‐ Developing housing to the rear of Capitol 
Buildings. Project UV04 Residential conversion ‐ Providing enhanced guidelines should empty retail property outside of the main core be 
converted to housing.

The majority of respondents Strongly Agree 
and Agree at 61%

P
age 131



Feedback

• Affordable housing / social housing is high on the agenda

• Concerns over reduction in car parking (e.g. Seaview Road) and increase in residential capacoty

• Concern that office to residential conversion will result in low quality units

• Residential only when retail is considered first – Liscard needs to remain a retail centre for Wallasey

• Support for residential above Capitol Buildings

• Distil retail down to Cherry Tree Centre and surrounding area, conversion of other retail units

• Develop housing to suit the needs of the current demographic (i.e. social renters and elderly)

P
age 132



7. Community Hub

Does the aspiration to create a community hub or hubs reflect the potential to create a focal point in 
the town centre?

• The majority of respondents Strongly 
Agree and Agree at 67%

• A significant proportion of respondents 
Neither Agree nor Disagree, at 20%

P
age 133



Feedback

• Facility should include some sort of workshops, skills share, training element

• Effectual entrepreneurship / social enterprise – catalyst for innovation, local business, etc.

• Community allotment would be a good way for local people to learn skills and promote care for other 
green/public spaces

• Quite a lot of respondents suggest this project is unrealistic (funding) or unnecessary (retail centre)

• Existing groups in Liscard could use this space to come together and share ideas in one location as a focal 
point for the community

• A community hub serving the entirety of Wallasey supported – “Liscard is the Heart of Wallasey”

• Focus on culture, art, etc.

• Space for the ageing population to attend classes (e.g. dance)

• A mixed-use hub with education, support services, and informal interaction space is supported (uses to be 
carefully thought out)

P
age 134



8. Other Ideas
Are there any additional ideas you would like to see considered as part of the masterplan proposals?

• CCTV / security concerns

• Public art – murals, sculpture (e.g. Victoria Road in New Brighton)

• Multi-storey car park

• Cycle routes not needed

• Facilities / services aimed at young people

• Increase the availability of independent retailers

• In-built sustainability in all proposals

• Use exemplars (Victoria Road, New Brighton / Aigburth Road, Liverpool) to guide development, but make it unique to 
Liscard (e.g. history and heritage)

• Don’t neglect the inside of Cherry Tree Centre, which needs updating

• LIDL / ALDI

• Community gym / dance studio (community hub)

• Further education facility – apprenticeship hub (focus on skills)

• Support local – funding streams and businesses involved in the plans

• Maintenance and responsibility – plan?

P
age 135



Conclusions

• Strongest support for ‘Renewing the Core’ proposals with 64% ranking it 1st or 2nd priority.

• Weakest support for ‘Urban Village’ proposals with 70% ranking it 4th or 5th priority.

• The proposal for a low-cost supermarket (ALDI / LIDL) has strong support.

• Multiple concerns raised around the cycle route proposals (LCWIP) – this will need to be revisited.

• Proposals for vehicular traffic should consider the interface with public space (e.g. buses idling next to Mother Redcap 
Place).

• Community Hub needs to be a more thought through proposal: how will it align with existing groups? What exactly will 
be offered and, most importantly, how will it be funded?

• How will Tower Place function in adverse weather? The inside of the Cherry Tree Centre needs a facelift too.

• A focus on independent / local retailers was clearly a priority.

• A parking strategy is needed for new residential units, especially in central locations.

• Commercial strategy for retail units (i.e. rental schemes to support local businesses).

• Support for condensing the retail to the core, but residential conversions must be of high quality and aimed at the local 
housing need.

P
age 136



ECONOMY REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
Monday, 22 November 2021 

REPORT TITLE: ACQUISITION OF FORMER CO-OP BUILDING - 100 
NEW CHESTER ROAD, NEW FERRY

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE

REPORT SUMMARY

This report seeks approval for a recommendation to be made to Policy and Resources 
Committee for the purchase of the former Co-op building (“The Property”) in New Ferry as a 
strategic acquisition to support the delivery of the master plan for the area.  The 
regeneration of the town centre is a priority for the Council following the explosion in March 
2017.

The Wirral Plan 2021 - 2026 has been developed and the focus covers the following five 
themes: 

 Safe & Pleasant Communities 
 Brighter Futures 
 Active and Healthy Lives 
 Sustainable Environment 
 Inclusive Economy 

This proposal, and the wider regeneration New Ferry Regeneration programme, delivers 
against all of the above themes. Most specifically, it will contribute significantly towards the 
ambitions for a thriving and inclusive economy, creating jobs and opportunities for all.

This matter affects the Bromborough ward and is key decision being a proposal for 
expenditure in excess of £500,000. 

RECOMMENDATION/S

That the Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee recommends to 
the Policy and Resources Committee that that the Director of Law and Governance in 
consultation with the Director of Regeneration and Place, be authorised to acquire the Co-
op building in New Ferry, as shown on the plan, at a price of £700,000.

Page 137

Agenda Item 9



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 The Co-op building (“the Property”) is situated at the heart of New Ferry district 
centre and therefore forms a key site in respect of enabling any future 
redevelopment of the area to take place. The Property is shown edged red on the 
plan at appendix 1. The plan identifies the property as fronting New Chester Road 
close to the junction with Bebington Road.  The property also has a frontage on to 
Bebington Road with the Woodhead Street car park to the rear.  This purchase is 
recommended as this Property is key to enabling the comprehensive regeneration of 
New Ferry which is a strategic priority for the Council.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Committee could decide not to acquire the Property.  However, having regard to 
the lack of demand for retail property of that nature, the retraction of that market, the 
re-positioning of retail from physical stores to on-line shopping, it seems unlikely that 
the Property will return to retail use.

2.2     A search of other funding options has been undertaken but the Strategic Acquisitions 
Programme, is the only available source which has been identified.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The Council has consulted on the regeneration of New Ferry and has a masterplan 
in place and a preferred development option for the area. These propose a mix of 
small retail units and residential development across a range of sites in the area. 
These will be complimented by improvements to highway and public realm 
infrastructure in the area. 

3.2 To achieve this ambition, the Council is currently acquiring (by agreement or using 
Compulsory Purchase Orders) a range of sites for future redevelopment. This is 
progressing well with a large number of properties now in council ownership. 

3.3 The former Co-op building is at the centre of the retail area and ceased trading as a 
food retailer in 2016. It comprises of 1,881.29 sq metres of retail floorspace in a 
single storey unit on a site of 0.636 acres which dominates the retail centre. 
However, it separates rather than integrates the area, presenting blank gables to 
New Chester Road and the pedestrianized Bebington Road. The absence of active 
frontages creates a poor environment and is a detractor to the centre.

3.4 The Co-op have marketed the Property at an initial asking price of £1.25m but not 
attracted a buyer at that level. The vendor has recently reviewed the Property and 
determined that it has no future use for it. The vendor is now keen to dispose of its 
interest and reduced the asking price considerably.  There are two tenants using a 
small part of the building. These are the Co-op funeral services and a local charity, 
but these operators remain in situ to defray security and business rates costs. It is 
envisaged that the site will be acquired with vacant possession. The owner has 
therefore approached the Council to see if there is interest in acquiring it to support 
the regeneration of the area. The vendor has accepted a provisional offer of 

Page 138



£700,000, subject to Board approval. They would like to complete within the next 8 
weeks, so the acquisition will need to be completed in the financial year 2021/22 or 
else this regeneration opportunity may be lost. Lambert Smith Hampton, the 
Council’s asset advisors have confirmed that the proposed acquisition price 
represents market value. 

3.5 The acquisition and redevelopment of the Co-op building was originally included 
within the Council’s bid to the Future High Street Fund (FHSF) in 2020.  However, 
the funding that was awarded was subsequently reduced by the Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government to approximately 70% of the original bid 
amount. This has meant that the intended projects have had to be scaled back and 
the acquisition of the Coop building could no longer be pursued using this funding.

3.6 The original proposal for redeveloping the Co-op building in the FHSF application 
involved the redevelopment of the site with 27 residential units and a small retail 
element. 

3.7 The acquisition of the Property would enable the Council to remove a building of 
poor architectural merit that is predominately vacant with no likely future retail 
demand, from the retail centre. The acquisition will also enable the assembly of a 
larger redevelopment site (with the properties to the south and part of the Woodhead 
Street car park) and improve the “place” with better connectivity and higher quality of 
design. This would be beneficial for existing businesses and the local community. It 
will also provide an attractive opportunity for redevelopment, promoting future 
investment and residential use on this key site within the town centre.   

3.8   The Council is currently procuring a preferred developer for New Ferry and a report 
on this will be received for decision, by Members, later this year.  Acquisition of the 
Property would give the Council and appointed developer significant additional 
opportunities to redevelop the area for sustainable development.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 In February 2018 Cabinet agreed a budget for the Capital Programme and 
Financing for 2018 - 2021. Within the programme there was £30 million allocated to 
deliver the Strategic Acquisition Programme. This Strategic Acquisition Programme 
supports the achievement of the key economic goals as set out in the Wirral Growth 
Plan This acquisition of the Property aligns with the Strategic Acquisition Programme 
criteria.

4.2   Costs related to items such as acquisition, demolition, insurances, security, loss of 
business rate income, Stamp Duty Land Tax have been included in the Full Business 
Case and it is proposed that these costs are met from the Strategic Acquisitions 
Programme.  The proposed purchase price is £700,000, Stamp Duty Land Tax is 
estimated at £24,500, the rates payable are projected at £90,000 per year but 
subject to deductions in 21/22 dependent upon vacant rates liabilities and demolition 
of the building (demolition costs are estimated to be £125,700).  It is proposed that 
the property would be demolished as soon after purchase as possible, and is 
estimated to take four months.  The property is currently occupied by The Phabulous 
Community Charity Trading Hub (Phab) to defray business rates and security costs, 

Page 139



with a modest, unstaffed unit retained by the Co-op Funeral Services to provide 
appropriate advertising space for its services.  As vacant possession will be provided 
upon completion of the acquisition, the vacant rates liability will pass to the Council.  
However, the proposal is to demolish the building as soon as possible after the 
acquisition.

4.3 The redevelopment of this site for mixed/residential use would provide the Council 
with future Council tax income from any new residential units that are built. The sale 
of the site to a developer could also generate a capital receipt for the Council.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Council has the power to buy land and assets to support regeneration. 

5.2 Further legal due diligence and input is ongoing to inform the purchase of the 
Property including title investigation and conveyancing. 

5.3 Lambert Smith Hampton has carried out a valuation of the Property and confirms that 
the proposed purchase price represents market value.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 Internal officers to coordinate and manage all project related activities, undertake title 
investigation, conveyancing, financial modelling and monitoring, supplemented by 
an external surveying resource where necessary. These costs will be met from 
existing budgets.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 If the Property, given its strategic location, cannot be acquired on the terms reported 
it would significantly limit the Councils ability to redevelop and regenerate this part of 
New Ferry. 

7.2     Redeveloping this site for residential purposes will use a brownfield site thereby 
helping to reduce the pressures for new housing to be built on Wirral’s Greenbelt 
land.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 New Ferry ward members and the Member of Parliament for Wirral South support 
the acquisition of the Property as it will further the regeneration of the area for the 
local community and businesses.

8.2    The regeneration of New Ferry has a communications plan which keeps people 
advised of the progress through a variety of media.  As the detailed site proposals 
emerge, public consultation will be undertaken.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report.

Page 140



9.2 An Equality Impact Assessment will be submitted as part of the preferred developer 
report later in the year demonstrating the positive impacts on equality.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The recommendations contained within this report will remove a vacant building and 
replace it with a mix of retail and residential units which will be designed and built to 
modern standards with a focus on carbon reduction and energy efficiency in line with 
the Council’s policies.

10.2  The regeneration proposals for New Ferry are being taken forward in line with the 
Council’s priorities on the environment and climate change. The report on the 
preferred developer, coming later in the year, will set these out in detail. 

11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS

11.1 The acquisition and development of this property will enable the replacement of a 
property of low visual and commercial merit to be replace with a new, wider 
development improving the area, creating new homes and jobs.

REPORT AUTHOR: Steve McMorran
(Steve McMorran)
telephone:  
email:  stevemcmorran@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1- Plan of the property 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Valuation advice from Lambert Smith Hampton
Negotiated heads of terms

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



ECONOMY REGENERATION & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
Monday, 22 November 2021 

REPORT TITLE: EXMOUTH STREET, SEAMUS O'DONNELLS
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE

REPORT SUMMARY

This report seeks approval for a recommendation to be made to Policy and Resources 
Committee to dispose of the Council’s freehold interest in land at Exmouth Street, 
Birkenhead, to the existing lessee that holds a ground lease of the site and owns the 
operational public house which is sited thereon.

The sale will support the Wirral Plan 2021-2026 and its delivery by generating a capital receipt 
and the further promotion of economic activity.

This matter affects Birkenhead & Tranmere Ward and is not a key decision.

RECOMMENDATION/S

It is recommended that the Economic, Regeneration and Development Committee requests 
that Policy and Resources Committee approves that:

(1) The freehold interest of land at Exmouth Street, Birkenhead, (which is held via a 
ground lease with 56 years unexpired and occupied by an operational public house 
with a grassed area to one side), be declared surplus to the Council’s requirements.

(2) Authorisation be given to the Director of Law & Governance, in consultation with the 
Director of Regeneration & Place to dispose the property to the current lessee, JSM 
Company Group Ltd for a price of £120,000, plus payment of the Council’s legal costs. 

Page 143

Agenda Item 10



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To make best use of the Council’s property assets by declaring the land at Exmouth 
Street, Birkenhead (“the site”), surplus and to generate a capital receipt from the 
disposal.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Council retains the site, let via a ground lease which expires in 2077, and 
continues to collect a rent of £1,550 per annum. The cost of collecting and managing 
the asset significantly dilutes the benefit of the income generated.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The Council owns the site, shown edged red on the plan attached to this report as 
Appendix 1, subject to a ground lease dated 29 April 1980 for a cleared site of 
1,863sq.m (0.46 acres) adjacent to the Birkenhead Fire and Ambulance Station and 
residential properties on Exmouth Street. The tenant owns the property known as 
Seamus O’Donnell’s located on the site.

3.2 The long lease was ambiguously drafted and has resulted in an unclear and 
potentially unworkable rent review provision which is an anomaly for both the Council 
and the tenant. The tenant has approached the Council to buy its freehold interest 
and remove the lease, which will free them to deal with the premises as they want, 
subject to planning.

3.3 The passing rent is £1,550 per annum, agreed at lease commencement, with rent 
reviews suggesting adjustments in accordance with changes in Business Rates 
valuations dating back to 1970s on a 10 yearly pattern. Rents, business rates and 
general values for this and similar public houses have seen considerable fluctuations 
with the most recent trend exhibiting continued falls. 

3.4 Ground lease rents have historically remained suppressed and continue to generate 
little or no expectation of income enhancement from rental growth. There are 
benefits to the lessee acquiring the freehold interest as it will afford them the 
opportunity to merge the freehold and leasehold to achieve a cleaner title. This will 
generate an element of value enhancement which is only applicable to the lessee. 
£120,000 represents good value for the sale of the freehold interest.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The proposal will result in a one off capital receipt of £120,000 in lieu of an annual 
income of £1,550. The purchaser has agreed to meet the Council’s reasonable legal 
costs.

Page 144



5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Council’s Legal Services will prepare documentation which will provide for the 
disposal of the freehold interest.

5.2 The proposed sale price is considered to be the best reasonably obtainable and 
therefore meets the Council’s duty to obtain best price.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 There are no IT or staffing implications arising from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 Failure to complete the transaction will result in the loss of a potential capital receipt 
of £120,000. Should the sale not proceed the Council will continue to receive a 
modest income stream from the leaseholders, which will continue to absorb 
resources and incur costs disproportionate to the revenue received.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 All discussions have been directly with the lessee

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1     There are no implications for equality arising from this report.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The property is occupied by  third parties and as such the planning and 
environmental impact would be associated with the occupiers and/or the 
intermediate landlord/purchaser.

11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS

11.1 There are none relevant to this transaction.

REPORT AUTHOR: Derek Comer
telephone:  07827 993 175
email:  derekcomer@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Site plan

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Registered titles relating to the freehold interest.
The Lease document

Page 145



SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 146



Asset Management Section, Universal & Infrastructure Services, Cheshire Lines Building, Canning Street, Birkenhead, CH41 1ND


© Crown Copyright. All Rights Reserved. Published 2010. Licence number 100019803.

Tel: 0151 666 3884    Fax: 0151 606 2090

title scale

date map ref.

Site of Public House
Exmouth Street
Birkenhead
CH41 4NG

 

 

1:1250

7/4/2014 58NE

OLIVER STREET

FB

PH

CLAUGHTON ROAD

10.5m

6

1
1

134
The Lauries Centre

136 to 142

P
A

R
K

F
IE

L
D

 P
L
A

C
E

1
0

3
4

46

C
O

N
W

A
Y

 D
R

IV
E EXMOUTH

El Sub Sta

1

2
5

1

Charing Cross

BRIGHT STREET

4
0

12.5m

Station
Ambulance

226

Twr

2

3
2

19

8

2
6

15

11a

11

5
0

B
E

N
T
IN

C
K

 S
T

R
E

E
T

3
4

BENTINCK CLOSE

11a

5
2

11

C
O

R
F

U
 S

T
R

E
E

T

275
273

279

Youth and

Community

Centre

P
la

yg
ro

u
n
d

S
p
o
rt
s 

P
itc

h

E
l S

u
b
 S

ta

Methodist Church

GLADSTONE CLOSE

1
1

9

1
2

22

1

6

8

7.0m

3
3

24

20

22

1
4

El Sub Sta

2
4

1
9

8.8m

EXMOUTH GARDENS
4
0

PH

Car Park
5

9

EXMOUTH CLOSE

11

18

2

4

3
1

2
7

4
54

7

5
5

Birkenhead
Community
Fire Station

19

11

E
X

M
O

U
T

H
 S

T
R

E
E

T

15

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



1

ECONOMY, REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

22 November 2021

REPORT TITLE PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021
REPORT OF DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH

REPORT SUMMARY
The Public Health Annual Report (PHAR) is the independent annual report of the Director 
of Public Health and is a statutory requirement. The 2020/2021 Report describes enduring 
health inequalities in Wirral, the immediate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on these 
differences in health outcomes and recommended actions that we need to take to improve 
everyone’s health. 

The Public Health Annual Report is an important vehicle to identify key issues, flag up 
problems, report progress and inform local inter agency action. The purpose of the PHAR 
is to draw attention to issues of importance which have an impact on population health. 
Since the Council took back responsibility for Public Health in 2013, we have published six 
reports on:

 Social isolation
 Healthy schools and children
 Domestic violence
 The roles of the Council and NHS in promoting health and wellbeing 
 Problem gambling
 The role of culture in health and wellbeing

These reports have led to action in the reduction of people smoking in the borough to 
levels below the national average; increased support for people who were feeling socially 
isolated plus significant activity across a range of partners to highlight and reduce the 
damage caused to our communities from alcohol abuse and gambling. 

The 2020/2021 Report seeks to direct action that we need to take to reduce the impact of 
health inequalities on our residents and improve health for everyone in our borough. 

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee is requested to endorse the 
recommendations detailed within the Public Health Annual Report.

Page 149

Agenda Item 11



2

SUPPORTING INFORMATION
1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 The production of an annual report is a statutory requirement of the Director of 
Public Health. The Council has a duty to publish the report. 

2.0     OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1     The publication of the Public Health Annual Report is a legal requirement, no other 
options have been considered. 

3.0     BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The global COVID-19 pandemic has created unprecedented challenges and new 
experiences for everyone. However, whilst the pandemic has affected us all, the 
burden has not been shared equally. The long-standing problems associated with 
health inequality have endured; vividly exposing the impact of these unacceptable 
differences on people and communities. The pandemic has also made these health 
differences worse, and the heaviest impacts have fallen on the lives of people 
already experiencing health, economic and social inequalities. 

3.2 Whilst we have made great progress to support people to live healthier lives in 
Wirral, health inequalities are stubbornly persistent. Prior to COVID-
19, Wirral already had some of the poorest health outcomes in the country, with 
high numbers of socially and economically vulnerable people and extensive, 
prevailing health inequalities.  Within Wirral the difference in life expectancy 
between those living in the most and least deprived areas is 10.7 years for men and 
11.2 years for women. The impacts on individuals, communities, services, and the 
economy are enormous, and the repercussions of the pandemic will aggravate 
these further. 

3.3 Continuing to tackle health inequalities, and reduce its impact on our community, 
will be a key task long into the future and one which will benefit every resident. 
Although some things that influence our health cannot be changed, such as our age 
and genes, there are many important factors that, collectively, we can change. 
Issues such as poverty, unemployment, poor housing, and unhealthy environments 
are major contributors to this health gap. The pandemic has shown us what we can 
achieve when we all work together and the speed at which we can make change 
happen. 

3.4 The report identifies five key recommendations which intend to direct the action we 
need to take together to improve health for everyone in our borough and support 
the delivery of the Wirral Plan. The recommendations are as follows:

Page 150



3

 Prioritise economic regeneration and a strong local economy
 Safeguard a healthy standard of living for all
 Increase support for children, young people, and families
 Strengthen action to address differences in health outcomes and prevention 
 Residents and partners continue to work together 

3.5      A detailed, technical supplementary briefing has been developed and is
appended to the Annual Report. This provides information that is summarised within 
the main report. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. However, in 
order to implement the recommendations resources will be required. 

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Public Health Annual Report is a statutory duty on Directors of Public Health. 
There are no specific legal implications arising from this report.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1      This report has been financed from within existing resource and the main inputs 
have been staff time of officers in Public Health.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The impacts of the pandemic on the health and wellbeing of the local population are 
still emerging and therefore not fully understood. The recommendations presented 
therefore take account of some of this uncertainty. Ongoing surveillance, 
intelligence and insight will be required to ensure partners are responding to the 
needs of the local population.

7.2 Wirral partners remain in both emergency and recovery response therefore 
resources are pressured, and services stretched. The recommendations are 
however intended to support and inform the local system to plan for the future and 
enable the borough to recover effectively for everyone.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 The Health and Wellbeing Board was consulted on the emerging recommendations 
of this year’s Public Health Annual Report in July 2021 and the September meeting 
of the Board endorsed the final recommendations. Internal and external 
stakeholders have been integral to the development of the PHAR and insight 
generated throughout the pandemic from local people has been used to inform the 
report.

Page 151



4

8.2 The Public Health Annual Report is intended to emphasise the collective 
contribution, and responsibility for health and wellbeing. The PHAR therefore has 
an important and continuing role to play as a spur to action in the wider system and 
as part of our ongoing public communications and engagement strategy. 

8.3 The finalised PHAR will be shared at various Council and partner committees. It will 
also be disseminated electronically to community stakeholders and published on 
the Council and Wirral Intelligence Service websites. 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is located: -
Equality Impact Assessments | www.wirral.gov.uk

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The content and/or recommendations contained within this report are expected to 
have no impact on emissions of carbon dioxide.      

11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS

11.1 The Public Health Annual Report describes the symbiotic relationship between the 
economy and health.  The Community Wealth Building Strategy therefore makes an 
important contribution to improving the economic, social and health outcomes of the 
borough and reducing disparities in health. The recommendations included within 
the Public Health Annual Report will also contribute to the aspirations outlined in the 
Community Wealth Building Strategy.

REPORT AUTHOR: Julie Webster
     Director of Public Health 
     telephone: (0151 666 5142)
     email: juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

APPENDIX 1: Public Health Annual Report 2020/2021
 
APPENDIX 2: Public Health Annual Report 2020/2021 Technical Briefing

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Wirral Intelligence Service (2021) Health Inequalities 
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/health-inequalities/ 

Health Equity in England: The Marmot Review 10 Years On (2020) 
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/the-marmot-review-10-years-on 

Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review (2020) 
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/build-back-fairer-the-covid-19-marmot-review 

Page 152

http://Equality Impact Assessments | www.wirral.gov.uk
mailto:juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/health-inequalities/
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/the-marmot-review-10-years-on
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/build-back-fairer-the-covid-19-marmot-review


5

HM Government (2021) Build Back Better: our plan for growth 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/build-back-better-our-plan-for-growth 

Public Health England (2020) COVID-19: review of disparities in risks and outcomes 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-review-of-disparities-in-risks-and-
outcomes

SUBJECT HISTORY

Council Meeting Date
Housing
Tourism Communities Culture and Leisure
Environment Climate Emergency and Transport
Adult Social Care and Public Health
Health and Wellbeing Board
Health and Wellbeing Board

18 November 2021
17 November 2021
15 November 2021
13 October 2021
29th September 2021
20th July 2021

Adult Care and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 19th November 2019
Health and Wellbeing Board 13th November 2019
Council 14th October 2019
Cabinet 30th September 2019
Health and Wellbeing Board 18th July 2018
Cabinet 16th July 2018

Page 153

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/build-back-better-our-plan-for-growth
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-review-of-disparities-in-risks-and-outcomes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-review-of-disparities-in-risks-and-outcomes


This page is intentionally left blank



1  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

Annual Report of the Director of Public Health for Wirral 
2020-2021

Embracing optimism
Living with COVID-19 P

age 155



2  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

Foreword        3

Executive summary       4 

Introduction        6 

From Wuhan to Wirral      8 

Health in Wirral       10 

Inequalities and COVID-19      20

Tackling health inequalities     29

Recommendations       31

Acknowledgments       37

Contents

P
age 156



3  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

This is my first Public Health Annual Report since all our lives have been 
changed by the COVID-19 pandemic. The impact has been devastating 
but our community has been extraordinary.

In January 2020 Wirral became one of the first 
places in the world responding to COVID-19 
when we hosted  British residents from Wuhan. 
Since then, we have all worked hard together to 
Keep Wirral Well. 

I have seen the commitment of people working 
relentlessly in the NHS and care sector, the 
endurance of people to stay at home doing things 
we have never done before, the kindness and 
compassion of our communities and the hard work 
and creativity of schools, businesses, community 
and voluntary sector groups and all our public 
sector partners to protect us. 

I extend my sincere gratitude to everyone for the 
part they have played and my condolences to the 
families of those who have succumbed to the virus. 
Although COVID-19 has been the biggest health 
challenge to affect us all for generations, many of 
the enduring health problems we faced before the 
pandemic have worsened as a result. And, whilst 
the pandemic has touched us all some people have 

felt the impact of the virus and the measures to 
control it worse than others. 

As COVID-19 becomes something we have to live 
with we must remain dedicated to improving the 
health and wellbeing of Wirral residents. To do this 
we will need to build on the shared commitment 
and effort demonstrated by residents and partners 
during the pandemic. This report looks at the health 
of the Wirral population, how the pandemic has 
impacted our community’s health and wellbeing 
and sets out the things that we all must do, 
addressing some of the old challenges and tackling 
new ones, to Keep Wirral Well.

Foreword

Julie Webster 
Director of Public Health

P
age 157



4  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

When everyone is healthy, everyone benefits. We have made great 
progress to support people to live healthier lives in Wirral. However, 
some communities continue to experience better health than others. 

The pandemic has made these differences worse, 
and the heaviest impacts have fallen on the lives 
of people already experiencing health, economic 
and social inequalities. 

These differences are the most significant health 
challenge in Wirral. They impact on the quality of 
people’s lives; the way residents use services and 
how individuals and the economy prosper.

Differences in health occur because of the social, 
economic, and environmental conditions in which 
people live. Protective factors include having 
good quality employment, a safe and warm home, 
and the best start in life. Urgent action to tackle 

longstanding health inequalities in Wirral is now 
required. The pandemic has however shown us 
what we can achieve when we all work together 
and the speed at which we can make change 
happen. 

Crucially we are presented with the opportunity 
to reduce the gap in health between our 
communities and the rest of England or face 
the possibility that failure to act together and 
at pace increases poor health in Wirral. Tackling 
health inequalities is good for everyone and is 
everyone’s business. This is a once in a generation 
opportunity to do things differently.

Executive
Summary

P
age 158



5  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

Prioritise economic 
regeneration and a 
strong local economy

1
Safeguard a healthy 
standard of living
for all

2

Strengthen action to 
address differences
in health outcomes 
and prevention

4
Residents and 
partners continue
to work together

5
Increase support 
for children, young 
people and families

3

We all want Wirral to 
be a place where every 
community is healthy and 
doing well and this report 
sets out the following 
five recommendations to 
achieve this.

P
age 159



6  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

COVID-19 has created unprecedented challenges and new 
experiences for everyone. However, whilst the pandemic has 
affected us all, the burden has not been shared equally. 

High levels of deprivation, driven in part by 
major and longstanding challenges with local 
economies and employment, are important 
reasons for poor health outcomes.

COVID-19, has had its greatest effects on those 
with chronic health conditions and has reinforced 
variations in health. It is important we do not lose 
sight of these enduring health challenges as we 
continue to respond to the pandemic which is still 
evolving. 
 
Whilst we have made great progress to support 
people to live healthier lives in Wirral, health 
inequalities are stubbornly persistent. For many 
years some Wirral residents have had some of the 
poorest health outcomes in the country.  Within 
the borough we see differences in life expectancy 
of 10.7 years for men and 11.2 years for women. 
Action to tackle health inequalities and reduce its 
impact on our community, will be a key task long 

into the future and one which will benefit every 
resident. Although some things that influence 
our health cannot be changed, such as our age 
and genes, there are many important factors 
that, collectively, we can improve. Issues such 
as poverty, unemployment, poor housing, and 
unhealthy environments are major contributors to 
this health gap. The pandemic has shown us what 
we can achieve when we all work together and 
how quickly we can make change happen. 

This report looks at health inequalities in Wirral, 
the initial impact of COVID-19 locally and what 
we need to do collectively to improve health for 
everyone in our borough.

Introduction

P
age 160



7  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

Health inequalities are ultimately about 
differences in the status of people’s health. 
They occur due to factors often outside of 
people’s direct control and as a result people 
can experience systematic, unfair, and avoidable 
differences in their health, the care they receive 
and the opportunities they have to lead healthy 
lives. Everyone is affected by health inequalities 
at some point in life, however, there are some 
individuals and communities who are impacted 
more so than others by these differences 
including but are not limited to:

• Those who are more financially disadvantaged
• Gender (depending on the issue)
• Ethnic communities
• Sexual orientation and identity (including 

transgender, non-binary, and intersex people)
• Older people
• Those with disabilities (including invisible and 

learning disabilities)

Ultimately however everyone is impacted 
by health inequalities and when everyone is 
healthier, everyone benefits.

Research has shown that health inequalities 
occur because of the different conditions into 
which we are born, grow, live, work and age. Our 
health and wellbeing is influenced by not only 
genetics and behaviours, but importantly, the 
wider determinants of health such as housing, 
employment, and the environment. 

In fact, the wider determinants have a greater 
influence on health than health care, behaviours, 
or genetics. This diagram shows how these 
factors interact and can often be experienced 
together. Particular groups can be affected across 
a number of factors, and these can be mutually 
reinforcing.

The Dahlgren and Whitehead Health Determinants Model (1991)

Housing

Health
care 

services

Work
environment Unemployment

So
cial and Community Networks

Age, sex and
hereditary

factors

Individual lifestyle factors

P
age 161



8  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

The World Health Organisation was informed of an outbreak of an unknown 
disease in Wuhan City, Hubei Province of China on 31st December 2019 
which was later identified as COVID-19 on 7th January 2020. 

In the earliest phase of the pandemic Wirral 
successfully hosted groups of British nationals 
from Wuhan to quarantine for 14 days at Arrowe 
Park Hospital. 

This response demonstrated the agility of Wirral 
Partners to respond to a quickly emerging 
situation and provided learning which supported 
our response in subsequent months. The first case 
of COVID-19 in Wirral was detected on 6th March 
2020, with the first recorded COVID-19 death on 
20th March 2020. 

During this time pressure also started to increase 
on the North West Ambulance Service as did 
calls to 111 reflecting growing community 

transmission. As COVID-19 cases began to spread 
across the globe, it became clear that significant 
action was required to manage the virus. On 
23rd March, following a further rise in cases, the 
UK Government announced the first national 
lockdown which ended in July. 

The second national lockdown took place 
between 5th November and 2nd December 2020, 
following a period of regional, tiered restrictions in 
September across the Liverpool City Region. The 
third national lockdown started on 4th January 
2021; ongoing easing of restrictions commenced 
in March 2021, Step 4 of the national roadmap 
was introduced on the 19th July 2021. 
 

From Wuhan
to Wirral

  First UK Response  

Wirral led the first national response to the 
pandemic, successfully hosting repatriated UK 
nationals from Wuhan in January 2020. This 
required rapid, local collaboration to ensure a safe 
and effective response at a time when the UK had 
not been managing COVID-19 as an emergency.

The guests were monitored and supported 
around the clock for 14 days. This involved the 
speedy development and implementation of new 
procedures and systems as well as a humanitarian 
response to support them, their families and 
friends. Ensuring that local residents felt safe and 
protected was a further part of our approach. 

Being the flagship UK responder prepared Wirral 
for what followed; providing important lessons 
about working with the NHS and creating 
dedicated teams across the Council to deal with, 
and quickly adapt to, different ways of working. 
As a result, Wirral has been tackling COVID-19 
longer than any other local authority in the 
country. 

In September 2020 the Local Government 
Association (LGA) reviewed the work of Wirral’s 
response to the pandemic and concluded 
that it had been ‘incredible’- highlighting key 
themes such as the importance of effective 
communication, pace of response to an ever-
evolving crisis, the value of partnership working 
and the need to be proactive and forward 
thinking in terms of delivering services digitally.

P
age 162



9  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

   

Number of COVID-19 positive cases in Wirral and local, national and international response.

1

2

3

4

5

8

9

10

11

12

15

16

17

18

19

Lockdown measures imposed

‘Conditional’ reopening

Wider reopening

Schools reopened (1)

Local restrictions (first stage)

Local restrictions (second stage)

Tier 3 restrictions imposed

Lockdown measures imposed (2)

Tier 2 restrictions imposed

Asymptomatic Testing Launched (Wirral)

Lockdown measures relaxed (Xmas)

Tier 3 restrictions imposed

National lockdown (3)

Roadmap 1a (inc schools reopening)

Roadmap 1b

Roadmap 2

Roadmap 3

Full lockdown removal delayed to 19th July

Restrictions lifted

6

7

13

14

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

550

600

650

01
 M

a

01
 A

pr

01
 M

ay

01
 Ju

n

01
 Ju

l

01
 A

ug

01
 S

ep

01
 O

ct

01
 N

ov

01
 D

ec

01
 Ja

n

01
 F

eb

01
 M

ar

01
 A

pr

01
 M

ay

01
 Ju

n

01
 Ju

l

1

2

3

4 6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

195

Swab testing in labs and NHS hospitals for those with clinical need 
Whole population PCR testing 
Lateral Flow Testing 

r

P
age 163



10  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

The information presented in this report describes the health 
of Wirral residents drawn from validated data sources. 

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic will not 
currently be reflected in local indicators as it 
continues to emerge and will be reported upon 
as the data becomes available. 

Due to the volume and depth of information 
available a technical intelligence commentary, 
with source data and references, is provided as a 
detailed supplement to this report.  

Health inequalities can be measured in many 
different ways. As a key measure of a population’s 
health status, life expectancy is one of the foremost 
measures of health inequality. Life expectancy at 
birth in England has shown dramatic increases 
throughout the twentieth century as health and 
living conditions improved. However, in England 
prior to the pandemic, life expectancy was stalling 
and health inequalities widening. In 2017-19, life 

expectancy at birth in Wirral was 78.5 years for 
males and 82.3 years for females (both increases on 
2016-18) compared to 79.8 and 83.4 respectively 
in England. Nationally, studies have estimated 
that, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, life 
expectancy at birth in 2020 had fallen by 0.9 and 
1.2 years for females and males respectively relative 
to 2019 levels in England and Wales. 

Increases in life expectancy have not been uniform 
across all people; marked rises have occurred 
amongst more affluent communities, while 
progress has been significantly slower for people 
living in less affluent areas. In 2019 35% of the 
population of Wirral were living in deprivation, 
a similar proportion to previous years. The 
proportion of children (aged 0-15) living in income 
deprived families in Wirral was 22%, however in a 
Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) in the east of the 

Health  
in Wirral

P
age 164



11  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

borough (E01007122 or Bidston St James East), 
62% of children are classified as living in an income 
deprived family, compared to 0.0% of children 
in another LSOA in the west of the borough 
(E01007284 or Thurstaston). Differences in life 
expectancy between those living in the most and 
least deprived wards in Wirral equate to 10.7 years 
for men and 11.2 years for women. 

Birkenhead & Tranmere was the ward with the 
lowest life expectancy at birth for males (72.8), 
whilst Greasby, Frankby & Irby had the highest 
(83.5). For females, Rock Ferry had the lowest 
life expectancy (76.5) whilst Wallasey had the 
highest (87.7). 

The gap between life expectancy at birth at ward 
level in Wirral has widened for females (from 
9.8 years to 11.2 years) but shortened for males 
(from 11.8 years to 10.7 years) compared to the 
previous period of 2016-18. The gap between life 
expectancy at birth between males and females 
in Wirral has remained the same (3.8 years) when 
compared to 2016-18. 

10.7 years 
is the differences in life expectancy for 
men living in the most and least deprived 
wards in Wirral

78

82

81
81

80

80 73

76

79

81

77

73

73
73 73

81

80

80

83 78

78

73

73

73

79

IMD 2019 Quintile
 1 Most Deprived
 2
 3
 4
 5 Least Deprived

Male Life Expectancy at Birth by Wirral Railway Station 2017-2019 (3 Years Pooled) Underlaid with IMD 2019 Deprivation Quintile
Station life expectancy is based on the Wirral ward life expectancy that the station is located in.

Wallasey

Birkenhead

Heswall

West Kirby

P
age 165



12  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

Healthy life expectancy at birth is the average 
number of years a person would expect to live in 
good health based on contemporary death rates
and prevalence of self-reported good health. 
Increases in healthy life expectancy have not 
matched the gains in life expectancy, meaning 
that although people are living longer, their later 
years are spent in poorer health, creating greater 
demands on health and social care services. In 
2017-19, healthy life expectancy in Wirral was 60.9 
years for men compared to 63.2 years for men in 
England, which is significantly worse than England. 

People in Wirral spend just three-quarters of 
their life in good health (78.6% for men, 77.6% 
for women) and these ‘Healthy Life Expectancy’ 
figures show wide variation, with those in more 
deprived areas spending even less of their lives 
in good health, compared to those living in more 
affluent areas. Targeting the causes of death which 
contribute most to the life expectancy gap between 
Wirral and England will have the biggest impact on 
reducing inequalities. The largest contributors to 
the gap were the same for both males and females 
in Wirral; namely respiratory disease (for example 
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease) followed 
by cancer. 

In males, respiratory disease contributed to 23.8% 
of the gap, followed by cancer at 20.2%. In females, 
respiratory disease contributed 28.8% of the gap 
followed by cancer at 27.9%. Poor mental health 
also affects communities in Wirral differently with 
referrals to mental health services three times 
higher in areas of deprivation than more affluent 
areas. Prevalence of depression is much higher in 
Wirral than England; at 18% of adults compared to 
11% nationally according to GP records. In areas of 
higher deprivation as many as 1 in 3 residents are 
recorded as having depression.

Female Life Expectancy at Birth by Wirral Railway Station 2017-2019 (3 Years Pooled) Underlaid with IMD 2019 Deprivation Quintile
Station life expectancy is based on the Wirral ward life expectancy that the station is located in.

81

87

83
83

84

84 78

81

81

88

81

78

78
78 78

83

83

83

85 81

81

78

78

77

85

Wallasey

Birkenhead

Heswall

West Kirby

IMD 2019 Quintile
 1 Most Deprived
 2
 3
 4
 5 Least Deprived

P
age 166



13  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

n  Circulatory: 0.2%
n  Cancer: 20.2%
n  Respiratory: 23.8%
n  Digestive: 13.2%
n  External causes: 12.9%
n  Mental and behavioural: 9.1%
n  Other: 17.4%
n  Deaths under 28 days: 3.2%

Source: Segment Tool, Public Health England, 2019

n  Circulatory: 4%
n  Cancer: 27.9%
n  Respiratory: 28.8%
n  Digestive: 12.7%
n  External causes: 7.7%
n  Mental and behavioural: 11%
n  Other: 6.3%
n  Deaths under 28 days: 1.6%

Male Female

Proportional (%) breakdown of the life expectancy gap between Wirral and England, by broad cause of death (2015-17):

P
age 167



14  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

  The causes of health  
  inequalities in Wirral  
As this report describes, there are many reasons 
why people do not have the same experience of 
health as others. The places we live and work, the 
people we know and how we live all affect our 
health and wellbeing. 

Most experts agree that these ‘broader 
determinants of health’ are more important than 
health care in ensuring a healthy population. 
The diagram on this page shows how some of 
these factors affect the health of Wirral residents 
throughout life. 
 
Whilst this shows measures in which we are doing 
better than England it also highlights important 
areas for improvement including giving children 
the best start in life, the availability of money and 
resources and living and keeping well.

Better No significant difference   Worse

Life 
expectancy  

at birth

Alcohol
related

mortality

Out of work 
benefit 

claimants

Alcohol related 
admissions 

(broad
measure)

Self-harm 
admissions
(age 10-24) 

Self-reported
wellbeing

Anti-social 
behaviour

Green space 
coverage

Good level  
of development 

at end of 
reception

Pensioners  
in poverty

Low 
birthweight

(term babies)

Smoking at 
time of  
delivery

Air
quality

Older people
receiving  

winter fuel 
payments

Healthy life 
expectancy

Food
insecurity

Obesity in 
Year 6

Infant 
mortality

Fuel poverty

Flu 
vaccination

Smoking 
prevelance 

in adults

Physical
activity

Average 
Attainment 8 

score

Starting well

Living well

Depression
(prevelance)

16/17 year  
olds who are 

NEET

Unhealthy 
weight

in adults

Life 
expectancy
at 65 years

of age

Households 
without 

a car

Households 
without
heating

children 
in care

Social
isolation

Probablity
of loneliness

Children 
living in 
poverty

Ageing well

Wirral life course statistics 2021 - A comparison to England

P
age 168



15  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

  The conditions in which  
  we live and work  
Good work
Being in good employment protects health, 
while unemployment, particularly long-term, 
contributes significantly to poor health. 

Good employment opportunities are therefore 
a fundamental part of our collective effort to 
improve health outcomes. As well as being vital 
to individual health, an economically active 
population also enables more economically 
prosperous communities that are sustainable for 
the future. Unemployment and health related 
worklessness have presented longstanding 
challenges within the borough. 

In response, Wirral has sought to address health 
related worklessness and has reduced it at a rate that 
is double the national average. However high levels 
remain that exceed regional and national averages. 

At the beginning of the pandemic in March 
2020, 20.6% of the working age population were 
unemployed (39,700 people), the same proportion 
as in England overall. By December 2020, this 
figure had increased to 26.1% (over 50,000 
people) but in England overall, this figure had 
decreased to 20.5%. Rates of unemployment also 
vary significantly within Wirral reflecting patterns 
of deprivation. Sarah’s story illustrates the 
complexity and impact of health and employment. 
  

Money and Resources
Economic hardship is strongly associated with 
poor health. Preliminary data estimates that 
Wirral currently has 17.4% of children living in 
‘relative low-income’ (child poverty). This rate is 
slightly up from 17.2% in 2019 and equates to an 
estimated 10,490 children affected by poverty 
in the borough. This overall figure masks huge 
differences across wards, with just four wards 
(Seacombe, Birkenhead & Tranmere, Bidston & St. 
James, Rock Ferry) accounting for 41% of the total 
number of children living in low income families 
across the borough. 

Our surroundings
The environment in which we live has a major 
impact on our health. In 2019 35% of the 
population of Wirral were living in deprivation. 
Deprivation is measured in deciles that are based 
on the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2019 which 
is the official measure of relative deprivation. 

  Sarah’s Story  

Sarah had previously worked as a 
theatre nurse in hospitals around 
England. She had to leave work due to 
stress and anxiety. Sarah disclosed that 
during the following months her mental 
health and wellbeing deteriorated 
significantly.

Sarah applied for Universal Credit. During the 
six weeks before she received her first universal 
credit payment, Sarah started drinking, became 
socially isolated and built up rent arrears. She 
is currently paying back payments on her rent, 
leading her to require the use of the Foodbank on 
several occasions and social supermarkets. 

During her first meeting with the Connect 
Us team, a local service that encourages 
independence and provides support, Sarah 
became upset and angry at the situation; she 
started to shout and then broke down saying she 
“never used to be like this”. She told us that she 
has lost motivation in life and no longer looks 
after her personal care as she used to. 

Sarah does not have a smart phone or access to 
the internet meaning she is unable to access her 
journal to keep in touch with her Job Coach. This 
is aggravating her anxiety about the situation 
which leads her to drink more. The stress of 
this has caused her to consider suicide. Sarah is 
working with the Connect Us team to enable her 
to get where she wants to be.

10,490 
Estimated children  
affected by poverty,
in the borough...

Evidence shows that good 
quality work is beneficial to an 
individual’s health and wellbeing.

P
age 169



16  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

This map illustrates areas of deprivation in Wirral 
as defined by the Index of Multiple Deprivation. 

Whilst all Wirral residents have good access 
to green and blue spaces, variation in usage is 
prevalent. 

Air pollutants (specifically NO2 and PM2.5) have 
a negative impact on health and are consequently 
monitored across Wirral. Deaths attributable 
to particulate air pollution in Wirral (3.9%) is 
estimated to be lower than both the North West 
(4.1%) and England (5.1%). 

Wirral residents consider low levels of crime and 
anti-social behaviour to be the most important 
aspect of a good neighbourhood. Wirral’s crime rate 
is the lowest in Merseyside. However, levels, and 
types of crime vary across Wirral. Birkenhead and 
Wallasey have higher rates of anti-social behaviour 
and crime (per 1,000 population). By contrast 
neighbourhoods in West Wirral and South Wirral, 
have some of the lowest anti-social behaviour and 
crime (per 1,000 population) in England. 

Levels of Deprivation within Wirral
Poorer health outcomes mirror this pattern.

Wallasey

Birkenhead

Heswall

West Kirby

IMD 2019 Quintile
 1 Most Deprived
 2
 3
 4
 5 Least Deprived

Higher crime and anti-social behaviour 
in north and east Wirral ...

Lower crime and 
anti-social behaviour 
in west and 
south Wirral

P
age 170



17  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

Health and Housing
Where we live, the conditions we live in and 
whether we can afford to appropriately heat our 
home all impact on our health and wellbeing. 
House prices are lower in Wirral than average, 
reflecting a lower cost of living. Privately renting a 
home is the only housing option available to some 
people and in some areas, properties in the private 
rented sector are more likely (than both privately 
owned and socially owned housing) to suffer from 
poor conditions and inadequate management.  

In order to ensure the safety and wellbeing of 
residents, councils have the duty to ensure that 
remedial action is taken on private properties 
where there are serious hazards that affect the 
health, safety and wellbeing of the occupiers. 
There were a total of 774 interventions in the 
two years of 2017 and 2018, 1 in 5 of these 
were concentrated in just two Wirral wards – 
Birkenhead & Tranmere and Seacombe. 

Poor conditions can worsen the physical and 
mental ill health of those who live there. Damp and 
cold can make respiratory conditions worse and 
living in disrepair can be extremely stressful.

Education and Skills
Increased levels of educational attainment are 
strongly and significantly related to improved 
health outcomes. Wirral has relatively high skill 
levels, when compared to the other benchmark 
areas, with 39% of the working age having Level 3 
or 4 qualifications. 

Wirral also has a significantly low proportion of its 
population with No Qualification (around 23%) or 
Level 1 qualifications, which is below the regional 
average but slightly above the England and 
Wales average of 22%. Wirral also has a relatively 
low rate of young people Not in Employment, 
Education or Training (NEET). In Wirral 63% of 
working-age residents do not hold a degree level 
qualification (over 120,000 people), which is 
higher than the national average. 

Transport
Access to a car means someone can be more 
socially mobile as well as access services more 
easily. According to the 2011 Census, 28% of 
Wirral households had no access to a vehicle; this 
differed from 55.6% of households in Birkenhead 
& Tranmere to 10% of households in Heswall. 
This has implications for the ability to get to work, 
connect with others and receive healthcare.

  Sandra’s Story  

Sandra was first referred to 
Connect Us with issues relating 
to food/fuel poverty and benefit 
delays. Priority referrals were made 
to the Foodbank and debt welfare 
team. 
 
Through discussions with her 
connector Sandra disclosed that she 
had a 2 year old living at home with 
her, one child placed in foster care 
and adult children living independently. Sandra 
also shared that she has PTSD and had been in a 
domestic abuse situation for 20 years that ended 
3 years ago. Sandra shared a variety of highly 
sensitive and complex family issues that had left 
her struggling to cope. 

Sandra was supported to liaise with the child’s 
social worker and put an agreed plan together. 
She was also referred to the Household Into 
Work team to support her adult children 
and, with encouragement, attended her 
local community centre where, after building 
relationships, she started to volunteer. Sandra 
also attended a variety of courses through the 
links made in community settings including 
paediatric first aid, introduction to volunteering, 
food hygiene and resilient parenting. Sandra 
is no longer volunteering at the centre but 
continues to access support through the service 
to maintain her health and wellbeing.

55.6% 
of households in Birkenhead 
and Tranmere had 
no access to a vehicle  
according to the 
2011 census

Rates of unemployment also 
vary significantly reflecting 
patterns of deprivation.

P
age 171



18  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

  Our social and  
  community networks  
Community life, social connections and having 
a voice in local decisions are all factors that can 
help buffer against disease and influence our 
behaviour. Our social environment impacts on 
our health and wellbeing as much as our physical 
environment. 

There are estimated to be more than 4,000 
local community, voluntary and faith sector 
organisations in Wirral providing a range of 
activities and services for local people. The 
‘Community Needs Index’ measures multiple types 
of social connectivity. A higher score indicates that 
an area has higher levels of community need. The 
overall score for Wirral in 2019 indicated a higher 
level of need compared to England (68 in England, 
compared to 96 in Wirral), but also that there were 
significant  differences within Wirral; for example, 
scoring by ward varied from 122 in Bidston & St. 
James to 41 in Clatterbridge.

Connecting with friends, family and our 
community is not however limited to physical 
spaces. The Internet and digital spaces are also 
ways for people to remain connected and can 
be sources of emotional support to help with 
maintaining good levels of wellbeing. However, 
they may not be accessible for everyone if they 
cannot afford devices to use or the monthly bill to 
maintain them or lack the skills to use the internet 
to connect with others. Reflecting patterns of 
deprivation, access to digital services varies across 
Wirral. Whilst computer usage in Wirral libraries is 
12 times higher in areas of deprivation; eBook and 
loans are higher in more affluent areas.

  Access to health and  
  care services  
The location of our homes can impact on how 
easy it is for us to access health care services and 
subsequently our health. These services include 
GP surgeries, hospitals, pharmacies and dentists. 
In Wirral, accessibility is limited both in some areas 
of deprivation (Bidston, Beechwood, parts of 
Seacombe, Poulton and Moreton for example), but 
also in some affluent areas (such as Caldy, Spital, 
Dibbinsdale, Irby and Thornton Hough).  

60.9
healthy life expectancy in 

Wirral for  men compared to 
63.2 years for men in England

35% 
of the population 

live in 
deprivation

1 in 3
residents recorded as 

having depression in areas 
of  higher deprivation

10K
children in Wirral are

estimated to be 
affected by poverty

39% 
of working age people 

have Level 3 or 4 
qualifications

4,000 
local community, voluntary and faith sector 
organisations in Wirral providing a range of 
activities and services for local people

P
age 172



19  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

  How we live our lives  
In Wirral there are more children and adults 
who are overweight or obese than in England 
with admissions for drug-related, mental and/
or behavioural disorders more than double the 
national rate. Deprivation is strongly associated 
with increasing prevalence. 

The proportion of adults classified as either 
overweight or obese varies from 66.6% of adults 
in the least affluent parts of Wirral compared to 
58.8% of adults in the most affluent. 

Harmful alcohol consumption patterns match 
deprivation across the borough. The most 
deprived wards in Wirral had the highest rate of 
mortality that was specifically caused by alcohol; 
Birkenhead & Tranmere had a rate of 36.7 alcohol 
related deaths per 100,000 people, compared to 
Pensby & Thingwall ward where the rate was 1.9 
alcohol related deaths per 100,000 people. 

Whilst Wirral’s smoking prevalence (10.7%) is 
lower than national comparisons, this varies 
significantly between communities. These 
differences are also evident during pregnancy 
with smoking in pregnancy, and at delivery, higher 
in less affluent communities and breastfeeding is 
lower.

Harmful alcohol consumption 
patterns match deprivation 
across the borough.

P
age 173



20  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

The impact of COVID-19 on the health of our population has been significant, 
not only for those who have sadly died from the virus but also the impact of 
national lockdowns on residents’ mental and physical wellbeing.

To date (up to 11/9/2021) 38,861 residents 
have contracted the virus, 2,519 have been 
hospitalised as a result and sadly 1,002 local 
people have died. 

In August 2020, Public Health England 
published a report on the impact of COVID-19 
– Disparities in the risks and outcomes of 
COVID-19. They reported that people living 
in deprived areas had higher death rates from 
COVID-19 than those living in less deprived 
areas. A report for Wirral exploring the themes 
identified in the Public Health England report 
highlighted the following similar findings: 

• Age: COVID-19 deaths were strongly 
associated with age in Wirral (and nationally).

• Sex: Men were at higher risk of dying from 
COVID-19 in Wirral (and nationally).

• Deprivation: both positive cases and death 
rates from COVID-19 were highest in the most 
deprived areas of Wirral (once Care Home 
deaths were excluded).

• Ethnicity: the considerable number of deaths 
where ethnicity was unrecorded in Wirral, 
combined with the (relative to England) low 
BAME population, mean the impact of ethnicity 
is unclear locally.

Inequalities and 
COVID-19

P
age 174



21  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

Age
COVID-19 diagnosis 
rates increased with 
age for both males                     

and females

Sex
Working age males  

diagnosed with COVID-19 
were twice as likely to       

die as females

Ethnicity
Deaths from COVID-19  

were highest among  
people of Black and   
Asian ethnic groups

Deprivation
Mortality from COVID-19 

in the most deprived                 
areas more than double         
the least deprived area

Occupation
A significantly higher rate 
of death from COVID-19         

for those working in                
lower skilled jobs

Co-morbidity
Morbidity increased for 

those people with existing 
diseases or for those who 

are obese

National disparities in the risk
and outcomes of COVID-19

• Occupation: most deaths in Wirral occurred 
in the retired population, but among those of 
working age, the largest proportion of deaths 
from COVID-19 locally were in those working 
in Health and Social Work, Construction and 
the Motor Trade, Wholesale and Retail sectors.

• Co-morbidities: the majority of people who 
died from COVID-19 in Wirral had at least 1 
pre-existing condition (or co-morbidity), the 
average number was 3.

  Living through  
  the pandemic  
Living through a global pandemic has had a huge 
impact on the health and wellbeing of all our 
residents. However, it is not only the virus itself 
that has affected our communities differently, 
the impact of the measures to contain COVID-19 
has also varied. Measures designed to control the 
spread of infection, such as lockdown and social 
distancing, have had their own effects on health 
and wellbeing through isolation and loneliness, 
job losses, financial difficulties, school closures, 
and reduced access to services. 

The emerging data and evidence suggest that 
there are a number of health indicators that 
have worsened in Wirral as a result of the 
pandemic, which were in some cases already 
worse than England.

The information below sets out some of the early 
and emerging impacts of COVID-19. This is based 
on research nationally and regionally exploring 
the impact of the pandemic on health and 
wellbeing. As validated intelligence systems 
often have substantial time lag this information 
has been locally collated. It will need to be 
regularly reviewed, updated, and validated to 
better understand the wider impact of the 
pandemic in order to deliver strategies, services 
and programmes relevant to Wirral residents.

Lockdown and social distancing, 
have had their own effects on 
health and wellbeing.

38,861 
residents have contracted the virus up to 
11/09/2021, and sadly...

1,002 
local people have died

P
age 175



22  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

  The conditions in which  
  we live and work  
Money and Resources
Since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic Wirral 
has recorded a 65% increase in Universal Credit 
claimants.  Young workers and low earners have 
been impacted the most and household incomes 
have fallen particularly among lowest earners. 
Prior to the pandemic, Wirral had made significant 
progress closing many of the gaps with national 
averages. However, the pandemic exposed other 
areas of concern, and highlighted new challenges 
including: 

• An unprecedented fall in employment, 
including self-employment

• Increased health-related inactivity, including 
mental health

• A need for re-skilling in the post-pandemic 
world

• The challenges with high levels of precarious 
work and zero-hour contracts

• The impact on young people of disrupted 
education

The pandemic brought an unprecedented 
demand for emergency food and welfare support. 
The number of adults who are food insecure 
is estimated to have quadrupled. Foodbanks 
have experienced a rapid increase in demand 
but alongside this have seen reduced volunteer 
numbers. 

A new, co-ordinated emergency response to food 
and welfare support in Wirral was implemented 
within a week at the start of the pandemic which 
distributed more than 20,000 emergency food 
hampers during lockdown. The Council also 
issued more than 8,000 emergency and crisis 
financial awards with food, utilities, white goods, 
essential furniture, and other items throughout 
the pandemic. 

Children eligible for free school meals increased 
from 10,848 (Jan 2020) to 12,652 (Jan 2021). Data 
provided by Wirral Met College has also shown that 
317 of their 835 students who were supported 
with meals during the lockdown period, would not 
previously have met the Free School Meal (FSM) 
criteria and had been identified through enhanced 
college support.   

Fuel debt has been of increasing concern to 
agencies across the borough and through 
COVID-19 funding from the Department for Work 
& Pensions, the Council, working with Citizens 
Advice Wirral and Energy Projects Plus, has been 
able to significantly reduce or clear more than a 
total of £150,000 of utility debt from vulnerable 
households.  This has improved many individuals’ 
physical and mental health, breaking the cycle of 

20,000 
emergency food hampers
distributed in Wirral 
during lockdown 
following an emergency 
response to food and 
welfare support  

P
age 176



23  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

debt, and enabling access to better energy tariffs, 
in turn giving access to heating that either had to 
be severely rationed or not turned on at all even in 
the coldest of weather.

Citizen Advice nationally report at present ½ 
million private tenants in the UK are behind on 
their rent. The average tenant owes more than 
£700 in arrears and 1 in 4 private tenants have 
been threatened with eviction or cancellation 
of contract by their landlord. Easing of evictions 
has been very supportive during the pandemic 
however with the policy due to change nationally 
and evictions beginning to re-commence many 
underlying debt issues have not been addressed.

It should be recognised that the overall estimate 
of families struggling financially is likely to be 
a significant underestimation, as there will be 
families yet unknown that have been impacted 
for the first time during the pandemic. The impact 
of the financial burden on families will be seen for 
years to come.

Living conditions
People have spent far more time at home during 
lockdown which may play a role in exacerbating 
poor health and wellbeing impacts arising from 
poor quality or inadequate housing.   

Approximately 400 proactive housing standard 
inspections have had to be restricted in line with 
Government guidance on a risk based assessment, 
with priority for inspections given to high risk 
cases.  There has also been a significant increase 
for homelessness and rehousing services generally 
that has occurred during the pandemic, directly 
arising from the Government’s Everyone In 
campaign but also from people spending more 
time at home.  

Since 1st April 2020, 4,707 new applications 
have been received and there is likely to be an 
increased demand for housing options advice due 
to the courts reopening and the use of Section 
21 – no fault eviction notices that the Council is 
aware have or are being issued.  As a result of the 
pandemic, there has also been an increase in 
people working, accessing services and socialising 
from home. 

These practices are likely to continue to some 
degree in the short term at least. However, a large 
number of people in communities have found 
themselves digitally excluded due to the pandemic 
with low income households having no or limited 
access to the internet or hardware devices or lack 
of skills to be able to access the internet. 

This was further compounded for many where 
English was not their first language, or they had 
learning difficulties, mental health problems, were 
deaf, blind or had other cognitive impairments. It is 
likely also that older residents will find it the most 
difficult to adapt to the increasing use of digital and 

4,707
new housing applications have  
been received and there will
be an increase in demand.

P
age 177



24  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

  Jane’s Story  

Jane was referred to Citizens Advice 
Wirral after being discharged from 
hospital, where she had been very 
unwell with Coronavirus. 

Despite her having recovered from 
the virus, she remained very poorly. 
As a result, she was unable to work 
and received Statutory Sick Pay only. 

She was worried about her ability to 
pay for food and fuel, along with looking after 
herself as she lived alone and was still very weak. 
The Citizens Advice adviser helped support Jane 
with a claim for Universal Credit, and liaised 
weekly with the Emergency Food Hub to arrange 
regular food parcels to be delivered, along with 
vouchers for fuel. 

The service has also helped Jane with an application 
for help with her personal care, and appointed a 
Social Prescriber who checked in weekly on her 
wellbeing. Jane continued to receive food and fuel 
support, which is helping her recovery. 

She has also been assessed as entitled to a care 
package that includes two home visits per day, 
that ensures she is receiving all the personal care 
that she requires. As she has continued to suffer 
with ongoing poor health, Citizens Advice Wirral 
has also assisted her with an application for the 
benefit Personal Independence Payment and she 
is awaiting the outcome.  

online technology, as firms and service providers 
may permanently adopt some of the new practices 
they have employed during the lockdown. 

During the pandemic recognising the limitations 
of having a digital offer available, the Connect Us 
service delivered over 30,000 leaflets to residents 
across the borough reinforcing key prevention 
messages but also offering their service as a way 
of supporting residents. During the pandemic they 
have completed more than 13,000 wellbeing calls 
to individuals as well as completing other tasks 
such as supporting with prescription pick-ups, 
carrying out shopping for people and walking dogs. 

Education and Skills   
There is emerging evidence to suggest that 
children and young people may be hit hardest 
by the COVID-19 control measures which risks 
exacerbating existing inequalities in educational 
attainment. On average, pupils in Wirral leave 
primary education with significantly lower 
attainment than pupils in England. By contrast 

pupils in Wirral have a relatively high level of 
attainment upon leaving secondary school 
compared to the national average. However, it 
remains the case that many pupils in secondary 
education will be negatively affected by the 
closure of schools during the lockdown. 

National estimates suggest that during the first 
lockdown, the disadvantage gap amongst 7 year 
olds increased by 40%. Poorer 7 year olds are now 
estimated to be seven months behind their more 
affluent peers. Furthermore, pupils in Wirral are 
more likely to leave secondary education with lower 
attainment than disadvantaged pupils in England.

In line with the national trend, there has been 
a significant increase locally in the number of 
electively home-educated children (EHE). For 
primary school age children for example, the 
figure of EHE has risen from 38 prior to the 
pandemic, to 65 following full school re-opening. 
Whilst many parental decisions to withdraw their 
children from school have been driven by COVID-
related anxiety, there are also some additions to 
EHE where parents found home-learning over 
lockdown to be a positive experience which they 
wanted to continue.

For children attending Early Years settings, there 
was evidence of increased need across the 14 
months of the pandemic period (most noticeably 
half-way through). There was a 52% increase (from 
192 to 291) in referrals to the Early Years Special 
Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Officer 
during the period of the 1st of September 2019 to 
the 31st August 2020, compared to the previous 
year. 

This upwards trend in need has continued into 
2021, with 299 new referrals from 1st September 
2020 up to 24th May 2021. By far the most 

13,000
wellbeing calls completed  
by Connect Us during the  
pandemic as well as  
completeing other  
supportive tasks

P
age 178



25  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

13K
wellbeing calls made to 

individuals as well as many 
other supportive tasks

5% 
of 16-17 year olds 

in the district 
are NEET

52%
increase in referrals 

to the Early Years 
SEND Officer

8K
emergency and crisis 

financial awards 
issued by the Council

65% 
increase in

Universal Credit
claimants

common reason for referral is for support with 
‘Communication and Language’. Lack of access to 
physical one-to-one support during this time is 
likely to have resulted in delays to many children 
reaching key developmental milestones. The 
number of permanent closures (primarily due 
to financial instability) amongst local Early Years 
settings during the pandemic period rose by 52%, 
despite national/local packages of support.

Those with no, or not many, qualifications will be 
most vulnerable to increases in unemployment 
and will be least able to take advantage of new 
opportunities when the economy starts to recover. 
Short-term job risk is highly correlated with level of 
education. 

Wirral has a high level of skilled residents however 
there are still large numbers without any formal 
qualifications. Wirral has a relatively low rate of 
young people Not in Employment, Education or 
Training (NEET); and the temporary closure of 
schools, colleges and training facilities during the 
pandemic will likely increase the number of young 
people who are classed as NEET. Around 5% of 
16-17 year olds in the district are NEET, compared 
to 5.5% of 16-17 year olds in England overall. 

Enrolments in apprenticeships within Wirral 
have been falling in recent years and has been 
exacerbated by the pandemic restrictions in 
2020/21 with lockdown leading to a further 
drop in vocational training participation. Younger 
apprentices seem to be particularly badly affected, 
with surveys of providers in the Liverpool City 
Region suggesting that around 40% of apprentices 
aged 16-18 had been placed on furlough in May 
2020. The longer-term effects of this are yet to be 
realised. 

Transport
The impact on transport has been mixed. Falls in 
road journeys during the early period of lockdown 
have generally been short-lived. A positive 
impact has been seen with more people cycling, 
but it is unclear whether the changes to cycling 
infrastructure will have a lasting impact.

In line with national trends, road traffic levels fell 
very markedly during the first period of lockdown 
in spring 2020 and fell as low as 20% of pre-
COVID-19 levels in April 2020. Public transport 
usage fell markedly as a result of the stay at home 
instruction and capacity restrictions, reducing 
the numbers able to travel from 192 on standard 
three car service to 50 passengers. Patronage on 
intercity services fell to single digit percentages 
compared to pre-COVID-19 levels. Currently 
levels of traffic on the roads have grown faster 
than equivalent levels of public transport.

                                         

                     
  
  
  
  

80%
fall in road traffic during  
the early period of lockdown 
has been short-lived

P
age 179



26  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

  
  Our social and  
  community networks  
The COVID-19 pandemic has had both positive 
and negative impacts on social and community 
networks. There is evidence of increased civic 
participation in response to the pandemic and a 
positive impact on social cohesion. Thousands of 
new volunteer groups have been established in 
communities across the country. 

However, social isolation and loneliness have 
impacted on wellbeing for many and increased 
stress due to isolation, employment issues, 
difficulties of home-schooling and additional 
financial strain. These factors, combined with the 
reduced access to services for vulnerable children 
and their families has meant that the risk of family 
violence, neglect or abuse, mental health problems 
and financial struggles have all increased. 

Not all impacts of the pandemic have been negative 
however. One indirect impact that COVID-19 
brought was a shared sense of neighbours and 
communities looking out for each other, boosting 
social cohesion across the country and Wirral. The 
Office for National Statistics (ONS) conducted 
research nationally and the majority of people 
who responded believed that society will be much 
kinder to each other as a result of the pandemic 
experience. 

In Wirral during the height of the second lockdown, 
there were expressions of interest from more 
than 1000 volunteers to support and help in the 
pandemic. Community Action Wirral placed more 
than 700 of these into organisations locally, who 
were in addition to the huge number of volunteers 
already aligned with those organisations. In 
November 2020, the Volunteer Responders 
National Scheme reported that they had received 
expressions of interest from 2427 volunteers in the 
Wirral area.  They had 621 referrals with 4610 tasks 
undertaken. At the beginning of the third lockdown 
in January, a further 270 volunteers came forward 
to become Volunteer Marshalls to support  the 
COVID-19 Vaccination sites. 

The COVID-19 Humanitarian Cell, consisting 
of more than 70 established local community, 
voluntary and faith sector groups, reported 
supporting first time service users seeking 
assistance for employment, new skills, 
homelessness, mental health and financial concerns 
due to policy changes introduced during the 
pandemic.

  Micha Comments  

The COVID-19 pandemic 
has highlighted that we 
should all feel confident 
that we are either giving or 
receiving quality care and 
treatment.

We have got some way to 
travel before we see true equity in accessing care 
and treatment. We should all be supported in our 
journey to know our choices and options and how 
to have a voice around the services we access.

The hurdles ahead will require the support of 
our NHS, local government and third sector 
partners. With services facing a backlog of care 
caused by the response to COVID-19 and many 
communities facing an uncertain economic 
future.
 
It shouldn’t matter who you are, we must do all 
we can to stop existing health inequalities from 
becoming worse.

Micha Woodworth, 
Project Manager 
Healthwatch Wirral

1,000+
volunteers expressed 
interest to provide support 
and help in the pandemic

P
age 180



27  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

  Access to health and  
  care services  
The COVID-19 pandemic has both disrupted 
and changed the delivery of NHS and social care 
services.  

It is expected that long-term conditions will have 
worsened for many people over the course of 
lockdown and there are particular concerns about 
the impact of delayed cancer diagnoses and the 
knock-on effects as NHS services are resumed. 
There is also increasing evidence that people with 
mild to moderate COVID-19 disease may experience 
a prolonged illness with frequent relapses.

In Wirral, waiting lists for hospital treatment have 
increased by 11% compared to March 2020; 
totalling 2,500 patients, with more patients now 
waiting longer for planned treatment. 

The number of people waiting for over a year 
has grown significantly from 15 in March 2020 
to 1,280 in March 2021. The length of time to 
treatment has also increased in the following 
services: Dermatology, ENT, General Surgery, 
Gynaecology, Ophthalmology, Oral Surgery, 
Trauma and Orthopaedics and Urology. 

The percentage of patients starting treatment 
within 62 days following referral from a national 
cancer screening service was down to 92.6% in 
March 2020 and fell even more dramatically in 
March 2021 to 66.7%. This follows breast and 
bowel screening services being paused locally in 
March 2020. 

Experience from previous pandemics suggests 
that mental ill health will increase, although the 
scale is difficult to predict. A range of factors may 
be drivers of poor mental health, including those 
directly related to COVID-19 (e.g., more generally 
or because of the loss of family and friends to 
COVID-19) and those indirectly related through 
the effects of the social distancing and lockdown 
measures (e.g., through social isolation or because 
of financial insecurity). 

A nationwide study from the Centre for Mental 
Health estimates that 8.5 million adults and 1.5 
million children in England will need support 
for depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress 
disorders and other mental health difficulties in the 
coming months and years. This is the equivalent 
of 20% of all adults and 15% of all children. The 
IAPT Service in Wirral has seen an increase of 
12% in referrals from the position during the same 
period in 2019. The position between 2019/20 
and 2020/21 shows an increase of 43% when 
comparing a single month position.  

8.5million
adults and 1.5 million children in England 
will need support for  mental health 
difficulties in the coming months and years

P
age 181



28  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

Wirral already faces mental health challenges 
across its whole population. The rate of 
hospitalisation amongst those under 18 because 
of mental health conditions is significantly above 
the national average and the highest within the 
Liverpool City Region. 

The lack of visibility of most families during 
lockdown will inevitably have led to ‘hidden 
harm’, where potential safeguarding issues have 
been largely hidden from view. It must also be 
acknowledged that many families that were not 
particularly vulnerable prior to the pandemic, will 
now have become so. Nationally, it is estimated 
that the number of children harmed by abuse or 
neglect rose by 27% in the first lockdown. 

For Wirral, referrals into children’s social care 
fell by 25% from April 2020 to the end of March 
2021, compared to the same period in the 
previous year. As schools are consistently one 

of the largest sources of referral into children’s 
social care, this period of significantly reduced 
access to educational settings has had a worrying 
impact and highlights the ongoing concerns about 
‘hidden harm’ during lockdown. Over the same 
time period, the number of children in formal child 
protection increased slightly, owing to numbers 
of Children in Need (CIN) growing during the 
pandemic.

  How we live our lives  
The wider determinants of health both shape 
the distribution of, and trigger stress pathways 
associated with the adoption of unhealthy 
behaviours. Lockdown has impacted on these 
behaviours in different ways. People who were 
drinking alcohol the most often before lockdown 
are also the ones who are drinking alcohol more 
often and in greater quantities on a typical drinking 
day. People already drinking alcohol the least often 
have cut down in the greatest number. 

The impacts on smoking appear to be more 
positive, with smokers showing an increased 
motivation to quit and to stay smoke free during 
the pandemic. Findings are less clear in relation 
to diet. Non-UK studies show decreased physical 
activity and increased eating and snacking during 
lockdown. In England, physical activity behaviours 
among children and adults have been disrupted by 
lockdown. Although some groups have continued 
to be physically active, groups that were least 
active before lockdown are finding it harder.

25%
fall in children’s social  
care referrals from  
April 2020 to the end  
of March 2021

P
age 182



29  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

This report shows that good health is not experienced evenly across our 
borough. People born in certain parts of Wirral can unfortunately expect 
to live shorter lives than those born in other areas. 

Rather than any biological difference, this is due 
to preventable and avoidable factors based on 
the wide range of issues that impact on health 
over someone’s lifetime.

Health inequalities are not however inevitable, and 
the gaps in good health are therefore not fixed. 
Evidence shows that a comprehensive approach 
to tackling them can make a difference. Taking 
action to improve living and working conditions, 
the support available to people and how they 
look after themselves will make the biggest 
impact on reducing inequalities, targeting the 
causes of death which contribute most to the life 
expectancy gap in Wirral. 

There has been considerable research carried 
out, over many years, to determine the best 
interventions to minimise the gap in health 
between people. The most recent being the ‘Fair 
Society, Healthy Lives’ report, published in 2010, 
by Professor Sir Michael Marmot. This concludes 
the following areas as key to reducing health 
inequalities:

• Give every child the best start in life: This 
can be done by more investment of spending 
on early years, with allocation of funding 
proportionately higher for more deprived 
areas with the goal of reducing child poverty. 

• Enable all children, young people, and adults 
to maximise their capabilities and have control 
over their lives: Reducing differences in 

Tackling health 
inequalities

P
age 183



30  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

childhood educational attainment by investing 
in preventative services to reduce exclusions 
and support schools to stop off-rolling pupils.

• Create fair employment and good work for 
all: Investing in good quality active labour 
markets and increasing the number of post-
school apprenticeships as well as support 
in-work training throughout the life course. 
Also reducing the high levels of poor-quality 
work and precarious employment.

• Ensure a healthy standard of living for all: 
Put health equity and wellbeing at the heart 
of local economic planning and strategy by 
adopting inclusive growth and social value 
approaches locally to value health and 
wellbeing as well as, or more than, economic 
efficiency.

• Create and develop healthy and sustainable 
places and communities: Invest in the 
development of economic, social, and cultural 
resources in the most deprived communities. 

We have made great progress to support people 
to live healthier lives in Wirral. However, the 
impact of COVID-19 has reaffirmed the need 
to prioritise action to tackle health inequalities, 
accelerate it at pace and augment it at scale. 

Whilst the pandemic has been unprecedented 
it has also led to increased connectivity across 
organisations, sectors, and residents in the 
borough, building upon a strong co-operative 
ethos that has developed over a very long time. 

This was also in part because everyone had a 
shared vision to Keep Wirral Well. The pandemic 
has demonstrated what we can achieve 
together and the speed at which change can 
happen. Maintaining this, with a focus on health 
inequalities, presents an opportunity to improve 
everyone’s health.

P
age 184



31  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

Reflecting on the key challenges and 
opportunities highlighted in this report, the 
following recommendations have been made 
to improve health and wellbeing and reduce 
health inequalities in Wirral.

P
age 185



32  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

It is an exciting time for Wirral. The programme 
of regeneration in the borough is one of the 
biggest in Europe and will create a world class 
standard of economic opportunity, digital 
connectivity and growth for Wirral and our 
residents.

This economic regeneration has been a 
cornerstone of Wirral’s plan to improve outcomes 
for local people and tackle health, economic and 
social inequalities.  

However, unemployment, health related 
worklessness and poverty have been prevailing 
in some of our communities for generations. 
The pandemic has also heightened the need to 
rapidly augment support for people to enter the 
job market and maintain economic independence 
to minimise the impact on already vulnerable 
communities. The economy and health are 
interdependent; focusing on health outcomes 
allows the economy to flourish in the longer term, 
which is supportive of better health.

I therefore recommend that:

• Economic development plans are reviewed to 
ensure that they respond to the impact of the 
pandemic on residents and communities.

• Economic Regeneration and Development 
Committee, working with the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, should consider the 
development of an Economic Inequalities 
Strategy for Wirral.

• Employment support services and skills 
development programmes are available, 
accessible and sustainable to ensure income 
maximisation and support those most 
susceptible to job loss and job insecurity.

• Partners embed a ‘Health in All’ policies approach 
to regeneration planning. We can use this 
approach to ensure that the wide breadth of 
health impacts of the pandemic is part of routine 
decision making and to reduce health inequalities.

Prioritise economic 
regeneration and a 
strong local economy

1

P
age 186



33  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

The place where we spend most of our time has a 
huge influence on how healthy we are. Everyone 
in Wirral should have access to safe, secure and 
affordable places to live that better prevent ill 
health. 

Ensuring that the homes people live in are safe 
and warm and that residents have support to 
prevent homelessness and to assist them if they 
are homeless is a key priority in the aftermath of 
the pandemic as well as a key long term action to 
improve health and reduce health inequalities.

I therefore recommend that:

• Wirral’s Housing Strategy is reviewed to reflect 
the changing needs of residents and to address 
the challenges that have emerged during the 
pandemic.

• There is an integrated information and advice 
offer to enable people to access support when 
they need it.

• We build on the progress made during the 
pandemic to support people who are homeless.

• We define and streamline fuel poverty support 
pathways with partners across Wirral learning 
from the COVID-19 response.

• Relevant partners use Health Impact 
Assessment in spatial planning to identify risks 
to good health and ways to mitigate them.

Safeguard a healthy 
standard of living
for all

2

P
age 187



34  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

Having the best start in life has lifelong impacts 
on someone’s health and wellbeing which leads 
to better economic prospects and reduced long-
term illnesses.
 
I therefore recommend that:

• The impacts of the pandemic on our young 
people are examined to ensure that children 
and families have the support they need, to 
predict future areas requiring action and inform 
the offer for early years’ support from the 
Council and other partners.

• Work continues to develop the early help 
and intervention model underpinned by a 
prevention framework.

• Work with families, early years, schools, further 
and higher education sectors continues to 
ensure all children and young people fulfil their 
potential through a ‘cradle to career’ approach.

• Ensure that services are maximising 
opportunities to mitigate the impact of the 
pandemic on children, young people and 
families with a focus on physical and mental 
health.

• Review existing support and services for our 
most vulnerable children, young people and 
families to ensure they are resilient, accessible 
and driving progress.

Increase support for 
children, young 
people and families 

3

P
age 188



35  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

The pandemic has highlighted the importance 
of being in good physical and mental health 
to reduce the risk of morbidity and mortality 
from COVID-19. Restoring services is vital as is 
ensuring that they are used by those who need 
them most. 

All residents should have equal opportunities to 
access quality care, treatment and support that 
improves health and wellbeing and builds resilience.

I therefore recommend that:

• Local health and care partners focus on tackling 
inequalities in healthcare provision - this is their 
direct responsibility and must be the prime 
focus of their action.

• Local NHS partners ensure they can access 
high-quality data to measure performance on 
reducing health inequalities across services. This 
includes being able to breakdown outcome and 
performance data by deprivation and ethnicity. 

• NHS partners use their role as local anchor 
institutions and the choices they make as an 
employer and a purchaser to reduce inequalities. 

• Preventative programmes and proactive health 
management for groups at greatest risk of poor 
health outcomes are accelerated across key 
service areas as outlined within the NHS Long 
Term Plan. 

• The developing integrated care system and 
local providers have a named executive board-
level lead for tackling health inequalities and 
access training made available by local and 
national partners.

• Local NHS partners engage with and play 
a supportive role in multi-agency action 
to improve the social, economic and 
environmental conditions in which people live. 

• Health and care partners focus on good 
infection prevention control to ensure 
avoidable infections are prevented.

Strengthen action to 
address differences in 
health outcomes and 
prevention

4

P
age 189



36  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

The prevalent theme throughout the pandemic 
has been the importance and effectiveness of the 
partnerships across Wirral. 

The landscape has changed for good and the 
pandemic has presented us with an opportunity 
to build on our partnership working and work 
together to Keep Wirral Well by ensuring health 
inequalities is everyone’s business. 

The pandemic has reinforced what we already 
knew in Wirral – that having the voice of 
the people present in everything we do is so 
important. While we have always prioritised this, 
our response to COVID-19 has shown that there 
is room for improvement in terms of capturing 
communities’ experiences and how to work 
effectively with local people. 

I therefore recommend that:

• All partners should continue to build on the 
strong partnership work developed through 
our COVID-19 response by implementing the 
action emerging from the Health and Wellbeing 
Board Community and Voluntary Sector work.

• All partners fully engage local people to 
co-design services and initiatives to enable 
residents to recover and improve their health 
and wellbeing. We need to prioritise our 
more vulnerable residents who have been 
disproportionately affected by COVID-19 and 
use tailored communication methods.

• We undertake a resident listening exercise to 
learn from the experience of the pandemic 
to understand local people’s experiences and 
aspirations for the future. This work should be 
a blueprint for developing a sustainable model 
for the use of insights gathered from local 
people.

Residents and  
partners continue  
to work together

5

P
age 190



37  /  The Public Health Annual Report 2020-2021

  Acknowledgements  

Editorial Team: 
Tessa Woodhouse, Bev Murray, Sarah Kinsella, 
Rory McGill and Rachael Musgrave.

Contributors: 
Special thanks go to the following people who 
supported the production of this report, Julie 
Barnes, Caroline Laing, Lisa Newman, Nikki 
Jones, Helen Carney, Sarah Dodd, Elspeth 
Anwar, Jane Harvey.

And to those that provided their reflections for 
inclusion in the report. 

Design:  
Paul Jones and Jude Mont

Communications: 
Gail Mooney and Kate Menear

Data sources: 
This report utilises the most recently available 
published information from a variety of data 
sources as of July 2021.

References and further information are available 
online at Wirral Intelligence Service 
www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/public-
health-annual-reports  

P
age 191



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |               Page 1 of 40 

                                                                                                                              

 
 

 
  

Technical 
Briefing:    
Public Health 
Annual Report 
2020/2021 

Wirral Intelligence 
Service 

2020/2021 

Page 193



Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 2 of 40 
 

Technical Briefing:    Public Health Annual Report 2020/2021 
 
For further information please contact:  
Wirral Intelligence Service at wirralintelligenceservice@wirral.gov.uk  
 

Contents 

Introduction .................................................................................................................................. 4 

Education ...................................................................................................................................... 4 

Attainment .................................................................................................................................. 4 

NEET (Not in Employment, Education and Training ................................................................... 5 

Housing ......................................................................................................................................... 5 

Fuel poverty ................................................................................................................................ 5 

Housing disrepair ........................................................................................................................ 5 

Income and Employment ............................................................................................................. 6 

Unemployment ........................................................................................................................... 6 

Employment by sector/industry ................................................................................................... 6 

Food insecurity ........................................................................................................................... 6 

Environment ................................................................................................................................. 8 

Air quality .................................................................................................................................... 8 

Green space ............................................................................................................................... 9 

Connectedness and social/community networks ................................................................... 10 

Community index score ............................................................................................................ 10 

Transport/car access ................................................................................................................ 11 

Digital exclusion ........................................................................................................................ 12 

Passive and Uncommitted Users .......................................................................................... 12 

E-Withdrawn ......................................................................................................................... 13 

Lifestyle and behaviour ............................................................................................................. 14 

Smoking.................................................................................................................................... 14 

Unhealthy weight and diet (adults) ........................................................................................... 15 

Unhealthy weight and diet (children) ........................................................................................ 16 

Diet ........................................................................................................................................... 18 

Physical activity ........................................................................................................................ 19 

Drugs ........................................................................................................................................ 19 

Alcohol ...................................................................................................................................... 22 

Long Term Conditions ............................................................................................................... 25 

Diabetes ................................................................................................................................... 25 

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) .................................................................... 26 

Mental health ............................................................................................................................ 27 

Page 194

mailto:wirralintelligenceservice@wirral.gov.uk


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 3 of 40 
 

Crime ........................................................................................................................................... 30 

Anti-social behaviour ................................................................................................................ 30 

Domestic Abuse ....................................................................................................................... 31 

Life expectancy .......................................................................................................................... 32 

Healthy life expectancy ............................................................................................................. 34 

Mortality ...................................................................................................................................... 34 

Avoidable mortality ................................................................................................................... 34 

Infant mortality .......................................................................................................................... 36 

Access to health care and services .......................................................................................... 37 

Geographical access ................................................................................................................ 37 

Waiting times ............................................................................................................................ 38 

COVID-19..................................................................................................................................... 38 

COVID-19 Cases ...................................................................................................................... 38 

COVID-19 Mortality .................................................................................................................. 38 

Local Data ................................................................................................................................... 40 

Indirect impact of COVID on population outcomes ................................................................... 40 

Background reports ................................................................................................................... 40 

Contact details ........................................................................................................................... 40 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 195



Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 4 of 40 
 

Introduction 

 

This technical document is designed to accompany the Director of Public Health’s Annual Report 
for 2021, for those who wish to see the more detailed data, intelligence and analysis which 
underpins the report.  
 
The Director of Public Health’s Annual Report this year concentrates on inequalities; for more 
information on inequalities, deprivation, how these indicators are calculated and what this means 
for Wirral, please see our report on the Wirral Intelligence Service website.  
 
The main Director of Public Health’s Annual Report (and consequently, this Technical 

Document), contains information on what are known as the ‘wider determinants of health’. This is 

because as little as 10% of our health outcomes are affected by the healthcare we receive. In 

fact, the wider determinants have a greater influence on health than health care, behaviours, or 

genetics. The diagram below (figure 1) shows what we mean when we talk about ‘wider 

determinants’ and how these factors interact.  
 

Figure 1: The wider determinants of health 

 

Source: The Dahlgren and Whitehead Health Determinants Model (1991) 

These determinants are often experienced together and cumulatively over time. Particular groups 

can be affected by number of these determinants, which can be mutually reinforcing.  

Education  
 

Attainment 
 

• The average Attainment 8 score in Wirral in 2019/20 was 51.5, which was one of the 
highest scores in the North-West overall and was the highest of the Liverpool City Region 
authorities. In Cheshire & Merseyside, only Warrington was higher at 51.7 and Wirral also 
scores higher than the average for England overall (50.2).  
 

• This overall high scoring, however, hides large variations based on inequalities. For 
example, the average score of pupils classed as ‘Disadvantaged’ (see below for 
definition), was 39.5 in Wirral, compared to an average score of 56.8 for pupils classed as 
‘Non-Disadvantaged’ (Source, LGInform, 2021). 

 Page 196

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/wirral-indices-of-deprivation/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 5 of 40 
 

Definitions: Attainment 8 measures the average achievement of pupils in up to 8 qualifications including English and Maths. 
Points are allocated according to grades pupils achieve in all 8 subjects added together to give the Attainment 8 score, e.g., the 
maximum score for a pupil is 80, for a pupil who achieves eight A* grades at GCSE in qualifying subjects. Disadvantaged pupils 
include pupils known to be eligible for Free School Meals (FSM) in any spring, autumn, summer, alternative provision, or pupil 
referral unit census from year 6 to year 11 or are looked after children for at least one day or are adopted from care.  
 

NEET (Not in Employment, Education and Training 
 

Young people who are not in education, employment or training are at greater risk of a range of 
negative outcomes, including poor health, depression, or early parenthood (Public Health 
England, 2021). There is recognition that increasing the participation of young people in learning 
and employment not only makes a lasting difference to individual lives but is central to improving 
social mobility and economic growth. 
 
To support more young people to study and gain the skills and qualifications that lead to 
sustainable jobs and reduce the risk of young people becoming NEET, legislation was introduced 
in 2013 to raise the participation age which required all young people remain in some form of 
education or training until the end of the academic year in which they turn 17. 
 
Figure 2: Trend in young people NEET, 2016 to 2019, Wirral, North-West and England 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 
 

See Wirral Statistical Compendium, for the inequality in NEET within Wirral (ward data). 
 

Housing  
 

Fuel poverty 

 

The Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (DoBEIS) produce annual 
estimates on the number and proportion of households likely to be living in fuel poverty. 
Estimates for 2018 show that overall in England, 1 in 10 households (10.3% of households) are 
estimated to be living in fuel poverty; rising to 12.1% in the North-West overall and 12.2% in 
Wirral overall.  
 
The overall proportion in Wirral, however, hides huge inequalities, with the proportions ranging 
from 1 in 4 households in some areas of  Birkenhead (Birkenhead West LSOA has rates of 
24.9% living in fuel poverty) to just 1 in 17 in other areas of Wirral (e.g. 6.3% in Caldy North 
LSOA). 
 

Housing disrepair 

 

The private rented sector is the only housing option available to some of the most vulnerable 
people in society. However, in some areas, properties in the private rented sector are more likely 
(than both privately owned and socially owned housing) to suffer from poor condition and poor 
management.  In Wirral, 23% of private sector dwellings fail the Decent Homes Standard*, 
compared to 32% in the private rented sector. Where a household is on welfare benefits and 
living in the private rented sector, this rises to 36%. 
 

Page 197

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/wirral-compendium-of-statistics/
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/fuel-poverty-statistics
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/fuel-poverty-statistics


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 6 of 40 
 

In addition, the proportion of private rented properties in Wirral increased significantly between 
the 2001 Census and 2011 Census, from 11% to 16% - and most recently, was estimated to be 
19% of all properties in 2019/20 English Housing Survey - with wide variation within Wirral, from 
28% of all properties in Birkenhead & Tranmere ward, to 6% of all properties in Greasby, Frankby 
& Irby ward.  
 
In order to ensure the safety and wellbeing of local residents, Local Authorities have the duty to 
ensure that remedial action is taken on private properties where there are serious hazards that 
affect the health, safety, and wellbeing of the occupiers. Given that a decision to enforce remedial 
action has financial implications for both the owner and the occupier (and such decisions may be 
subject to legal challenge and scrutiny), decisions to intervene are not undertaken lightly and as 
such, are a good indicator to areas where housing in a state of poor repair are concentrated.  
 
There was a total of 774 interventions in the two years of 2017 and 2018, and 1 in 5 of these 
were concentrated in just two Wirral wards – Birkenhead & Tranmere and Seacombe wards. 
These two wards had the highest rate of interventions due to poor condition of all 22 Wirral wards 
– and both wards are among the most deprived wards in Wirral. 
 
* The Decent Homes Standard is a national standard against which all homes can be measured. There are four criteria that a 
home is required to meet before being classified as ‘decent’. These are: it meets the current statutory minimum standard for 
housing (currently the Housing Health & Safety Rating System); it is in a reasonable state of repair; it has reasonable modern 
facilities and service, and it provides a reasonable degree of thermal comfort. 

 

Income and Employment  
 

Unemployment 
 

In March 2020, 20.6% of the working age population of Wirral were economically inactive 
(n=39,700); this was exactly the same proportion as in England overall (also 20.6% of the 
working age population).  

 
By December 2020, this figure had increased to 26.1% (n=50,300) in Wirral, but in England 
overall, this figure had actually decreased (marginally) to 20.5% of working-age people being 
economically inactive – highlighting that the pandemic appears to have had a greater impact on 
employment locally than is the case nationally (Source: NOMIS, 2021). 
 

Employment by sector/industry 
 

The largest employers by sector/industry in Wirral are ‘Health and Social Care’ and ‘Motor Trade, 
Wholesale and Retail’ (Source: Business Register and Employment Survey, NOMIS and PCMD 
(2021). Both of these sectors are at higher risk of contracting COVID-19 according to Office for 
National Statistics (ONS) and Public Health England (PHE).   
 
ONS has also reported that specifically, men working as security guards, taxi drivers and 
chauffeurs, bus and coach drivers, chefs, sales and retail assistants, lower skilled workers in 
construction and processing plants, and men and women working in social care had significantly 
high rates of death from COVID-19 (Source: Wirral COVID-19 Mortality Report). 
 

Food insecurity  

 
The Food Vulnerability Index was calculated by the British Red Cross in 2020 (See Local Insight 
for full definition), a higher score on the shown in Map 1, indicates a higher level of vulnerability.  
 
As Map 1 shows, scores ranged from 132 in Greasby, Frankby & Irby ward, to 296 in Bidston & 
St. James ward. The average score for Wirral overall was 197 
 
 Page 198

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3418/wirral-covid_19-mortality-report-v5accchkd.pdf
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 7 of 40 
 

Map 1: Food Vulnerability Index Score for Wirral, by LSOA (2020) 

 
Source: Wirral Intelligence Service: Local Insight (2021) 

 
The estimated prevalence (%) of households at high risk of Food Insecurity (shown in Map 2) 
was calculated by the University of Southampton using two domains of economic characteristics: 
household composition and income-related benefit claimants.  
 
Map 2: Food Insecurity Index Score for Wirral LSOAs (2020) 

 

For Wirral, the overall 
proportion of the 
population estimated 
to be at risk of Food 
Insecurity is 16% of 
the population, 
however as Map 2 
shows, this varies 
widely across Wirral. 
It is as high as 32% 
(or 1 in 3) of the 
population of Bidston 
& St. James ward, to 
12% (1 in 8) of people 
in Heswall.  
 

Source: Wirral Intelligence Service: Local Insight (2021). Full methodology used by the University of Southampton is available at: 
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2017.12. 

 Page 199

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2017.12


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 8 of 40 
 

Environment 
 

Air quality  
 

In September 2019, an audit of Wirral’s local air quality actions (using Public Health England 
recommendations) was undertaken. Following this audit, a list of recommended local actions was 
formulated and outlined in a report to the Health and Wellbeing Board in November 2019. The 
recommendations included continued monitoring of air pollutants (specifically NO2 and PM2.5) to 
identify long term trends and areas for action locally.  
 
Results of monitoring have found that Nitrogen Dioxide has reduced between 2015/2016 and 
2019 (data obtained from two monitoring units located in Wirral); there was a 20% reduction in 
annual mean concentrations of Nitrogen Dioxide at Tranmere between 2015 to 2019 and a 15% 
reduction in annual mean concentrations of Nitrogen Dioxide at Birkenhead between 2016 to 
2019 - data for 2015 is not available as the Birkenhead was installed in 2016).  

 
The monitoring data for PM2.5 showed that background levels stayed the same between 2015–
2019, with no change in the levels monitored (Source: 2020 Air Quality Annual Status Report 
(ASR) In fulfilment of Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 Local Air Quality Management, Wirral 
Council, June 2020, and Wirral JSNA Air Quality Chapter).  
 

Data from the Consumer Data Research Centre shows that despite recent falls, the worst 
performing areas in Wirral on NO2 levels, were in the more deprived areas of Wirral in the east of 
the borough, see Map 3. 
 

Map 3: Level of Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) for Wirral (2017 latest DEFRA estimate) 

 
Source: Consumer Data Research Centre, 2021  
 

Page 200

https://maps.cdrc.ac.uk/
https://maps.cdrc.ac.uk/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 9 of 40 
 

The Public Health England Outcomes Framework has published data (currently up to 2019), 
showing that Wirral has lower proportion of mortality which can be attributed to particulate air 
pollution than both England and the North-West overall (4.3% versus 5.1% in England overall 
and 4.% in the North West overall – see figure 3 below).  
 
Figure 3: Trend in fraction of mortality attributable to particulate air pollution for Wirral (2010 to 2020) 
 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 
 

Green space 
 

Wirral has a range of fantastic natural leisure assets, many of which can be enjoyed for free. 
Wirral has 25 miles of stunning coastline and over 1,500 hectares of parks and open spaces 
which provide endless leisure opportunities for walking, cycling, and enjoying time with friends 
and family (Wirral Leisure Strategy: A 2020 Plan).  
 
Wirral saw an increase in the number of parks awarded Green Flag status in Wirral in 2020 (the 
largest number in the North-West for the third year running). In 2019, Wirral had 27 sites awarded 
Green Flag status (all were maintained in 2020, and a further 3 were added). Sites are awarded 
Green Flag status in recognition of good environmental standards, being well maintained, and 
providing clean and safe visitor facilities. (see Map 4 for range of green space options in Wirral). 
 

Map 4: Nearby Green Space for Wirral (2017) 

 
Source: Consumer Data Research Centre, 2021 Page 201

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0
https://maps.cdrc.ac.uk/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 10 of 40 
 

Green space positively influences health and wellbeing; however, inequalities in use of green 
space are prevalent. A UK study carried out (between 30 April and 1 May 2020) which aimed to 
explore how movement restrictions had changed during the COVID-19 pandemic, measured time 
spent visiting green space and experience of green space and how this differed by demographic 
characteristics.  
 
Overall, 63% of respondents reported a decrease in time spent visiting green space following 
movement restrictions. Lower social grade respondents were less likely to visit green space both 
before and after restrictions were enforced (OR: 0.35 (95% CI 0.24 to 0.51); OR: 0.77 (95% CI 
0.63 to 0.95)).  

 
Female respondents were more likely than male respondents to agree that green space 
benefited their mental health more following restrictions (PP: 0.70 vs 0.59). Older (65+ years) 
respondents were less likely than middle-aged (25–64 years) respondents to have visited green 
space following the restrictions (OR: 0.79 (95% CI 0.63 to 0.98)).  

 
The conclusions of the study were that inequalities in green space use were sustained, and 
possibly exacerbated, during movement restrictions (Source: BMJ Open 2021;11:e044067. 
doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2020-044067).  
 
ONS found something slightly different in that the proportion of people leaving home for exercise 
increased during the early lockdown period (Spring 2020), as restrictions limited other leisure 
activities, but that the rise in exercise was at least partly driven by people working from home, 
who have been more likely to leave the house for exercise than those who travel to work each 
day (Source: ONS, 2021).  

 
In July 2020, 46% of people surveyed by Natural England also said they had spent more time 
outside than usual during the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, with the analysis indicating that 
some people turned to nature to cope with feelings such as increased anxiety (41% of people 
saying that visits to natural spaces were more important to their wellbeing in May 2020 compared 
with before the pandemic) (Source: ONS, 2021 How has lockdown changed our relationship with 
nature?) 
 

Connectedness and social/community networks 
 

Community index score 
 
The Community Needs Index was developed to identify areas experiencing poor community and 
civic infrastructure, relative isolation, and low levels of participation in community life.  
 
The index was created by combining a series of 19 indicators (conceptualised under three 
domains: Civic Assets, Connectedness and Active and Engaged Community).  

 
A higher score indicates that an area has higher levels of community need. The overall scoring 
for Wirral indicated a higher level of need compared to England overall (68 in England, compared 
to 96 in Wirral), but also that there were significant inequalities within Wirral; for example, scoring 
by ward varied from 130 in Seacombe and 122 in Bidston & St. James ward, to 41 in 
Clatterbridge and 42 in Wallasey). See Map 5. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 202

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/howhaslockdownchangedourrelationshipwithnature/2021-04-26
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/howhaslockdownchangedourrelationshipwithnature/2021-04-26
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/howhaslockdownchangedourrelationshipwithnature/2021-04-26
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/environmentalaccounts/articles/howhaslockdownchangedourrelationshipwithnature/2021-04-26


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 11 of 40 
 

Map 5: Community Index Score in Wirral, 2019 

 
Source: Local Insight Wirral, 2021 
 

Transport/car access 
 

Access to a vehicle is very much linked to deprivation and as such, varies widely across Wirral. 
Although Census data is now several years old, it remains the definite source of information on 
vehicle access and the overall trend (that those in areas of deprivation have lower likelihood of 
having access to a vehicle) is a longstanding one and is unlikely to have shifted. The 2011 
Census (see table 1) indicated that in Wirral overall, 28% of households (39,000 out of 140,000 
households) had no access to a vehicle; this varied from 55.6% of households in Birkenhead & 
Tranmere to 10% of households in Heswall. 
 

Table 1: Households with no access to a vehicle by area, 2011 

 
Source: Census, 2011 Page 203

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 12 of 40 
 

Digital exclusion  
 

In 2018, the University of Liverpool, in association with the Consumer Data Research Centre 
(CDRC), produced an Internet User Classification (IUC) by Lower Super Output Area (LSOA). 
The IUC is a bespoke classification that describes how people in different parts of Great Britain 
interact with the internet. There are 10 different categorisations which are listed below, with the 
number in the brackets indicating how many LSOA’s in Wirral are categorised as that 
classification: 
 

• Digital Seniors (n = 24) 

• Passive and Uncommitted Users (n = 48) 

• Settled Offline Communities (n = 7) 

• Youthful Urban Fringe (n = 0) 

• E-Cultural Creators (n = 0) 

• E-Mainstream (n = 37) 

• E-Rational Utilitarians (n = 53) 

• E-Veterans (n = 9) 

• E-Withdrawn (n = 28) 

• E-Professionals (n = 0) 
 
Passive and Uncommitted Users and e-Withdrawn appear to be the two groups for whom internet 
access is least likely; both have been detailed below, with maps showing where in Wirral these 
groups are most likely to live and how many people are classified as belonging to these groups. 
 

Passive and Uncommitted Users 
 

Map 6: Lower Super Outputs Areas (LSOA) in Wirral Classified as “Passive and Uncommitted 
Users” 

 
Source: Wirral Intelligence Service: Local Insight (2021) 

 
The Passive and Uncommitted Users classification is the 2nd most prevalent in Wirral (behind E-
Rational Utilitarians). The definition of this classification is as follows: 
 

Page 204

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 13 of 40 
 

“The Passive and Uncommitted Users group comprises individuals with limited or no interaction 
with the Internet. They tend to reside outside city centres and close to the suburbs or semi-rural 
areas. Members of this Group have few distinctive characteristics in conventional socio-economic 
terms, albeit higher levels of employment in semi-skilled and blue-collar occupations. Individuals 
are rarely online, and most commonly report use once a week or less. Access to broadband is 
well below average, and for those online, there is mild preference for access via smartphones. 
The Internet is typically used for social networks, gaming, and some limited online shopping.” 
 
There are an estimated 76,200 people in Wirral classified as Passive and Uncommitted 
Users (or 24% of the Wirral population. The highest concentrations are in Wallasey 
Constituency (n=28,982 or 32% of the population of the Constituency). On the other hand, 1 in 5 
people in Wirral South Constituency and just 1 in 12 Wirral West Constituency are classified as 
Passive and Uncommitted Users. See Map 6 above for an indication of where this group live in 
Wirral.  
 
E-Withdrawn 
 

“The E-Withdrawn Group is mainly characterised by individuals who are the least engaged with 
the Internet. Their geography is expressed by areas that are associated with those more deprived 
neighbourhoods of urban regions. The socio-economic profile of the population is characterised 
by less affluent white British individuals or areas of high ethnic diversity; and it has the highest 
rate of unemployment and social housing among all other Groups.  
The E-Withdrawn Group appears to have the highest ratio of people that do not have access or 
have access but never engage with the Internet. It also expresses the lowest rates of 
engagement in terms of information seeking and financial services, as well as the lowest rate in 
terms of online access via a mobile device. Online shopping is also particularly low, except for 
Clothing on Credit, suggesting an opportunistic dimension to Internet usage.  
 
Map 7: LSOA’s in Wirral Classified as “E-Withdrawn” 

 
Source: Wirral Intelligence Service: Local Insight (2021) 

 
This is further reinforced by the higher than average access to Cable broadband by TV Provider, 
which may suggest that some individuals have opted into broadband mainly for the TV-

Page 205

https://wirral.communityinsight.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 14 of 40 
 

associated benefits. It is possible that many people within this Group have opted out of online 
engagement, either because it is considered unnecessary or because of economic reasons.” 
 
A map showing the location of the LSOA’s classified as E-Withdrawn is shown above in Map 7. It 
shows that the large majority of those classified as E-Withdrawn reside in the Birkenhead area, 
with very few in Wirral South and Wirral West Constituencies. This reflects the Indices of Multiple 
Deprivation (IMD) – with a large majority of the LSOA’s highlighted in Map 7 being within the top 
20% most deprived LSOA’s nationally. 
 
Nationally, only 8.8% of people are classified as E-Withdrawn, but this figure is 13.9% in Wirral 
(n=44,813 people). This overall proportion hides a large variation, with Birkenhead Constituency 
having 28.4% (or 25,752) of its population classified as E-Withdrawn, compared to just 2.3% of 
people in Wirral South (n=1,676). 
 

Lifestyle and behaviour 
 

Smoking 
 

Figure 4: Trend in smoking Status at time of delivery (2010/11 to 2019/20) 
 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 

 

Figure 5: Trend in smoking Prevalence in adults (18+) – current smokers (2011 to 2019) 
 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 
 

Although Wirral is lower than England (13.9%), the overall figure for Wirral of 10.7% (figure 5) 
hides wide inequalities, with prevalence ranging from 21.4% to 5.2% dependent on occupation, 
see Figure 6.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 206

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 15 of 40 
 

Figure 6: Smoking prevalence in adults aged 18+ by working status (2019) 
 

 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 

 

Unhealthy weight and diet (adults) 
 

Data from PHE (figure 7), shows that the proportion of adults who are classified as an unhealthy 
weight (either overweight or obese) has increased in Wirral since 2015/16 to 2019/20; from 
59.6% to 69.3% - an increase of almost 10% in 5 years.  
 

This means that more than 2 in 3 of all adults in Wirral are either overweight or obese and as of 
2019/20, Wirral was significantly higher than England for the first time since this indicator has 
been recorded (although not as high as the NW). 
 

Figure 7: Trend in percentage of adults classified as overweight or obese (2015/16 to 2019/20) 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 

 

This overall figure of 69.3% (which is still more than 2 in 3 adults), also hides considerable 
inequalities however, with the proportion of adults classified as either overweight or obese 
varying from 71.7% of adults with no qualifications, to 59.7% of adults educated to Level 4 or 
above (Level 4 or above – Degree level or above; Other Higher Education below degree level). 
See Figure 8.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 207

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 16 of 40 
 

 
Figure 8: Percentage of adults classified as overweight or obese by level of education (2019/20) 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 

 

Unhealthy weight and diet (children) 
 

As of 2019/20, almost 1 in 4 Reception aged children (aged 4-5) were either overweight or 
obese; this was higher than both England overall (24.4% in Wirral, vs 23.0% in England). There 
has been some fluctuation since 2006/07, but Wirral has generally always had a rate which is 
above England overall (see figure 9 below). 
 

Figure 9: Trend in prevalence of unhealthy weight (overweight and obese) in Reception age 
children, 2006/07 to 2019/20 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 

 
Within Wirral, there were wide inequalities in the proportion of Reception aged children classified 
as either overweight or very overweight (obese) in 2019/20. The chart below (figure 10) shows 
that in Quintile 1 (20% most deprived section of the population), 13.5% of children were very 
overweight (obese), compared to 3.7% in the least deprived 20% of the population.  
 
In other words, the rate of obesity is more than 3 times higher in areas of deprivation than areas 
classed as least deprived (or most affluent). 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 208

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 17 of 40 
 

Figure 10: Prevalence of unhealthy weight (overweight and obese) in Reception age children, by 
deprivation quintile, 2019/20 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 
 

By the time children reach Year 6 (age 10-11), a higher proportion are classified as either 
overweight or obese; in Wirral in 2019/20, this was 35% (figure 11). This was not significantly 
different to England (in fact, it was slightly lower than both the NW and England), but the fact 
remains that more than 1 in 3 children are overweight or obese by the age of 11 in Wirral; a 
proportion which has not changed significantly for the past 14 years.  
 
Figure 11: Trend in prevalence of unhealthy weight (overweight and obese) in Year 6 age 
children, 2006/07 to 2019/20 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 

 
As was the case for Reception aged children, there are stark inequalities in the proportions of 
children who are overweight and very overweight (obese) for Year 6 within Wirral also. In 
2019/20, over a quarter, or 1 in 4 children from the most deprived areas (26.8%) were obese, 
compared to 12% (or 1 in 8) children from the least deprived areas (12.0%).  

 Page 209

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 18 of 40 
 

In other words, the rate of obesity in the most deprived areas of Wirral, is more than double that 
of the least deprived areas (figure 12). 
 
Figure 12: Prevalence of unhealthy weight (overweight and obese) in Year 6 children, by 
deprivation quintile, 2019/20 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 
 

Diet 
 

Wirral is currently just behind England on the proportion of the population meeting the 
recommendation (to eat at least 5 portions of fruit and veg per day) but not significantly so as 
seen in figure 13 below. This is a slight improvement for Wirral, given that in the previous two 
time periods, Wirral has been significantly worse on this measure than England overall. 

 
Figure 13: Trend in percentage of population meeting 5-a-day recommendations, 2015/16 to 
2019/20 
 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 

 
 
 
 Page 210

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 19 of 40 
 

Physical activity 
 
Physical inactivity is the 4th leading risk factor for global mortality accounting for 6% of deaths 
globally. People who have a physically active lifestyle have a 20-35% lower risk of cardiovascular 
disease, coronary heart disease and stroke compared to those who have a sedentary 
lifestyle.  Regular physical activity is also associated with a reduced risk of diabetes, obesity, 
osteoporosis, and colon/breast cancer and with improved mental health.  In older adults physical 
activity is associated with increased functional capacities.  
 
The estimated direct cost of physical inactivity to the NHS across the UK is over £0.9 billion per 
year. The Chief Medical Officer for England (CMO) currently recommends that adults undertake a 
minimum of 150 minutes (2.5 hours) of moderate physical activity per week, or 75 minutes of 
vigorous physical activity per week or an equivalent combination of the two (MVPA), in bouts of 
10 minutes or more. The overall amount of activity is more important than the type, intensity, or 
frequency. 
 
Figure 14 suggests that just under 2 in 3 adults reported being physically active enough to 
benefit their health* in Wirral in 2019/20 – meaning 1 in 3 are not physically active enough to 
benefit their health (a proportion which is not significantly different to England or the North-West 
overall and improving over time).  
 
Figure 14: Trend in percentage of physically active adults, 2015/16 to 2019/20 

 
 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 
Notes: *Weighted number of respondents aged 19 and over, with valid responses to questions on physical activity, doing at least 
150 MIE minutes physical activity per week in bouts of 10 minutes or more in the previous 28 days. 
 

The picture for children is worse than that for adults, in 2017/18 (figures are not available for 
more recent years as they are for adults), less than half reported being physically active enough 
to benefit their health (44.4% in Wirral, vs 43.3% in England).  While Wirral was slightly ahead of 
England, this was not significant and is still a concerningly low proportion (see figure 15). 
 
Figure 15: Percentage of physically active children and young people, 2017/18  

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 
Notes: *Percentage of children aged 5-16 that meet the UK Chief Medical Officers' (CMOs') recommendations for physical activity 
(an average of at least 60 minutes moderate-vigorous intensity activity per day across the week) 
 

Drugs 
 
Wirral Drug Misuse JSNA chapter gives an in-depth analysis of the impact of drugs misuse on 
the residents of Wirral, compared to regional and national comparators. The JSNA chapter 
details how issues such as the rate of client seeking treatment for drug issues and admissions Page 211

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/2772/wirral-intelligence-service-jsna-drugs-23-05-19-final-final-draft.pdf


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 20 of 40 
 

due to drug misuse are higher in the more deprived areas of Wirral. A summary of some of the 
information is below, but users are directed to the full chapter for more information. 
 

Figure 16: Trend in Drug Misuse deaths 2001-2019 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 

 
ONS have published the following information which provides some context for the 
increase in drug-related deaths, which has occurred nationally and internationally, as well 
as in Wirral: 

• Drug-related deaths have been on an upward trend for the past decade. The reasons 
behind this are complex and differ by drug type. The overall trend is driven primarily by 
deaths involving opiates, but also by an increase in deaths involving other substances like 
cocaine 

• Across Europe, rates of deaths involving heroin or morphine have been increasing, 
while the number of new heroin and morphine users has fallen. This indicates higher rates 
of death among existing long-term drug users. Possible explanations include: 
o there is an ageing cohort of drug users, likely to be suffering from the effects of long-

term drug use and becoming increasingly susceptible to a fatal overdose 

o new trends in taking specific drugs, including gabapentinoids and benzodiazepines, 
alongside heroin or morphine, may increase the risk of an overdose 

o disengagement or non-compliance with opiate substitute therapy (OST) 

o The rise in deaths involving cocaine is likely to be a direct consequence of 
the increasing prevalence in cocaine use. This increase in cocaine use is also seen 
across Europe 

o Both cocaine and heroin have been reported to have high availability in recent years, 
with low prices and high purity levels. 

There are wide inequalities in the rate of drug misuse deaths in Wirral and these are shown in 
Figure 17 below. It highlights that the rate of drug related deaths in Quintile 1 (most deprived), is 
7 times higher than the in Quintile 5 (least deprived).  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 212

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0
https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/edr2020_en
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/acmd-report-ageing-cohort-of-drug-users
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28493329/
https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31228487/
https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/DAT-01-2014-0002/full/html
https://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/who-we-are/publications/437-national-strategic-assessment-of-serious-and-organised-crime-2020/file
https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/edr2020_en
https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/edr2020_en
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/review-of-drugs-phase-one-report/review-of-drugs-summary#part-one---the-illicit-drugs-market


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 21 of 40 
 

Figure 17: Drug Misuse Deaths by Indices of Multiple Deprivation quintile (rate per 100,000), 
Wirral, 2015-2017 

 
Source: Primary Care Mortality Database (PCMD, 2020) 

 
The number of NHS hospital admissions for drug-related mental and behavioural disorders 
(primary diagnosis of a drug-related mental and behavioural disorder), is shown in Figure 18. 
 

Figure 18: Rate of hospital admissions episodes with a primary or secondary diagnosis of drug 
related mental and behavioural disorders, England, North West, and Wirral (2019/20)  

 
Source: NHS Digital, 2021 

 
There was a total of 1,325 admissions where the primary or secondary diagnosis was drug-
related mental and/or behavioural disorders in Wirral in 2019/20; giving an admission rate per 
100,000 for Wirral of 404 (more than double the England rate of 181 per 100,000).  
 
As the above chart also shows, rates in males were more than double those for females and for 
both males and females in Wirral, admission rates were more than double the rates in England 
overall and were also higher than the North-West overall. Within Wirral, there were also 
significant inequalities, as Figure 19 shows 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 213



Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 22 of 40 
 

Figure 19: Rate of hospital admissions episodes with a primary or secondary diagnosis of drug 
related mental and behavioural disorders, by Wirral deprivation quintile and with national and 
regional comparators (2019/20)  

 
Source: NHS Digital, 2021 

 

Alcohol 
 
On every key alcohol indicator measured by Public Health England, Wirral performs significantly 
worse than England, see Figure 20. 
 
Figure 20: Public Health England key alcohol indicators, Wirral outcomes 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 

 
There was a total of 3,960 alcohol-specific admissions in Wirral in 2019/20 and they were 
strongly correlated with deprivation. The most deprived wards in Wirral had the highest admission 
rates, while the most affluent had the lowest rates. The Wirral overall rate (DSR or Directly 
Standardised Rate) was 1,140. 
 
Heswall (the most affluent ward in Wirral) had a DSR of 461, while Birkenhead & Tranmere ward 
(the most deprived ward in Wirral) had a DSR of 2,726. This is a long-standing trend in Wirral. 
See Map 8 below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 214

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 23 of 40 
 

Map 8: Alcohol Specific Admissions (DSRs) by Wirral ward, 2019/20 
 

  
Source: SUS, 2020 (2015-19, 5 pooled years) 

 
The same pattern (areas of deprivation having a greater burden of morbidity and mortality related 
to alcohol) is observable for Alcohol-Specific Mortality rates in Wirral in 2019/20, see Map 9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 215



Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 24 of 40 
 

Map 9: Alcohol Specific Mortality (DSRs) by Wirral ward, 2019/20 
 

 
 
Source: SUS, 2020 (2015-19, 5 pooled years) 

 
Referrals to alcohol treatment 
 

• Figure 21 below shows number of alcohol referrals (broken lines) and new treatment 
journeys (solid lines) for 6 month period April to October 2020, compared to same period 
in 2019 (to CGL – Change, Grow, Live – Wirral’s main provider of Drug and Alcohol 
services) 

• 299 total referrals for 2019, vs 715 for 2020 (a 139% increase) 

• 508 new treatment journeys in 2019, vs 485 for 2020 (a 5% decrease to October)  

• The largest increase was in self-referrals (317 in 2020 vs 94 during same 6 month period 
in 2019) 

 
 
 
 
 Page 216



Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 25 of 40 
 

Figure 21: Referrals for alcohol treatment in Wirral: 2019 and 2020 comparison 

 
Source: CGL (Change, Grow, Live), 2021 
 

Long Term Conditions 
 

Diabetes 

 
Prevalence of diabetes in Wirral in 2019/20 is higher than both the Cheshire & Merseyside area 
and England overall (7.4% versus 7.1% in Cheshire & Merseyside and England overall) – figure 
22. Prevalence of diabetes has been steadily increasing in recent years, from 17,504 people in 
2012/13 to 20,392 people in 2019/20; an increase of 16.5% in 7 years. 
 
Figure 22: Trend in prevalence of diabetes in those aged 17+ (2012/13 to 2019/20) 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 
 

Diabetes prevalence by deprivation quintile in Wirral in 2019/20 is shown in Figure 23 and is 
43% higher in the most deprived quintile of the population (9.6%% of the population in the most 
deprived quintile compared to 6.7% in Quintile 5, the least deprived quintile).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 217

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 26 of 40 
 

Figure 23: prevalence of diabetes in those aged 17+ in Wirral by deprivation quintile (2019/20) 

 
Source: QOF (Quality & Outcomes Framework), NHS England 
 

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) 
 

Prevalence of COPD in Wirral in 2019/20 is higher than both the NW and England overall (2.6% 
versus 2.5% in the NW and 1.9 in England overall). Prevalence of COPD has been steadily 
increasing in recent years, from 7,814 people in 2012/13 to 8,821 people in 2019/20; an increase 
of 13% in 7 years. COPD shows a clear association with deprivation, with those in the most 
deprived quintile, having a rate of COPD which is more than double that of the least deprived 
quintile (4.0% population in the most deprived quintile versus 1.5% population in the least 
deprived quintile) see figure 24 and figure 25. 
 

Figure 24: prevalence of COPD in those aged 17+ in Wirral by deprivation quintile (2019/20) 

 
Source: QOF (Quality & Outcomes Framework), NHS England 

 Page 218

https://qof.digital.nhs.uk/
https://qof.digital.nhs.uk/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 27 of 40 
 

Figure 25: Trend in emergency admissions for COPD, 2010/11 to 2019/20 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 

 

Mental health 

 

Referral rates for psychological therapy  
 

Map 10 below shows referrals to IAPT (Improving Access to Psychological Therapy) Service per 
1,000 patients registered to GP practices within Wirral CCG in 2019/20. Although not all referrals 
will enter treatment, it is a fairly good indicator of mental health need 
 
Map 10: IAPT (Improving the access to Psychological Therapies), referral rate (per 1,000 
residents), 2019/20 

 
Source: Wirral CCG BI Team 
 

As Map 10 above shows, referral rates vary considerably by ward; the overall rate of referral was 
42 per 1,000 residents, but this varied from 61 per 1,000 in Birkenhead & Tranmere ward, to 20 
per 1,000 in Heswall ward. In other words, the rate of referral was 3 times higher in areas of 
deprivation in Wirral, compared to more affluent areas. 
 Page 219

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 28 of 40 
 

Self-harm 
 

Self-harm events severe enough to warrant hospital admission are shown on the PHOF as a 
proxy of the prevalence of severe self-harm, these are only the most acute manifestation of poor 
mental health in relation to the burden of self-harm. Self-harm is defined as an intentional act of 
self-poisoning or self-injury irrespective of the type of motivation or degree of suicidal intent. 
However, following an episode of self-harm, there is a significant and persistent risk of suicide 
which varies markedly between genders and age groups [PHOF, PHE].  
 
In contrast to the trends in completed suicide, the incidence of self-harm has continued to rise in 
the UK over the past 20 years and, for young people at least, is said to be among the highest in 
Europe [PHOF, PHE]. Data on self-harm trends using HES data may be somewhat misleading 
and the large rise they suggest probably reflects improved data collection. Suicide risk is raised 
49-fold in the year after self-harm, and the risk is higher with increasing age at initial self-harm 
[PHOF, PHE]. 
 
Self-harm is still often poorly understood and people who harm themselves are subject to stigma 
and hostility; those who self-harm have a 1 in 6 chance of repeat attendance at A&E within the 
year. One study of people presenting at Accident & Emergency (A&E) showed a subsequent 
suicide rate of 0.7% in the first year - 66 times the suicide rate in the general population. After 15 
years, 4.8% of males and 1.8% of females had died by suicide.[3] Aside from the obvious danger 
of death, self-harm and suicide attempts can be seriously detrimental to an individual's long-term 
physical health if they survive. Paracetamol poisoning is a major cause of acute liver failure. Self-
cutting can result in permanent damage to tendons and nerves, not to mention scarring and other 
disfigurements. The NICE guidelines on self-harm note that people who have survived a 
medically serious suicide attempt are more likely to have poorer outcomes in terms of life 
expectancy [PHOF, PHE].  
 
Those at greater risk include [PHOF, PHE]: 
 

• Women - rates of deliberate self-injury are two to three times higher in women than men 

• Young people - Self-harming in young people is not uncommon (10-13% of 15-16-year-
olds have self-harmed in their lifetime 

• Older people who harm themselves are more likely to do so in an attempt to end their life 

• People who have or are recovering from drug and alcohol problems 

• Self-harm in prisons is associated with subsequent suicide in this setting, suggesting the 
prevention and treatment of self-harm is an essential component of suicide prevention in 
prison 

• People who are lesbian, gay, bisexual or gender reassigned 

• Socially deprived people living in urban areas 

• Women of South-Asian ethnicity 

• Individual elements including personality traits, family experiences, life events, exposure to 
trauma, cultural beliefs, social isolation, and income 

• Other factors such as education, housing, and wider macro-socioeconomic trends such as 
unemployment rates may also contribute directly, or by influencing a person's susceptibility 
to mental health problems 

 
Admissions for self-harm are significantly higher in Wirral than in England overall (301.0 per 
100,000 locally, versus 192.6 nationally – or 915 in actual numbers) (figure 26) and have been 
since information on this indicator has been made available. As further breakdown (figure 27) 
shows, these overall numbers show that women are far more likely than men to be admitted as a 
result of self-harm. 
 
 
 

Page 220

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/self%20harm#page/6/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000015/iid/21001/age/1/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0_ine-ao-0_ine-pt-1_ine-yo-1:2019:-1:-1_ine-ct-2
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/self%20harm#page/6/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000015/iid/21001/age/1/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0_ine-ao-0_ine-pt-1_ine-yo-1:2019:-1:-1_ine-ct-2
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/self%20harm#page/6/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000015/iid/21001/age/1/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0_ine-ao-0_ine-pt-1_ine-yo-1:2019:-1:-1_ine-ct-2
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/self%20harm#page/6/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000015/iid/21001/age/1/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0_ine-ao-0_ine-pt-1_ine-yo-1:2019:-1:-1_ine-ct-2
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/search/self%20harm#page/6/gid/1/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000015/iid/21001/age/1/sex/4/cid/4/tbm/1/page-options/car-do-0_ine-ao-0_ine-pt-1_ine-yo-1:2019:-1:-1_ine-ct-2


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 29 of 40 
 

Figure 26: Rate (DSR) of Emergency Hospital Admissions for intentional self-harm in Wirral with 
comparators England, North West (2011/12 – 2019/20) 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 
 
Figure 27: Rate of admissions for Self-harm in Wirral by Deprivation Quintile, 2019/20 

 
Depression 
 

The recorded depression prevalence (figure 28) is the number of people with depression 
recorded on GP practice registers, as a proportion of the practice list size of the CCG aged 18 
years or over. 
 
Figure 28: Recorded prevalence of Depression (%) (aged 18+) for Wirral with comparators 
England, North West (2009/10 – 2019/20) 
 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 
 Page 221

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 30 of 40 
 

The prevalence of those recorded as having ever had depression on GP records in Wirral is 
much higher than England, at 18.1% of the population aged 18+ overall, compared to 11.6% in 
England. This figure has increased considerably in recent years, in 2013/14 the overall 
prevalence in Wirral was 7.5% compared to 6.5% in England – meaning prevalence has more 
than doubled in 6 years. 
 
Even this large overall figure, however, hides large inequalities, with some practices with 
populations in areas of deprivation having as many as 1 in 3 (or 33.6%) of their populations 
recorded as having depression. In more affluent areas, the equivalent is around 1 in 14 (or 7.7%) 
of their practice population recorded as having had depression in 2019/20 (Source: Public Health 
Outcomes Framework (2021)).  
 

Crime 
 

Anti-social behaviour 

 
Map 11 shows the rate of attendances for domestic abuse (5 pooled years); it shows that rate of 
attendances mirrors the areas of deprivation in Wirral – with rates varying from 26.5 per 10,000 in 
Birkenhead & Tranmere ward, to 3.7 in West Kirby & Thurstaston ward (overall Wirral rate of 11.2 
per 10,000).  
 
Map 11: Domestic Abuse A&E attendance rate (2015/16 – 2019/20) 

 
Source: Local Insight Wirral, 2021 (data from Trauma, Injury Intelligence Group (Liverpool John Moores University, 2021) 
 
Attendances at Arrowe Park A&E for injuries and assaults reported as being carried out by 
somebody known to the attendee are compiled by TIIG (Trauma, Injury & Intelligence Group) of 
LJMU. 
 
 Page 222

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/general-practice
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 31 of 40 
 

Reported incidents of anti-social behaviour (ASB), were located to the point at which they 
occurred and allocated to the appropriate Constituency; ASB is defined as 'behaviour by a person 
which causes, or is likely to cause, harassment, alarm or distress to persons not of the same 
household as the person'. The data in Table 2 below is reported incidents and shows the two 
calendar years of 2019 and 2020.   
 
Table 2: Reported incidents of anti-social behaviour in Wirral, by Constituency, 2019 and 2020 
(calendar years) 

 2019 2020 Change 

Area 
Number 

Rate per 
1,000 

Number 
Rate per 

1,000 
Number % 

Birkenhead 2,283 25.2 3,439 37.9 1,156 50.6 

Wallasey 1,433 15.8 2,444 27.0 1,011 70.6 

Wirral South 775 10.6 1,409 19.2 634 81.8 

Wirral West 797 11.5 1,600 23.0 803 100.8 

Wirral 5,288 16.3 8,892 27.4 3,604 68.2 
Source: https://data.police.uk/data/  

 
As Table 2 shows, there has been a 68% increase in ASB in Wirral between 2019 and 2020 
when a large number of months were spent in lockdown. The overall increase hides large 
variation between Constituencies, which ranged from 50.6% in Birkenhead (lowest increase, but 
still the highest number of reported incidents), to 100.8% increase in Wirral West.  
 

Domestic Abuse 

 
As Table 3 shows, the number of crimes and incidences of domestic abuse have been increasing 
in recent years. This may not necessarily be due to increased incidence, but due to increased 
awareness and willingness to report to the police. It is clear that Wirral has a higher rate than 
Merseyside, the North West and England overall and this appears to be a long-standing trend.  
 
Table 3: Trend in Domestic abuse crimes and incidences in Wirral and comparators, 2010/11 to 
2019/20 

 
Source: Wirral Intelligence Service Annual Statistical Compendium, 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Page 223

https://data.police.uk/data/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/wirral-compendium-of-statistics/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 32 of 40 
 

Notes and definitions for Table 3 
 

 
 

Life expectancy 
 
Life expectancy is an important marker for the underlying health of the population. Consequently, 
it is calculated regularly (annually). Life expectancy at birth in England showed dramatic 
increases throughout the twentieth century as health and living conditions improved.  
 
It increased from 46 for males and 50 for females in 1900, to 76 for males and 80 for females in 
2000 and has continued to increase since.  
 
However, increases in life expectancy have not been uniform across all social groups and the 
inequality in life expectancy between those from more deprived areas and those from more 
affluent areas has continued to increase. A full report on Life Expectancy in Wirral updated for 
2017-19 is available here. This report also highlights the causes of the gap between Wirral and 
England (e.g. showing that the largest cause of the gap was respiratory disease, for both males 
and females). This analysis on the gap, was originally carried out by Public Health England and 
more information is available on the Segment Tool section of the Public Health Outcomes 
Framework website.  
 
As Figure 29 shows, there is a gap of 10.7 years between the wards with the highest and lowest 
male LEx in Wirral for 2017-19 (Birkenhead and Tranmere and Greasby, Frankby and Irby). The 
average Wirral LEx for males was 78.4 years, whilst the England average was 79.8 for the same 
time period (1.4 years higher).  
 
The four wards with the lowest LEx are also the four most deprived wards in Wirral according to 
the IMD 2019: Birkenhead & Tranmere, Bidston & St James, Rock Ferry and Seacombe. 
 Page 224

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3384/life-expectancy-update-2017-19-final-accchkd.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3384/life-expectancy-update-2017-19-final-accchkd.pdf
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/inequality-tools


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 33 of 40 
 

Figure 29: Male life expectancy at birth, by Wirral Ward, 2017-19 

 
 
As Figure 30 below shows, in 2017-19, the gap between the Wirral wards with the highest and 
lowest female LEx was 11.2 years (Rock Ferry and Wallasey). As was the case with males, the 
four wards with the lowest female LEx are the four most deprived wards in Wirral: Rock Ferry, 
Birkenhead & Tranmere, Bidston & St. James and Seacombe. 
 
Figure 30: Female life expectancy at birth, by Wirral Ward, 2017-19 

 
 
 
 

Page 225



Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 34 of 40 
 

Healthy life expectancy  

 
In addition to life expectancy, we also monitor healthy life expectancy (HLE), or the number of 
years people can expect to live in ‘good’ health. Increases in HLE have not matched the gains in 
life expectancy, meaning that although people are living longer, their later years are spent in 
poorer health, creating greater demands on health and social care services. 
 
In 2017-19, HLE in Wirral was 60.9 years for men compared to 63.2 years for men in England 
(significantly worse than England, as shown by figure 31 below). On comparing HLE to LEx, this 
measure shows that, in Wirral, a male is likely to spend approximately only three-quarters (or 
77.6%) of their life in ‘good’ health and the remainder (22.4% or 17.6 years) in poorer health.  
 
Figure 31: Trend in male Healthy Life Expectancy for Wirral and comparators, 2009/11 to 
2017/19) 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 
 
Women in Wirral are estimated to spend 77.6% of their life (or 63.9 years) in ‘good’ health and 
22.4% (or 18.4 years) in poorer health. See figure 32 below. This is marginally higher than 
women in England overall (but not significantly so).  
 
Figure 32: Trend in female Healthy Life Expectancy for Wirral and comparators, 2009/11 to 
2017/19) 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 
 

Mortality 

 

Avoidable mortality 

 
Avoidable mortality is deaths from causes for which all or most deaths are considered avoidable 
through timely and effective healthcare and public health interventions, specifically: 
 

• Preventable mortality - deaths that can be mainly avoided through effective public health 
and primary prevention interventions 

• Treatable mortality - deaths that can be mainly avoided through timely and effective 
healthcare interventions, including secondary prevention and treatment 

 Page 226

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 35 of 40 
 

 
 
Figure 33 below shows the rate (per 100,000) of avoidable deaths in Wirral by deprivation 
quintile in 2017-19 (with comparators of England, the North West and Wirral overall as 
comparator lines).  
 
Figure 33: Rate of Avoidable Mortality by Deprivation Quintile in Wirral in 2017-19, with 
comparators England, North West, and Wirral overall 

 
Source: PCMD (Primary Care Mortality Database), 2021 

 
As Figure 33 shows, the rate of Avoidable Mortality in Wirral in 2017 varied widely by deprivation 
quintile, with the rate more than 3x higher in the most deprived quintile of the population, 
compared to the least deprived quintile (429.6 vs 135.3 per 100,000).  Page 227



Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 36 of 40 
 

Infant mortality 

 
Infant mortality is an indicator of the general health of an entire population. It reflects the 
relationship between causes of infant mortality and upstream determinants of population health 
such as economic, social, and environmental conditions. Deaths occurring during the first 28 
days of life (the neonatal period) in particular, are considered to reflect the health and care of 
both mother and newborn (see Figure 34 below). 
 
Figure 34: Trend in Infant Mortality rate for Wirral and comparators, 2001/03 to 2017/19) 

 
Source: Public Health Outcomes Framework (2021) 

 
In 2017-19, Wirral overall had an infant mortality rate that was exactly the same as England (3.9 
per 1,000) and was lower than the North-West overall (4.5 per 1,000). As with so many health 
issues however, the overall rate hides large inequalities, shown in the Figure 35 below. 
 
Figure 35: Infant mortality in 2017-19 by deprivation quintile in Wirral, with comparators of 
England and North-West 

 
Source: PCMD, 2021 (Primary Care Mortality Database) 
Note: Wirral line is hidden by the England line, as both rates are exactly 3.9 
 
As Figure 35 shows, the most deprived quintile had an infant mortality rate that was more than 
double the rate of the least deprived quintile.  
 
Although quintile 4 (for reasons that are unclear but are possibly a product of fairly low numbers 
(n=38 for the 3 pooled years of 2017-19), has the 2nd highest rate, that Quintile 1 has by far and 
away the highest rates. Page 228

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data#page/0


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 37 of 40 
 

Access to health care and services  
 

Geographical access 

 
Geographic accessibility to health services has been demonstrated to be associated with use of 
services. As part of the Index of ‘Access to Healthy Assets and Hazards’ (AHAH) developed by 
the University of Liverpool and the CDRC (Consumer Data Research Centre), accessibility to 
three ‘domains’ has been calculated and mapped; the ‘domains’ are:  
 

1) Retail environment 
2) Health services 
3) Physical environment 

 
The accessibility to health-related services included distance (km) to: GP surgeries; A&E 
Hospitals; Pharmacies; Dentists and Leisure Centre’s and the map 12 below shows Wirral’s 
performance on this domain. 
 
Map 12 below shows a mixed picture in Wirral, with accessibility being poor in both in some 
areas of deprivation (Bidston, Beechwood, parts of Seacombe, Poulton and Moreton for 
example), but also in some affluent areas (such as Caldy, Spital, Dibbinsdale, Irby and Thornton 
Hough), although the much higher likelihood of having access to a vehicle in more affluent areas 
is likely to mean longer distances to health services is likely to be less of an issue (see Table 1).  
 

Map 12: Access to health services in Wirral (GPs, hospitals, pharmacies, dentists, leisure 
services) 

 
Source: Consumer Data Research Centre, 2021  
 
 
 

Page 229

https://www.liverpool.ac.uk/geographic-data-science/news/stories/title,985937,en.html
https://maps.cdrc.ac.uk/
https://maps.cdrc.ac.uk/


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 38 of 40 
 

Waiting times 
 

The NHS England waiting time for non-urgent treatments and procedures is 18 weeks (from the 
day an appointment is booked, or when the hospital or service receives a referral letter), to the 
time of treatment. In March 2020, the average waiting time in Wirral (WUTH), was 9.3 weeks 
(across all specialties), by March 2021, this had increased to 9.4 weeks. The percentage of 
people seen within the 18 week target in March 2020 was 76.4%; by March 2021 this has 
reduced to 70.0% of people.  
 
The largest increase in waiting times has been in the Geriatric Medicine specialty, which has 
gone from 94.1% of people seen within 18 weeks in March 2020, to 61.5% in March 2021 
(average waiting time has increased from 4 weeks to 14 weeks).  
 

COVID-19 
 

COVID-19 Cases  

 
COVID-19 cases were widely predicted to have a disproportionate impact on the most deprived 
at the beginning of the pandemic in early 2020 (by organisations such as Red Cross*, Centre for 
Progressive Policy etc…) and this turned out to be the case both locally and nationally.  
 

Figure 36: Rate of confirmed COVID-19 cases in Wirral, by deprivation quintile (Mar-Dec 2020) 

 
Source: Situational Explorer, Public Health England, 2021 
 
Figure 36 shows that the rate of COVID-19 infections (March to December 2020) was more than 
triple the rate in the most deprived quintile, than was the case in the least deprived quintile. 
 

COVID-19 Mortality 

 
Nationally, PHE has reported that mortality rates from COVID-19 in the most deprived areas were 
more than double the least deprived areas, for both males and females (Source: Disparities in the 
risk and outcomes of COVID-19. Public Health England, June 2020).  
 
Locally however, the relationship between deaths and deprivation initially appeared less clear, 
with rates highest in Quintile 4 (second least deprived quintile); A large contributory factor to this, 
however, was the location of Care Homes in Wirral, as the majority of COVID-19 deaths in 
Quintile 4 occurred in Care Home residents. When deaths in non-Care Home residents were 

Page 230

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892085/disparities_review.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/892085/disparities_review.pdf


Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 39 of 40 
 

analysed separately, the pattern was much more comparable with national findings (i.e., death 
rates highest in Quintile 1 and lowest in Quintile 5). See Figure 37. 
 
Figure 37: Rate of COVID-19 deaths (rate per 100,000) in Wirral, in non-Care Home residents by 
IMD Quintile in 2020 

 
Source: Situational Explorer, Public Health England, 2021 
 
As Figure 37 above shows, when deaths which occurred outside of care homes are calculated 
separately as a rate per 10,000 deaths (for each quintile), the highest rates are seen in Quintile 1 
and the lowest seen in Quintile 5.  
 

• Nationally, PHE report that men working as security guards, transport workers, chefs, 
sales/retail assistants, lower skilled workers in construction and processing plants and social 
care workers of both genders had significantly high rates of death from COVID-19. 

  

• In Wirral, just 68 out of a total of 616 COVID-19 deaths (to 31/12/2020) were of working age 
(aged 16-67); almost one in five of those deaths (19%) had a blank field for occupation. 

 

• With the caveat that numbers locally are small, the largest categories of occupational field for 
deaths from COVID-19 in Wirral were Health & Social Work (13%), Construction (12%) and 
Motor Trade, Wholesale & Retail (10%). 

 

• The presence of Health & Social Work and Motor Trade, Wholesale & Retail in the top 3 is 
not surprising, as they are the two largest employment fields in Wirral, employing 
respectively, 22.8% and 16.6% (almost 40% in total) of the total working population of Wirral. 

 

• In fact, given that 22.8% of Wirral work in Health & Social Work, plus a potential level of 
exposure to COVID-19 which is higher than the public at large, it is perhaps surprising that 
the number of deaths is not larger in this group (16.4% of all deaths from COVID-19). 

 

• The most over-represented occupational group in Wirral was Construction, which employs 
only 4.0% of the Wirral population, but accounted for 14.5% of deaths (caveat of small 
numbers) 

 
 
 
 

Page 231



Wirral Intelligence Service: Technical Briefing - PHAR 2020/2021                     |              2020/2021           |                Page 40 of 40 
 

Local Data 
 

Indirect impact of COVID on population outcomes 
 

This short report and its themes, provided by various departments in Wirral Council outline the 
emerging and evolving evidence about the indirect impacts of COVID-19 across a range of 
themes that impact upon health.  
 
These themes are based on research evidence nationally, regionally, and locally exploring the 
impact of the pandemic on health and wellbeing. As validated intelligence systems often have 
substantial time lag, this information is based on locally collated intelligence. It will need to be 
regularly reviewed, updated, and validated to better understand the wider impact of the pandemic 
in order to deliver strategies, services, and programmes relevant to Wirral and our residents. 
 

Short Report: Indirect impact of COVID on population outcomes (July 2021) 
 

Background reports 
 

Life Expectancy in Wirral 2017-19 
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/wirral-population/life-expectancy/ 
 
Wirral Council Health & Wellbeing Board (2021) Tackling Health Inequalities through Regeneration: Health & 
Employment, 16th June 2021 
 
Wirral Council, Place & Investment Team, Interim Economic Strategy Evidence Base, March 2021 
 
JSNA: Children & Young People Population & Demographics, January 2020 
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/children-young-people/ 
 
This is Wirral: Crime and Safety, December 2019 https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/crime-and-
safety/ 
 
This is Wirral: Housing, December 2019 https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/housing/ 
 
Adult Care & Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee: Public Health and Housing, 27th February 2020 
 
Public Health Outcomes Framework, 2021 
Public Health Outcomes Framework - Data - PHE 
 
Community Needs Index – measuring social and cultural factors, OCSI 2021 

https://ocsi.uk/2019/10/21/community-needs-index-measuring-social-and-cultural-factors/  
 
Wirral Community Insight, OCSI 2021 https://wirral.communityinsight.org 
 
This is Wirral: Health & Wellbeing, December 2019 Health & Wellbeing - Wirral Intelligence Service 
 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) in the UK https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/ 
 
CQC (2021) COVID-19 INSIGHT, Issue 12 
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20210721%20COVID%20IV%20Insight%20issue%2012%20slides.pdf  
 
COVID-19 Mortality in Wirral, March 2021 COVID-19: The impacts - Wirral Intelligence Service 

  

Contact details  
 

For further details please contact: Wirral Intelligence Service at 
wirralintelligenceservice@wirral.gov.uk  
 
To subscribe to Wirral Intelligence Service Bulletin, please complete this form 
 
To give us feedback: Let us know your views or if you need to find out more about a particular 
topic or subject then please send us an email Page 232

https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3438/indirect-impact-of-covid-on-population-outcomes-wirral-ccg-july-2021accchkd.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/media/3438/indirect-impact-of-covid-on-population-outcomes-wirral-ccg-july-2021accchkd.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/wirral-population/life-expectancy/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/children-young-people/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/crime-and-safety/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/crime-and-safety/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/housing/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/public-health-outcomes-framework/data
https://ocsi.uk/2019/10/21/community-needs-index-measuring-social-and-cultural-factors/
https://wirral.communityinsight.org/
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/health-wellbeing/
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/20210721%20COVID%20IV%20Insight%20issue%2012%20slides.pdf
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/this-is-wirral/covid-19/covid-19-the-impacts/
mailto:wirralintelligenceservice@wirral.gov.uk
https://wirral.us5.list-manage.com/subscribe?u=28dc8b56d191c90e7216a3f5b&id=a45311a425
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/about-us/contact-us/


Director of Public Health for Wirral
Annual Report  2020/2021

living with COVID-19Living with COVID-19

P
age 233



What a year it’s been…

In January 2020 Wirral became one of the first
places in the world to respond to COVID-19
when we hosted British residents repatriated
from Wuhan, China. Since then, we have all
worked hard together to Keep Wirral Well.

Although COVID-19 has been the biggest health
challenge to affect us all for generations, many of
the enduring health problems we faced before
the pandemic have worsened as a result.

Whilst the pandemic has touched us all, some
people have felt the impact of the virus and the
measures to control it more than others. It has
also showed us how valuable our health is and
how staying healthy protects us all. Julie Webster

Director of Public Health

P
age 234



The pandemic held up a mirror to the 
existing health, economic and social 

inequalities in our borough. 

Same Virus

Different Struggles 

COVID-19 has made these differences 
worse, and the heaviest impacts have 
fallen on the lives of people who are 
already experiencing health, economic 
and social inequalities. 

These differences are the most significant 
health challenge in Wirral. They impact on 
the quality of people’s lives; the way 
residents use services and how individuals 
and the economy prosper.

P
age 235



Health inequalities

in Wirral  

Health inequalities are 

ultimately about differences in 

the status of people’s health. 

They occur due to factors 

often outside of people’s 

direct control and as a result 

people can experience 

systematic, unfair, and 

avoidable differences in their 

health, the care they receive 

and the opportunities they 

have to lead healthy lives.

Research has shown that health 
inequalities occur because of the 
different conditions into which we are 
born, grow, live, work and age. 

This diagram shows how these factors 
interact.

P
age 236



Health inequalities can be measured in many different ways. As a key 
measure of a population’s health status life expectancy is one of the 

foremost measures of health inequality

Life Expectancy by Ward 

Female Life Expectancy at BirthMale Life Expectancy at Birth

Data Source: Life Expectancy at Birth by Wirral Railway Station 2017-2019 (3 Years Pooled) Underlaid with IMD 2019 Deprivation Quintile Station 
life expectancy is based on the Wirral ward life expectancy that the station is located in.

P
age 237



There are many 
reasons why people do 

not have the same 
experience of health as 
others. The places we 

live and work, the 
people we know and 
how we live all affect 

our health and 
wellbeing. 

This diagram details 
how some of these 
factors affect the 
health of Wirral 

residents throughout 
their  life. 

Wirral life course statistics 2021

A comparison to England  

P
age 238



What do we do about it?

We have made great progress in supporting people to live 
healthier lives. However, health inequalities are stubbornly 
persistent.

Crucially we are presented with the opportunity to reduce 
the gap in health between our communities and the rest of 
England or face the possibility that failure to act together, 
and at pace, increases poor health in Wirral.

Tackling health inequalities will benefit every resident of 
Wirral. The pandemic has shown us what we can achieve 
when we all work together and the speed at which we can 
make change happen. 

P
age 239



RecommendationsThe following 

recommendations 

have been made to 

improve the health and 

wellbeing of residents, 

and reduce health 

inequalities in Wirral

Recommendations 

P
age 240



1. Prioritise economic regeneration and 
a strong local economy

I recommend that:

▪ Economic development plans are reviewed to 
ensure that they respond to the impact of the 
pandemic on residents and communities.

▪ Economic Regeneration and Development 
Committee, working with the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, should consider the development of an 
Economic Inequalities Strategy for Wirral.

▪ Employment support services and skills 
development programmes are available, accessible 
and sustainable to ensure income maximisation 
and support those most susceptible to job loss and 
job insecurity.

▪ Partners embed a ‘Health in All’ policies approach to 
regeneration planning. We can use this approach to 
ensure that the wide breadth of health impacts of 
the pandemic is part of routine decision making 
and to reduce health inequalities.

P
age 241



2. Safeguard a healthy standard of living 
for all

I recommend that:

▪ Wirral’s Housing Strategy is reviewed to reflect the 
changing needs of residents and to address the 
challenges that have emerged during the 
pandemic.

▪ There is an integrated information and advice offer 
to enable people to access support when they 
need it.

▪ Build on the progress made during the pandemic 
to support people who are homeless.

▪ Define and streamline fuel poverty support 
pathways with partners across Wirral learning from 
COVID response.

▪ Relevant partners utilise Health Impact Assessment 
in spatial planning to identify risks to health and 
ways to mitigate them.

P
age 242



3. Increase support for children, young 
people and families

I recommend that:

▪ The impacts of the pandemic on our young people 
are examined to ensure that children and families 
have the support they need to predict future areas 
requiring support and inform the offer for early 
years support from the Council and other partners.

▪ Continue to develop the early help and intervention 
model underpinned by a prevention framework.

▪ Work with families, early years, schools, further and 
higher education sectors to ensure all children and 
young people fulfil their potential through a ‘cradle 
to career’ approach.

▪ Ensure that services are maximising opportunities 
to mitigate the impact of the pandemic on children, 
young people and families with a focus on physical 
and mental health.

▪ Review existing support and services for our most 
vulnerable children, young people and families to 
ensure they are resilient, accessible and driving 
progress.

P
age 243



4. Strengthen action to address 
differences in health outcomes and 
prevention 

I recommend that:

▪ Local health and care partners focus on tackling inequalities 
in healthcare provision - this is their direct responsibility and 
must be the prime focus of their action. 

▪ Local NHS partners ensure they can access high-quality data 
to measure performance on reducing health inequalities 
across services. This includes being able to breakdown 
outcome and performance data by deprivation and ethnicity. 

▪ NHS partners use their role as local anchor institutions and 
the choices they make as an employer and a purchaser to 
reduce inequalities. 

▪ Preventative programmes and proactive health management 
for groups at greatest risk of poor health outcomes are 
accelerated across key service areas as outlined within the 
NHS Long Term Plan. 

▪ The developing integrated care system and local providers 
have a named executive board level lead for tackling health 
inequalities and access training made available by local and 
national partners. 

▪ Local NHS partners engage with and play a supportive role in 
multi-agency action to improve the social, economic and 
environmental conditions in which people live. 

▪ Health and care partners focus on good infection prevention 
control to ensure avoidable infections are prevented.

P
age 244



5. Residents and partners continue to 
work together 

I recommend that:

▪ All partners should continue to build on the strong 
partnership work developed through our COVID-19 
response by implementing the action emerging from 
the Health and Wellbeing Board Community and 
Voluntary Sector work.

▪ All partners fully engage local people to co-design 
services and initiatives to enable residents to recover 
and improve their health and wellbeing. We need to 
prioritise our more vulnerable residents who have 
been disproportionately affected by COVID-19 and 
use tailored communication methods.

▪ We undertake a resident listening exercise to learn 
from the experience of the pandemic to understand 
local people’s experiences and aspirations for the 
future. This work should be a blueprint for 
developing a sustainable model for the use of 
insights gathered from local people. 

P
age 245



Thank you

P
age 246



ECONOMY REGENERATION & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
Monday, 22 November 2021 

REPORT TITLE: QUARTER 2 MONITOR REPORT
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE

REPORT SUMMARY

This report provides a summary of the projected year-end revenue and capital position for 
Economy, Regeneration & Development Committee as at the end of Quarter 2 (September 
2021) of the 2021/22 financial year.  The report provides Members with an overview of 
budget performance to enable the Committee to take ownership of their specific budgets 
and provide robust challenge and scrutiny to Officers on the performance of those budgets.

The Committee is accountable for ensuring that the committee budgets remain within the 
relevant envelope and will take collective responsibility via the Policy and Resources 
Committee to ensure that the whole Council budget remains in balance at all times, by 
agreeing mitigating actions to bring the budget back in line, should a deficit be forecast.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The Economic, Regeneration and Development Committee is requested to :

1. Note the projected year-end revenue forecast variance of £0.128m favourable 
position as reported at quarter 2 (Jul_Sep) of 2021-22.

2. Note progress on the achievement of approved savings and the projected year-
end forecast position at quarter 2 (Jul_Sep) of 2021-22.

3. Note the reserves allocated to the Committee for future one-off commitments
4. Note the projected year-end capital forecast expenditure position of £17.649m as 

reported at quarter 2 (Jul_Sep) of 2021-22.

Page 247

Agenda Item 12



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 Regular monitoring and reporting of revenue and capital budgets, reserves, savings 
achievements and Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) position enables 
decisions to be taken faster, which may produce revenue benefits and will improve 
financial control of Wirral Council.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Other reporting frequencies could be considered, but quarterly reporting is standard 
practice.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Revenue Forecast Position

3.1 This section provides a summary of the projected year-end revenue position as at
the end of Quarter 2, Month 6 (September 2021) of 2021/22 financial year.

3.2 As at the end of June 2021, the forecast year-end position for Economy, 
Regeneration & Development Committee is a favourable variance of £0.128m 
against a budget of £3.715m.

TABLE 1: 2021/22 Regeneration and Place – Service Budget & Forecast

      
Objective Budget Forecast Variance                             

(+ Fav, - Adv)
Adv/Fav

 £000 £000 £000 %  
      
Regeneration 1,678 1,582 96 6% Favourable
Planning and Building 
Control 857 925  32 -4% Favourable

Special Projects 108 108  0 0%
Local Plan 400 400 0 0%  
      
Directorate Surplus / 
(Deficit) 3,043 3,015 128 4% Favourable
      
Support / Admin Building 
Overhead  672 672 0 0%  

      
Total Surplus / (Deficit) 3,715 3,687 128 4%  
      

3.3 Regeneration: A favourable variance of £0.096m is reported for 2021-22.  Whilst the 
new staffing structure that will help deliver the major regeneration projects is being 

Page 248



recruited to, temporary interim staff are helping to ensure grant funding bids are 
achieved and that projects continue to be delivered.  

3.4 Planning and Building Control: 
A favourable variance of £32k relates to Capacity grant funding being made 
available to support the costs relating to the Merseyside Environmental Advisory 
Service (MEAS). MEAS provide statutory advice to Development Management on 
archaeology, waste, and ecology.  Work will continue in this area to identify a 
realistic and sustainable budget for this service and to manage costs going forward. 
This work will take several months but, in the meantime, the grant funding will 
mitigate the budget variance and discussions are ongoing with MEAS to manage the 
costs.

3.5 Special Projects: A break-even position is reported for 2021-22. 

3.6 Local Plan: A break-even position is reported for 2021-22, with the planned 
utilisation of available reserves of £0.729m in support of developing the local plan.

TABLE 2: 2021/22 Regeneration and Place – Subjective Budget & Forecast

      
Subjective Budget Forecast Variance                             

(+ Fav, - Adv)
Adv/Fav

 £000 £000 £000 %  
      
Income  -5,076  -5,452 377 7% Favourable
      
Expenditure      
Employee 4,823 4,631 192 4% Favourable
Non Pay 3,295 3,736  -441 -12% Adverse
Total Expenditure 8,118 8,367  -248 -3% Adverse
      
Directorate Surplus / 
(Deficit) 3,043 2,904 128 4% Favourable
      
Support / Admin Building 
Overhead  672  672 0 0%  
      
Total Surplus / (Deficit) 3,715 3,586 128 4% Favourable
      

3.7 Income: A Favourable variance of £0.377m is reported for 2021-22, relating to grant 
support for Urban Development feasibility work, which is matched by increased non-
pay spend.

3.8 Employees: A Favourable variance of £0.192m is reported for 2021-22 relating to 
the new staffing structure being recruited to in Regeneration, per paragraph 3.3 

3.9 Non Pay: An Adverse variance of £0.441m is reported for 2021-22, relating in the 
main to forecast spend of the Urban Development grant, per 3.7.

Page 249



Budget Saving Achievement Progress

3.10 Within each Committee’s revenue budget there are a number of savings proposals, 
that were based on either actual known figures or best estimates available at the 
time. At any point during the year, these estimated figures could change and need to 
be monitored closely to ensure, if adverse, mitigating actions can be taken 
immediately to ensure a balanced forecast budget can be reported to the end of the 
year.

TABLE 3: 2021/22 Regeneration and Place – Budget Savings

Saving Title Agreed 
Value

Forecast 
Value

RAG 
Rating

Comments

Pre-application Fee 
Increase and PPAs

£0.02m  £0.02m Green On target to be achieved.

Budget Allocation for 
DDA

£0.2m £0.2m Green On target to be achieved.

Sales, Fees and Charges 
Compensation - Planning

£0.05m £0.05m Green On target to be achieved.

Wirral Growth Company 
Joint Venture income

£1.38m £1.38m Amber On target to be achieved, 
including income from 
capital receipts

Total £1.65M £1.65M

Earmarked Reserves

3.11 Earmarked reserves are amounts set aside for a specific purpose or projects. 

TABLE 4: 2021/22 Regeneration and Place – Earmarked Reserves

Reserves Opening 
Balance    

£000

Use of 
Reserve 

£000

Contribution 
to Reserve 

£000

Closing 
Balance 

£000
Wirral Ways to Work 273  273 
Regeneration and Inward 
Investment

563 563

Urban Development Corporation 
Bid

420 420

Building Control Fee Earning 354 52 302
Major Infrastructure Project 
Development 

183 183

DCLG Empty Shops Grant 41 41
ERDF 4.2 Match Funding 19 19
A/M GMT – Community Fund CAT 76 76
Licence Survey Work 56 56
TOTAL 1,985 52 0 1,985

Page 250



3.12 Building Control are utilising 52k of their earmarked reserves, mainly to cover IT 
equipment, training and administrative support.

2021/22 COMMITTEE CAPITAL BUDGET

TABLE 5: 2021/22 – Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee Capital 
Budget & Forecast

 2021/22

Scheme
Budget 
£000

Forecast 
Outturn 
£000

Variance 
£000

Economy, Regeneration and Development    
Birkenhead Market Development 50 0 -50
Birkenhead Regeneration Delivery Fund 2,599 2,599 0
Birkenhead Regeneration Framework 667 667 0
Business Investment Fund 955 955 0
Eureka 100 100 0
Future High Streets - Birkenhead 12,022 3,318 -8,704
Future High Streets – New Ferry 0 529 529
Hind Street Movement Strategy Project 21-22 0 123 123
Housing Infrastructure Fund (Enabling Infrastructure) 21 21 0
Housing Infrastructure Fund Marginal Viability 
(Northbank) 3,788 3,748 -40
Maritime Knowledge hub 0 1,700 1,700
New Ferry Regeneration Strategic Acquisitions 718 280 -438
Office Quarter Building Fit-Out 196 196 0
Strategic Acquisition Fund 4,834 1,200 -3,634
Town Centre scheme – Liscard 296 296 0
Town Centre scheme - New Ferry 177 177 0
Town Fund Birkenhead 115 115 0
Wirral Waters Investment Fund 4,100 1,605 -2,495
Total Economy, Regeneration and Development 30,638 17,649 -12,989

3.13 Table 5 summarises the forecast expenditure against Capital Budgets, which shows 
a variance of £12.989m.   

3.14 Future High Street Fund Grant for Birkenhead of £12 million received in advance 
from MHCLG (now the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, 
DLUHC) in 20/21 as part of the Birkenhead Future High Street programme. Funds 
were paid as a Section 31 grant and in advance of signing a grant funding 
agreement. Currently negotiating a project adjustment and revised spend profile with 
Government. The forecast for 21/22 is dependent on a number of solutions being 
agreed, which includes the temporary Birkenhead Market site, with the £8.704m 
being slipped into future years capital programme.

Page 251



3.15 A Future High Street Fund grant for New Ferry of £0.5m was received in advance 
from DLUHC in 2021/22, as part of the £3.2m award for the redevelopment works 
proposed in New Ferry. Funds were received in advance of the signing and 
acceptance of the grant funding agreement. Officers are currently reviewing the 
spend profile with Government for the lifetime of the project, mindful that a preferred 
development partner to deliver the regeneration proposals for the town, will be 
appointed in February 2022. Officers are currently engaged in competitive dialogue 
with a number of bidders, through a formal procurement process.

3.16 The Maritime Knowledge Hub is a catalytic project that will support wider 
development within Wirral Waters. It will create a world class centre of excellence for 
maritime business growth and sector development. It was approved at P&R 
Committee on 17/3/21 following recommendation from this committee on 4/3/21.  
£1.7m has been earmarked for potential spend in Q4 subject to grant approval and 
Peel meeting certain scheme conditions regarding levels of pre-lets. The remaining 
spend is allocated in future years.

3.17 Strategic Acquisition Fund is available to support acquisitions that may be required 
to ensure the regeneration strategy can successfully be delivered.   Any unspent 
funding will be slipped into the next financial year.

4 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 This is the revenue budget monitoring report that provides information on the 
forecast outturn for the Economy, Regeneration & Development Committee for 
2021/22. The Council has robust methods for reporting and forecasting budgets in 
place and alongside formal Quarterly reporting to the Policy & Resources 
Committee, the financial position is routinely reported at Directorate Management 
Team meetings and corporately at the Strategic Leadership Team (SLT). In the 
event of any early warning highlighting pressures and potential overspends, the SLT 
take collective responsibility to identify solutions to resolve these to ensure a 
balanced budget can be reported at the end of the year.

5 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Sections 25 to 29 of the Local Government Act 2003 impose duties on the Council in 
relation to how it sets and monitors its budget. These provisions require the Council 
to make prudent allowance for the risk and uncertainties in its budget and regularly 
monitor its finances during the year. The legislation leaves discretion to the Council 
about the allowances to be made and action to be taken. 

5.2 The provisions of section 25, Local Government Act 2003 require that, when the 
Council is making the calculation of its budget requirement, it must have regard to 
the report of the chief finance (s.151) officer as to the robustness of the estimates 
made for the purposes of the calculations and the adequacy of the proposed 
financial reserves. This is in addition to the personal duty on the Chief Finance 
(Section 151) Officer to make a report, if it appears to them that the expenditure of 
the authority incurred (including expenditure it proposes to incur) in a financial year is 
likely to exceed the resources (including sums borrowed) available to it to meet that 
expenditure. 

Page 252



5.3 It is essential, as a matter of prudence that the financial position continues to be 
closely monitored. In particular, Members must satisfy themselves that sufficient 
mechanisms are in place to ensure both that savings are delivered and that new 
expenditure is contained within the available resources.

6 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

7         RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The possible failure to deliver the Revenue Budget is being mitigated by: 
1. Senior Leadership / Directorate Teams regularly reviewing the financial 

position.
2. Availability of General Fund Balances.
3. Review of existing services and service provision.

8       ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 The priorities in the Council Plan 2025 were informed by stakeholder engagement 
carried out in 2019.

9 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 
carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity.

9.2 There are no equality implications arising specifically from this report.

10 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 The Wirral Plan 2025 includes a set of goals and objectives to create a sustainable 
environment which urgently tackles the environment emergency. These are based 
on developing and delivering plans that improve the environment for Wirral residents. 
The performance report will include information on key areas where environment and 
climate related outcomes are delivered.

10.2 No direct implications. The content and/or recommendations contained within this 
report are expected to have no impact on emissions of Greenhouse Gases.

REPORT AUTHOR: Mark Lightburn
Senior Finance Business Partner
telephone: 0151 666 33 44
email: marklightburn@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES
None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Page 253

mailto:marklightburn@wirral.gov.uk


 2021/22 BUDGET MONITORING 
 P&R Budget Monitoring 2021/22 Quarter 2

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date
Economic Regeneration & Development Committee

Economic Regeneration & Development Committee

Economic Regeneration & Development Committee

Economic Regeneration & Development Committee

Economic Regeneration & Development Committee

Economic Regeneration & Development Committee

27 October 2020

26 January 2021

4 March 2021

8 June 2021

26 July 2021

29 September 2021

Page 254



ECONOMY REGENRATION AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE
Monday, 22nd November 2021

REPORT TITLE: OUTCOMES OF BUDGET WORKSHOPS
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF REGENERATION AND PLACE

REPORT SUMMARY

The purpose of this report is for the Committee to consider feedback and outcomes from 
the Budget Workshops which have been held in recent months. The workshops enabled 
officer and member liaison on proposed budget options, to facilitate discussion and allow 
direction to be obtained on further analysis required. The Budget Workshops also provided 
an opportunity for alternative proposals to be considered. 

The Policy and Service Committees are responsible for those services being delivered 
under their operational headings within their annual budget envelope. The Policy and 
Resources Committee, in consultation with the respective Policy and Service Committees, 
has been charged by Council to formulate a draft Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and 
budget to recommend to the Council.

The Budget Workshops considered whether the proposals included in the MTFP for the 
2022/23 budget, and beyond, are to be taken forward or whether they are to be replaced by 
alternative proposals that the committees will recommend.

RECOMMENDATIONS

It is recommended:

1. That the Committee agrees the Budget Workshop feedback and outcomes, as 
detailed in appendix 1, being reported to Policy and Resources Committee for 
consideration.

Page 255

Agenda Item 13



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

1.1 The Council has a legal responsibility to set an annual balanced budget, which 
establishes how financial resources are to be allocated and utilised. To successfully 
do so, engagement with members, staff and residents is undertaken; the 
recommendations in this report are an initial step in this approach and act as a pre-
cursor to budget proposals, scheduled to be made to Full Council on 28 February 
2022, following the schedule of activity shown in Appendix 2. 

1.2 Failure to set a lawful budget in time may lead to a loss of revenue, significant 
additional administrative costs, as well as reputational damage. Failure to set a 
budget may lead to intervention from the Secretary of State under section 15 the 
Local Government Act 1999.

1.3 The scale of the financial challenge that the Council faces cannot be overstated. The 
short-term support afforded by government in the form of a capitalisation directive 
does not extend beyond 2021/22, reinforcing the requirement for an in-depth review 
of Council operations to enable considered and robust proposals to be made to 
Council in February 2022 for the 2022/23 budget allocation. This will require difficult 
decisions to ensure that a balanced budget can be presented. Regular Member 
engagement on the process, which this report forms part of, is considered essential 
for effective budget formulation.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 A report does not have to be provided to the Committee to outline activity at this 
stage, however it is considered appropriate to do so in order to ensure that the 
Committee has up-to-date information in respect of the financial context that the 
Council is operating within and set out the budget setting stages that are expected to 
follow; in order that the Committee can comment accordingly and reduce the risk that 
it will not have the relevant information required to make an informed decision in 
respect of budget proposals to Full Council.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The Policy & Resources Committee is responsible for co-ordinating processes for 
the development of the Budget and Policy Framework, together with decision making 
on cross-cutting policies not part of the Policy Framework. The Policy and Service 
Committees are responsible for those services being delivered under their 
operational headings within their annual budget envelope. The Policy and Resources 
Committee, in consultation with the respective Policy and Service Committees, has 
been charged by Council to formulate a draft Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) 
and budget to recommend to the Council.

3.2 Budget setting activity has been undertaken in line with the recommendations 
accepted by the Committee in June 2021, which built upon the approach outlined in 
March 2021.

Page 256



3.3 The Senior Leadership Team (SLT) has met regularly to discuss the budget setting 
process, budget proposals, the budget gap that the Council faces and the associated 
uncertainty on funding. The Chartered Institute of Public Finance (CIPFA) were 
engaged by the Director of Resources to support progress on developing robust 
business cases for budget proposals, to provide an additional level of scrutiny and 
external insight to matters. Member engagement in the process has taken place 
through Budget Workshops.

3.4 These Budget workshops were convened to enable officer and member liaison on 
proposed budget options, in order to facilitate discussion and allow direction to be 
obtained on further analysis required. The Budget Workshops also provided an 
opportunity for alternative proposals to be considered. 

3.5 The five-year medium term financial plan (MTFP) produced to satisfy the 
requirement of The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
(MHCLG) (now known as The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC)) for exceptional financial support, formed the basis of Budget 
Workshop discussions. Consideration has been given as to whether the proposals 
included in the MTFP for the 2022/23 budget, and beyond, are to be taken forward or 
whether they are to be replaced by alternative proposals that the committees will 
recommend.

3.6 The outcomes of these workshops are to be reported to meetings of those 
committees (in November) and will in turn be communicated to the Policy & 
Resources Committee (in December).

3.7 Details of the government’s comprehensive spending review, which will outline 
funding implications for local government, is expected at the end of 2021. The 
outcome of the review will provide clarity on the funding assumptions currently in 
place, which in turn will demonstrate the specific funding gap that the Council will 
need to bridge as part of the budget proposals to be considered.

3.8 The impact of the government’s comprehensive spending review on the Council’s 
financial assumptions will be taken into account, along with feedback from the 
consultation process and the budget proposals developed through the Service 
Committee and Policy & Resources Committee (P&R) Budget Workshop approach to 
present a robust position on financial matters to be considered in formulating a 
budget proposal to Full Council. Further details of the key milestones associated with 
the 2022/23 budget setting process is shown at Appendix 2, which illustrates the 
proposed timetable for budget setting.

3.9 Policy & Resources Committee budget recommendations will be proposed in 
February 2022 in respect of the agreement of the annual Budget, setting of the 
council tax requirement and related matters to the Council, which will be debated by 
Full Council and voted upon by a simple majority. 

3.10 With a potential revised budget gap in excess of £30m (as reported in the Pre-
Budget Report presented to Policy & Resources Committee on 25 October 2021), 
the current level/breadth of services provided by the Council is not considered 
feasible and viable for continuance, hence the requirement to continue to develop a 

Page 257



number of potential budget proposals via the policy and service committees to 
ensure this gap can be closed.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 This report provides the Committee with an update on recent budget setting activity 
and describes the context in which the budget for 2022/23 is being set, where a 
prudent approach is being undertaken to develop budget proposals amidst an 
uncertain financial landscape.

4.2 Delivering financial sustainability is vitally important for the Council, with the 
capitalisation directive aspects of recent years reinforcing the need to develop a 
revised approach to operations, in order that any future crisis situation can be 
manged within available resources. This is reflective of comments made by Grant 
Thornton, the Council’s external auditor, who noted as part of their value for money 
review during the audit of the 219/20 accounts, “We note that the capitalisation 
directive will only provide support to the Council for 2020/21 and 2021/22. As such, 
the Council needs to ensure that it delivers against its revised MTFS. It will need to 
put in place clear plans to reduce its future recurring service expenditure and move 
to a balanced revenue position that does not rely on reserves”.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The Policy and Resources Committee, in consultation with the respective Policy and 
Service Committees, has been charged by Council to formulate a draft Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP) and budget to recommend to the Council.

5.2 The Council must set the budget in accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and approval of a balanced budget each year is a 
statutory responsibility of the Council. Sections 25 to 29 of the Local Government Act 
2003 impose duties on the Council in relation to how it sets and monitors its budget.  
These provisions require the Council to make prudent allowance for the risk and 
uncertainties in its budget and regularly monitor its finances during the year.  The 
legislation leaves discretion to the Council about the allowances to be made and 
action to be taken.    

5.3 Section 30(6) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 provides that the Council 
has to set its budget before 11th March in the financial year preceding the one in 
respect of which the budget is set. 

5.4 The provisions of section 25, Local Government Act 2003 require that, when the 
Council is making the calculation of its budget requirement, it must have regard to 
the report of the chief finance (s.151) officer as to the robustness of the estimates 
made for the purposes of the calculations and the adequacy of the proposed 
financial reserves. 

5.5 When considering options, Members must bear in mind their fiduciary duty to the 
council taxpayers of Wirral. Members must have adequate evidence on which to 
base their decisions on the level of quality at which services should be provided.  

Page 258



5.6 Where a service is provided pursuant to a statutory duty, it would not be lawful to fail 
to discharge it properly or abandon it, and where there is discretion as to how it is to 
be discharged, that discretion should be exercised reasonably.  

5.7 The report sets out the relevant considerations for Members to consider during their 
deliberations and Members are reminded of the need to ignore irrelevant 
considerations. Members have a duty to seek to ensure that the Council acts 
lawfully.  Members must not come to a decision which no reasonable authority could 
come to; balancing the nature, quality and level of services which they consider 
should be provided, against the costs of providing such services. 

5.8 There is a particular requirement to take into consideration the Council’s fiduciary 
duty and the public sector equality duty in coming to its decision. 

5.9 The public sector equality duty is that a public authority must, in the exercise of its 
functions, have due regard to the need to: (1) eliminate discrimination, harassment, 
victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Equality Act 
2010; (2) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and (3) foster good 
relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons 
who do not share it. 

5.10 Any decision made in the exercise of any function is potentially open to challenge if 
the duty has been disregarded. The duty applies both to Full Council when setting 
the budget and to the Policy and Services Committees when considering decisions. 

5.11 Once a budget is in place, Council has delegated responsibility to the Policy and 
Services Committees to implement it. The Committees may not act contrary to the 
Budget without consent of Council other than in accordance with the Procedure 
Rules set out at Part 4(3) of the Constitution.

5.12 It is essential, as a matter of prudence that the financial position continues to be 
closely monitored. In particular, Members must satisfy themselves that sufficient 
mechanisms are in place to ensure both that agreed savings are delivered and that 
new expenditure is contained within the available resources. Accordingly, any 
proposals put forward must identify the realistic measures and mechanisms to 
produce those savings. 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 At this time, there are no additional resource implications.  However, where the 
budget is unbalanced and further proposals are required, then there may be 
resource implications, and these will be addressed within the relevant business 
cases presented to the Committee.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The Council’s ability to maintain a balanced budget is dependent on a proactive 
approach due to estimated figures being provided in the calculation for the budget, 
albeit the best estimates available at the time, plus any amount of internal and 

Page 259



external factors that could impact on the budget position.  Examples of which are 
new legislation, increased demand, loss of income, increased funding, decreased 
funding, inability to recruit to posts, ongoing impact of the pandemic, etc.

7.2 A robust monitoring and management process for the budget is in place.  If at any 
time during the year an adverse position is forecast, remedial action must be agreed 
and implemented immediately to ensure the budget can be brought back to balanced 
position.

7.3 The risk of this not being able to be achieved could mean that the Council does not 
have enough funding to offset its expenditure commitments for the year and 
therefore not be able report a balanced budget at the end of the year.  This could 
result in the Section 151 Officer issuing a Section 114 notice.

7.4 A key risk to the Council’s financial plans is that funding and demand assumptions in 
particular can change as more information becomes available.  As such, the MTFP is 
regularly reviewed and updated as part of routine financial management. 

7.5 A balanced MTFP is fundamental in demonstrating robust and secure financial 
management. Delivering a balanced position requires continual review and revision 
of plans to allow alternative financial proposals to be developed and embedded in 
plans as situations change.  A delay in agreeing these may put the timetable for 
setting the 2022/23 budget at risk and may result in a balanced budget not being 
identified in time for the deadline of 11 March 2022.

7.7 Assumptions have been made in the current budget outlook for income and funding 
from business rates and council tax and social care grants as the main sources of 
funding.  If there is an adverse change to these assumptions as a result of the CSR, 
additional savings proposals or reduced expenditure would need to be identified as 
soon as possible to ensure a balanced five-year MTFP can be achieved.  
Committees will be kept updated with any announcements regarding the CSR 
through the year.

7.8 Sections 25 to 29 of the Local Government Act 2003 impose duties on the Council in 
relation to how it sets and monitors its budget. These provisions require the Council 
to make prudent allowance for the risk and uncertainties in its budget and regularly 
monitor its finances during the year. The legislation leaves discretion to the Council 
about the allowances to be made and action to be taken.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Consultation has been carried out with the Senior Leadership Team (SLT) in arriving 
at the governance process for the 2022/23 budget setting process.  SLT have 
overseen the production of the budget scenarios laid out in this report.

8.2 Engagement with local residents and businesses will be part of the budget setting 
process.

Page 260



9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it 
carries out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact 
Assessment is a tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure 
equality for anyone who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity.

9.2 At this time, there are no further equality implications as these have already been 
identified for the proposals agreed and submitted.  However, where the budget is 
unbalanced and further proposals are required, then there may be equality 
implications associated with these, and these will be addressed within the relevant 
business cases presented to the Committee.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 At this time, there are no additional environmental and climate implications as these 
have already been identified for the proposals agreed and submitted.  However, 
where the budget is unbalanced and further proposals are required, then there may 
be environment and climate implications associated with these that will be addressed 
within the relevant business cases presented to the Committee.

11.0 COMMUNITY WEALTH IMPLICATIONS

11.1 This report has no direct community wealth implications however the budget 
proposals under consideration should take account of related matters across 
headings such as the following:

 Progressive Procurement and Social Value
How we commission and procure goods and services. Encouraging contractors 
to deliver more benefits for the local area, such as good jobs, apprenticeship, 
training & skills opportunities, real living wage, minimising their environmental 
impact, and greater wellbeing.

 More local & community ownership of the economy
Supporting more cooperatives and community businesses.
Enabling greater opportunities for local businesses.
Building on the experience of partnership working with voluntary, community and 
faith groups during the pandemic to further develop this sector.

 Decent and Fair Employment 
Paying all employees a fair and reasonable wage.

 Making wealth work for local places

REPORT AUTHOR: Mark Goulding
(Senior Finance Manager)
telephone:  Tel: 0151 666 3403
email:  markgoulding@wirral.gov.uk

Page 261



APPENDICES
APPENDIX 1 – BUDGET WORKSHOP FEEDBACK AND OUTCOMES
APPENDIX 2 – BUDGET SETTING MILESTONES

BACKGROUND PAPERS

CIPFA’s Financial Management Code

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date

Policy and Resources Committee 17 March 2021

Full Council 1 March 2021

Policy and Resources Committee 9 June 2021

Policy and Resources Committee 25 October 2021

Page 262



APPENDIX 1 – BUDGET WORKSHOP FEEDBACK AND OUTCOMES

 
Budget Workshops
Subject: Economy, Regeneration 
and Development Committee
Date: 8th September 2021 
From: Anna Perrett, Senior 
Democratic Services Officer  
annaperret@wirral.gov.uk
 
To: P&R Committee

1. Background

All local authorities are required to set a balanced budget by 10th March each year.

The Regeneration and Place Directorate has developed efficiency options for 
consideration by the Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee and 
before their recommendations are put forward to the Policy and Resources 
Committee (P & R) for review. Workshops to gather the below feedback were held 
on the 13 September 2021. Budget option recommendations were agreed during the 
workshop on the 13 September. This will inform the P & R’s Committee’s proposals 
and final budget recommendation to Council. 

Members were made aware that the Indicative Budget gap for 2022/23 currently 
stands at £31.6m and that Officer proposals (savings/income) to bridge that gap total 
£24.8m. Members were advised that one of the requirements of submitting the 
capitalisation request to MHCLG was a 5 year balanced MTFP.

Members were then informed that as at 17 March P&R Committee the gap was 
balanced but since then some additional pressures have emerged and some 
estimated savings have reduced. With all the officer proposals the current gap is now 
£6.8m. Some assumptions have been made which may change this gap which will 
not be known until later in the year

2. Key Considerations
Indicative Budget gap for 2022/23 currently stands at £31.6m.

Officer proposals (savings/income) to bridge that gap total £24.8m.

Therefore with the officer proposals, the current gap is now £6.8m.

There are a number of pressures, including an increase in multiple Levies  

Members of the Economy Regeneration and Transport Committee were asked to 
consider and identify any cross-cutting impact across the directorate and culminate 
in a 22/23 budget and identify future years budget gap.

Page 263

mailto:annaperret@wirral.gov.uk


Future Year Savings – Regeneration and Place Directorate

Wirral Growth Company Income 
2022/23 Total income £350k  

The Director of Regeneration and Place put forward the proposed income generation for 
the Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee with no of the options being 
discounted. 

The Savings proposals would be developed following input from the Committee

3. Members questions

 Officers were asked for a protocol for the Economy, Regeneration and Development 
Committee to be drawn up, showing responsibility for schemes etc up to the point 
when the development work was completed and when responsibility should shift to 
Environment, Climate Emergency and Transport Committee for maintenance. It was 
also mentioned that budget workshops should carry on until officers have a balanced 
budget. 

 One councillor also suggested offering bonds to raise money locally. Alan Evans 
suggested bringing something back about this and how it can be used. The 
Councillor also asked about the freeport and was told business cases were being 
prepared.

 Councillors also queried if Cadburys developed paid toward neighbourhood facilities 
at the Moreton site. Officers said they would come back with more details. Councillor 
Smith also suggested using the Open Golf in 2023 as a showcase. 

Page 264



ECONOMY REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

Monday 22nd November 2021

REPORT TITLE: ECONOMY REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVENANCE

REPORT SUMMARY

The Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee, in co-operation with the other 
Policy and Service Committees, is responsible for proposing and delivering an annual 
committee work programme. This work programme should align with the corporate priorities 
of the Council, in particular the delivery of the key decisions which are within the remit of 
the Committee.  It is envisaged that the work programme will be formed from a combination 
of key decisions, standing items and requested officer reports. This report provides the 
Committee with an opportunity to plan and regularly review its work across the municipal 
year. The work programme for the Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee is 
attached as Appendix 1 to this report.

RECOMMENDATION/S

The Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee are invited to agree or otherwise 
determine the content of the Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee work 
programme which is proposed in this report for the remainder of the 2021/22 municipal 
year.

Page 265

Agenda Item 14



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To ensure Members of the Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee 
have the opportunity to contribute to the delivery of the annual work programme.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 A number of workplan formats were explored, with the current framework open to 
amendment to match the requirements of the Committee

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The work programme should align with the priorities of the Council and its partners. 
The programme will be informed by: 
 The Council Plan 
 The Council’s transformation programme 
 The Council’s Forward Plan 
 Service performance information 
 Risk management information 
 Public or service user feedback 
 Referrals from Council

Terms of Reference 

 The Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee has responsibility for 
developing and delivering a vision for Wirral as a place. It is responsible for developing and 
determining or recommending all planning and transport policies, including the Local Plan, 
and infrastructure planning. It is also responsible for promoting regeneration, economic 
development and associated activities, including the tourism, culture and visitor economy, 
and for removing barriers to growth. 

The Committee is charged by full Council to undertake responsibility for: 

(a) development and delivery of the Council’s strategic objectives for planning, sustainability 
and transportation; 

(b) developing and recommending those plans and strategies which together comprise the 
Local Plan; 

(c) developing and adopting or recommending (if reserved to Council) other spatial planning 
documents, including but not limited to 

(i) supplementary planning documents (SPD) and planning policy advice notes; 

(ii) Master Plans and development briefs;  

Page 266



(iii) The Infrastructure Delivery Plan; and  

(iv) [The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) when applicable]; 

(d) economic development, including but not limited to infrastructure, enterprise, skills and 
seeking, securing and managing external funds to achieve that, directly or in partnership 
with joint ventures and external companies or bodies as well as with the Combined 
Authority and government bodies;  

(e) the Council’s functions and partnerships regarding the promotion of economic growth 
and the establishment and development of business;  

(f) the promotion and development of the economic factors in the area, such as seeking to 
ensure sufficient and appropriate employment sites, investment, adult skills, apprenticeship 
schemes, productivity, development sites and so forth;  

(g) overseeing the progress of major projects (including major building, infrastructure or 
other projects involving the erection or significant alteration of major permanent structures 
or landmarks) undertaken by the Council directly or as enabler, funder or joint enterprise 
partner, including but not limited to the Wirral Growth Company LLP

(h) reviewing major projects and any project boards having regard to capacity to deliver, 
corporate priorities and resources, and advise the Policy and Resources Committee as 
appropriate; 

(i) providing a view of performance, budget monitoring and risk management in relation to 
the Committee’s functions; and 

(j) undertaking the development and implementation of policy in relation to the Committee’s 
functions, incorporating the assessment of outcomes, review of effectiveness and 
formulation of recommendations to the Council, partners and other bodies, which shall 
include any decision relating to the above functions.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1     This report is for information and planning purposes only, therefore there are no 
direct financial implication arising. However, there may be financial implications 
arising as a result of work programme items.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1      There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. However, there may be 
legal implications arising as a result of work programme items

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1      There are no direct implications to staffing, ICT or Assets.

Page 267



7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The Committee’s ability to undertake it’s responsibility to provide strategic direction 
to the operation of the Council, make decisions on policies, co-ordinate spend, and 
maintain a strategic overview of outcomes, performance, risk management and 
budgets may be compromised if it does not have the opportunity to plan and 
regularly review its work across the municipal year.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 Not applicable

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 Wirral Council has a legal requirement to make sure its policies, and the way it carries 
out its work, do not discriminate against anyone. An Equality Impact Assessment is a 
tool to help council services identify steps they can take to ensure equality for anyone 
who might be affected by a particular policy, decision or activity.

This report is for information to Members and there are no direct equality 
implications.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 This report is for information to Members and there are no direct environment and 
climate implications. However, there may be implications arising as a result of work 
programme items.

REPORT AUTHOR: Anna Perret
(Senior Democratic Services Officer)
email:  annaperret@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Work Programme update

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Council Constitution

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Economy, Regeneration and Development Committee 26th October 2020

Page 268



ECONOMY, REGENERATION AND DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE
WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21

October 2021

Item Key 
Decision 
Yes/No

Lead Officer

Town Deal – Acceptance of 
Grant

Yes Sally Shah

Economic Strategy for Wirral 
2026

Yes Sally Shah

Liscard Neighbourhood 
Framework

Yes Sally Shah

Exmouth Street Yes Alan Evans
Co-op Building Yes Alan Evans
Draft Delivery Plans No Alan Evans
Work Programme Update NO Anna Perrett

Key decisions – to be scheduled
 
Item Key 

Decision
Lead 
Departmental 
Officer  

Wirral Plan Priority

Birkenhead Temporary 
Market

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Application for Financial 
Assistance

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Wirral Waters Enterprise 
Zone Investment Fund

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Liverpool City Region 
Economic Initiatives and 
Funding

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

European Structural and 
Investment Funds (ESIF)  
Programme for England 
(2014-2020

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Page 269



Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority 
Devolution Funding

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Birkenhead Town Centre 
Masterplan

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Hind Street Regeneration 
Strategy

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Temporary Market, 
Birkenhead

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Appointment of Preferred 
Developer to Deliver the 
New Ferry Regeneration 
Masterplan and Authority 
to Commence a 
Compulsory Purchase 
Order

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Covid-19 Economic 
Recovery Plan

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Enterprise Zone Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’
Spatial Framework for the 
Borough

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Wirral Growth Company - 
Final Site Development 
Plan for Birkenhead

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Wirral Growth Company 
Final Site Development 
Plans for Moreton and 
Bromborough

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Wirral Growth Company - 
Birkenhead Offices 
Funding Agreement

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Investment Plan Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’
Department for Transport 
Active Travel Allocation

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Sustainable Urban 
Development Work 
Package 7

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Liverpool City Region 
Cycling Walking 
Investment Plan - 
Birkenhead to New 
Brighton

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Report on transport 
schemes including
SUD work package 7 – 
acceptance of funding

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Investment Plan Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Birkenhead Heat Network Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Page 270



Future High Streets Fund 
Movement Projects

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Dock Branch Park 
Masterplan

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Dock Branch Park - 
Appointment of Technical 
Team

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Parking strategy Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’
Local Development 
Scheme 

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Spatial Framework for the 
Borough

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Tower Road South 
Development

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Wirral Waters Connectivity 
(7) - Duke Street (Phase 2)

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Wirral International 
Business Park 
Connections - A41 Carlett 
Park

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

A41 Phase 1 Business 
Case (PART EXEMPT)

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

Liverpool City Region 
Cycling Walking 
Investment Plan - 
Birkenhead to New 
Brighton

Yes David Ball ‘Inclusive Economy’

Birkenhead Town Centre 
Masterplan (EXEMPT)
)

Yes David Ball ‘Inclusive Economy’

Preferred Developer to 
Deliver the New Ferry 
Regeneration (PART 
EXEMPT)

Yes Alan Evans ‘Inclusive Economy’

STANDING ITEMS AND MONITORING REPORTS  
Item Reporting Frequency  Lead Departmental 

Officer  

Page 271



Financial Monitoring 
Report

TBC Shaer Halewood

Regen Committee Work 
Programme Update

TBC Committee Team

Public questions Each meeting

WORK PROGRAMME ACTIVITIES OUTSIDE COMMITTEE 
Item Format Timescale Lead Officer  Progress 
Working Groups/ Sub Committees

Task and Finish Reviews
- - -- -
Spotlight Sessions and Workshops
Eureka! Workshop TBC Bev Staniford Conclude

d

Page 272


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 Town Deal - Acceptance of Grant
	7 Economic Strategy for Wirral to 2026
	Appendix 1 – Wirral Economic Strategy 2021 – 2026
	1Why a New Economic Strategy for Wirral? 
	2 The Story of Wirral’s Economy
	3Vision, Objectives and Principles 
	4Priority Actions 
	5Next Steps 


	8 Liscard Neighbourhood Framework: An Integrated Masterplan
	Appendix 1 - Liscard Neighbourhood Framework: An Integrated Masterplan
	Appendix 2 - Liscard Neighbourhood Framework: An Integrated Masterplan - Executive Summary
	Appendix 3 - Report of Public Consultation

	9 Acquisition of former Co-op building - 100 New Chester Road, New Ferry
	10 Exmouth Street, Seamus O'Donnells
	Enc. 1 for Exmouth Street, Seamus O'Donnells

	11 PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2020/2021
	final-phar_2021-22_final-30_9_21
	final-wirral-intelligence-service-technical-briefing-phar-2020-2021
	FINAL PHAR ppt FINAL JW

	12 Quarter 2 Monitor Report
	13 Budget Workshops Outcome Report 2022-23
	14 Work Programme Update
	Enc.1 Work Programme




